# Annual report on screening for disease 2007

Medical self-test kits



G

To the Minister of Health, Welfare and Sport

Subject: Presentation of advisory report Annual report on screening for<br/>disease 2007Your reference:Our reference: U-1528/WvV/ts/757-J8Enclosure(s): 1Date: December 17, 2007

#### Dear Minister,

I am pleased to present you with the 2007 Annual Report on Population Screening. In the second issue of this report the Health Council of the Netherlands would like to inform you of the most recent scientific developments in a fast-changing field, namely that of self-testing. As you know, today's citizens have more opportunities than ever before to test themselves or have themselves tested at their own initiative, outside the regular health service, in order to detect diseases and risk factors at an early stage. Two questions arise here. To what extent do these tests contribute to better public health? And are citizens sufficiently protected against unfounded claims and pointless or even harmful tests?

To provide answers to these questions, the Committee that prepared this annual report has evaluated 20 tests ranging across the field of self-testing. The conclusion is that most tests lack a scientific basis. Only three of the evaluated tests provided added value. It also emerges that the existing regulations are not sufficient to guarantee an adequate assessment of self-tests, even though there are many similarities with population screening organised at the national level. The Committee therefore recommends a tightening of the Dutch and European regulations on self-testing. Progress can also be made by improving information for consumers. This seems a particularly opportune moment to consider these isues, because the European Commission is now contemplating a revision of the IVD Directive.

The recommendations have been considered by the Standing Committee on Genetics and the Standing Committee on Medical Ethics and Health Law, two advisory groups within the Health Council of the Netherlands, and were also were submitted to external experts for comment.

P.O.Box 16052 NL-2500 BB The Hague Telephone +31 (70) 340 66 40 Telefax +31 (70) 340 75 23 E-mail: wa.van.veen@gr.nl Visiting Address Parnassusplein 5 NL-2511 VX The Hague The Netherlands www.healthcouncil.nl

Gezondheidsraad

Health Council of the Netherlands

President

Subject: Presentation of advisory report Annual report on<br/>screening for disease 2007Our reference: U-1528/WvV/ts/757-J8Page: 2Date: December 17, 2007

I wholeheartedly endorse the conclusions contained within this annual report, and trust that it will contribute to evidence-based policy making in the field of self-testing.

Yours sincerely,

(signed) Professor J.A. Knottnerus

P.O.Box 16052 NL-2500 BB The Hague Telephone +31 (70) 340 66 40 Telefax +31 (70) 340 75 23 E-mail: wa.van.veen@gr.nl Visiting Address Parnassusplein 5 NL-2511 VX The Hague The Netherlands www.healthcouncil.nl

# Annual report on screening for disease 2007

Medical self-test kits

'The revolution in human genomics, though barely understood by professionals, is about to hit the street, at least for those able to pay about \$ 1,000 for a glance at their entire genome.'

N. Wade. The New York Times. November 16, 2007.

to:

the Minister of Health, Welfare and Sport

No. 2007/26E, The Hague, December 17, 2007 (Revised version, April 24, 2008)

The Health Council of the Netherlands, established in 1902, is an independent scientific advisory body. Its remit is "to advise the government and Parliament on the current level of knowledge with respect to public health issues..." (Section 22, Health Act).

The Health Council receives most requests for advice from the Ministers of Health, Welfare & Sport, Housing, Spatial Planning & the Environment, Social Affairs & Employment, and Agriculture, Nature & Food Quality. The Council can publish advisory reports on its own initiative. It usually does this in order to ask attention for developments or trends that are thought to be relevant to government policy.

Most Health Council reports are prepared by multidisciplinary committees of Dutch or, sometimes, foreign experts, appointed in a personal capacity. The reports are available to the public.



The Health Council of the Netherlands is a member of the European Science Advisory Network for Health (EuSANH), a network of science advisory bodies in Europe.



The Health Council of the Netherlands is a member of the International Network of Agencies for Health Technology Assessment (INAHTA), an international collaboration of organisations engaged with *health technology assessment*.

This report can be downloaded from www.healthcouncil.nl. The original Dutch language report can be downloaded from www.gr.nl.

Preferred citation:

Health Council of the Netherlands. Annual report on screening for disease 2007 - Medical self-test kits. The Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands, 2007; publication no. 2007/26E.

all rights reserved

ISBN: 978-90-5549-705-8

## Contents

	Executive summary 13						
1	Introduction 19						
1.1	Purpose of this annual report 19						
1.2	Scope of the report and questions 22						
1.3	Relationship with other reports on population screening 23						
1.4	Structure of the report, responses to questions 25						
2	Laws and regulations on self-testing 27						
2.1	Different regulations for products and services 27						
2.2	Regulations for self-tests as products 28						
2.3	Regulations for self-tests as a service $38$						
2.4	Regulations for self-tests as products and services 41						
2.5	Conclusions 41						
3	Criteria for the evaluation of self-tests 45						
3.1	Proven diagnostic value 45						
3.2	Proven clinical utility 47						
3.3	Favourable risk-benefit ratio 48						
3.4	Favourable cost-benefit ratio 48						
3.5	Good test performances with inexperienced users 49						
3.6	Adequate information for users 49						

Contents

3.7	Embedding in the regulatory regime 50							
3.8	Conclusion 50							
4	Evaluation of do-it-vourself tests 53							
41	Do-it-vourself tests for glucose in urine or blood 53							
4.2	Monitoring tests for blood coagulation time 57							
4.3	Do-it-yourself tests on occult blood in urine 58							
4.4	Do-it-yourself tests for albumin in urine 60							
4.5	Do-it-vourself tests for prostate cancer 64							
4.6	Do-it-vourself tests for bowel cancer 69							
4.7	Do-it-yourself tests for coeliac disease (gluten intolerance) 72							
5	Evaluation of tests for a tumour marker 75							
5.1	Background information about biomarkers 75							
5.2	Test for a biomarker for cancer 76							
5.3	Tests for biomarkers for cervical cancer 78							
5.4	Tests for new biomarkers for prostate cancer 80							
5.5	Tests for biomarkers for bladder cancer 81							
5.6	Tests for biomarkers for breast cancer 82							
5.7	Tests for biomarkers for bowel cancer $83$							
6	Evaluation of genetic self-tests 85							
6.1	Background information about genetic tests 85							
6.2	Tests for genetic predisposition to coeliac disease 89							
6.3	Tests for genetic predisposition to lactose intolerance 90							
6.4	Tests for hereditary predisposition to thrombosis 92							
6.5	Tests for genetic predisposition to osteoporosis 94							
6.6	Genetic predisposition to hypertension 95							
7	Conclusions 97							
8	Recommendations 103							
8.1	Adaptation of regulations, enforcement and information provision 103							
8.2	Improve self-tests as products 103							
8.3	Improve the supply of self-tests as products 106							
8.4	Improve self-tests as services 106							
8.5	Improve information on self-tests 107							
	References 109							

Annexes	-127

- A The committee *129*
- B Expert consultations 131
- C Glossary 133

Contents

### **Executive summary**

#### The value of medical self-test kits

The market for so-called medical self-tests is expanding. An increasing number of products and services have become available which enable people to test or have tests done on their blood, urine, faeces or saliva to detect the presence of specific markers. The manufacturers claim that this will enable users to detect the presence of a disease or an increased risk of disease, and that this early detection will be beneficial to their health.

The question is whether this is true. This 2007 Annual Report on Population Screening focuses on the value of self-testing of body samples. Using the available research in this subject area, we have investigated the extent to which selftests actually live up to their claim of high test accuracy and providing a health benefit through early detection. To this end, we have examined 20 self-tests which, as a group, provide a good overview of what is currently on offer.

This review is preceded by a discussion of the relevant legislation. There is an effective authorisation system in place in the Netherlands for population screening. This protects citizens against tests which may be detrimental to their health. The question now is whether the current legislation and regulations are also sufficient to protect the population in cases where early detection is undertaken on the initiative of the people themselves or individuals, or whether there are gaps in the legislation.

Executive summary

#### Regulations are not yet adequate to regulate self-tests

In terms of legislation, the Decree on In-Vitro Diagnostic Devices (*Besluit in-vitrodiagnostica* (IVD)) covers self-tests on body samples. This decree is based on the European Directive 98/79/EC and covers recent regulations which will soon be evaluated. The European Commission is expected to make a proposal for this evaluation in 2009. The evaluation should focus on a number of gaps in the legislation.

Firstly, the 'essential requirements' of the IVD Directive are open to interpretation, making it difficult to clearly and consistently assess the tests in terms of diagnostic validity or clinical benefit.

Secondly, there is a lack of clarity about what actions manufacturers and notified bodies should undertake for the Conformity assessment required in order to affix the CE marking for a test. A CE marking should guarantee that a self-test fulfils the essential requirements listed in the IVD Directive. The files are not public, however, and can only be requested for viewing by the Netherlands Health Care Inspectorate. Furthermore, the assessment is generally left to the manufacturer, even for genetic tests or those which detect cancer. This calls into question the credibility of the CE marking system.

Thirdly, for the conformity assessment procedure of self-test kits manufacturers are only required in exceptional cases to provide results of studies with lay persons, even though this could have important implications in terms of reliability of test results. The main exception relates to HIV tests. Thus, for most other tests any available study results are usually based on use by experienced professionals.

Finally, the importance of the Population Screening Act (*Wet op het bevolk-ingsonderzoek* (WBO)) as an assessment framework may diminish through the increase in self-tests, even though self-tests and screening do share many similarities. As more people start using cancer self-test kits, the similarity to population screening (*e.g.* for colorectal cancer for which a permit is required) will become greater. Legally, however, the self-tests are products which fall in the free market category and therefore cannot be made subject to the WBO permit requirement as this would be considered an obstacle to trade. However, testing services (home-collecting and street-corner testing) which seek to detect cancer or a serious untreatable condition are subject to WBO evaluation.

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

## Scientific evidence is an important requirement in the evaluation procedure

To evaluate the self-tests, four general criteria have been applied in this Annual Report: diagnostic validity, clinical utility, favourable risk-benefit ratio, and favourable cost-benefit ratio. If no peer-reviewed publications are available for these points, the requirements of objective evaluation of the test's quality and of publicised and verifiable results are not considered to have been fulfilled.

How do these criteria relate to the legislative and regulatory requirements? They correspond to the essential requirements in the IVD Directive. These should ensure that the purpose of the test is clear, that the test actually works as it is supposed to (and that it therefore performs well in evaluations) and that the risks to the user's health are acceptable when weighed up against the benefit.

In addition, the assessment in this Annual Report focuses on a number of criteria specific to self-test kits: whether the test can be used responsibly by lay persons, the availability of adequate information/recommendations and whether the test meets the legal requirements.

## A handful of tests do have added value, but for many the value is unproven

Twenty tests, chosen to provide an adequate reflection of the growing field of self-tests, were evaluated. They range from self-tests to measure the glucose level in blood or urine to tests for cancer and genetic tests. The findings are summarised in table 1.

The conclusion is that self-test kits and services could have added value but, based on the present available evidence, only a small number of the evaluated tests currently represent a welcome addition. Of those tests discussed in the Annual Report, the HPV home-test for cervical cancer and tests which monitor blood glucose concentration and clotting time received a positive evaluation. The faecal occult blood test (FOBT) was also positively assessed. This has been used in a number of trial regions in the Netherlands as a home collecting test for colorectal cancer screening.

The remaining seventeen self-tests cannot be recommended due to a lack of scientific basis. It should be noted that this not only applies to new tests, but also to some which have been routinely used for decades.

Executive summary

	Diagnostic validity	Clinical utility	Favourable benefit / risk ratio	Efficiency	Tested with lay persons	Adequate information	Mention of CE marking of conformity	Risk category for conformity	assessment procedure Fulfils the 'essential requirements'	of the IVD Directive Sales channelling	WBO permit required	Comments
Self-test kits												
Blood glucose: self diagnosis	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	?	L	Ν	Ν	Ν	
Blood glucose: monitoring	Y	Y	Y	?	Y	Y	Y	М	Y	Ν	Ν	А
Prothrombin time test	Y	Y	Y	?	-	Y	Y	L	Y	Ν	Ν	А
AMH test for bladder cancer	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	?	L	Ν	Ν	Ν	
Albuminuria test for renal damage	Ν	Ν	?	?	Ν	Ν	Y	L	Ν	Ν	Ν	
PSA test for prostate cancer	Y	?	?	?	Ν		?	М	Ν	Y	Ν	
FOBT for colorectal cancer:	Y	Y	?	?	Ν	Ν	Y	L	Ν	Ν	Ν	
Coeliac disease self-test	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	L	Ν	Ν	Ν	
Tumour markers												
AMAS test for (breast) cancer:	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	N/A	Ν					Y	
HPV self sampling cervical cancer:	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	L	Y	N/A	Y	А
CA 15-3 test for breast cancer:	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	N/A	Ν	?	L	Ν	N/A	Y	
CEA test for colorectal cancer:	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	N/A	Ν	?	L	Ν	N/A	Y	
PreGen-Plus for colorectal cancer:	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	N/A	Ν	Ν	L	Ν	N/A	Y	
Genetic self-tests												
Genetic predisp. to coeliac disease	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	L		N/A	Ν	
Gen. predisp. to lactose intolerance	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	L	Ν	N/A	Ν	
Hereditary risk of thrombosis	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	L	Ν	N/A	Ν	
Gen. predisp. to osteoporosis	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	L	Ν	N/A	Ν	
Gen. predisp. to hypertension	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	N/A	L	Ν	N/A	Ν	

A = added-value; N = no; Y = yes; N/A = not applicable; ? = research into this is currently underway, or unknown; L = low-risk; M = moderate; H = high

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

#### Table 1 Quality of self-tests.

## The conformity assessment procedure before coming onto the market is unsatisfactory

Seventeen tests did not pass the evaluation in this Annual Report, and therefore also fail to fulfil the essential requirements of the IVD Directive. In some cases it was not possible to properly investigate whether they met these criteria, since there is considerable scope for questioning current interpretations.

This strongly suggests that self-tests are not properly evaluated according to the essential criteria before being put on the market. Either the required evaluation is not carried out, or the requirements are interpreted in a minimal manner. It is also questionable whether the 'notified bodies' are adequately equipped to carry out this type of assessment, as their primary skills do not lie in the field of medicine and epidemiology.

#### Provision of information to the consumer is inadequate

A further conclusion is that the information provided through the Internet by the manufacturer or supplier regarding a self-test kit is generally inadequate. This makes it difficult for the consumer to reach a well-considered decision about the value of a particular self-test. A description of the precise aim, the anticipated gain and health risk and the diagnostic value are often missing. Furthermore, it is often not possible to find out whether the self-test has the CE marking before purchasing it over the Internet.

A further problem is that the IVD decree often leaves it up to the manufacturer to describe the aim of a self-test. This leaves scope for claims of outstanding test performance, using terms such as 'reliability index' or 'agreement' with an unspecified reference test, which have little to do with the diagnostic validity and the actual aim of the test. Consequently, sound information on the diagnostic value of the test is lacking and the risk of false-positive and false-negative results is masked. In addition, there are no guarantees that consumers will be able to properly interpret the results of a self-test.

#### Recommendations

The Annual Report contains a set of recommendations to deal with the identified problems. Some of these recommendations relate to regulatory issues. For example, it is necessary to define the current IVD essential requirements more clearly,

Executive summary

and to improve the quality of the conformity assessment. Furthermore, an investigation is necessary into how CE marking is assigned.

Even if a product is allowed to be introduced onto the market, the necessary changes can still be made. For example, product information requirements should be put in place to enable consumers to make a well-considered choice. An investigation into the most appropriate channel of sales is recommended, and advertising claims should only be permitted if backed up by scientific evidence.

## Introduction

#### 1.1 Purpose of this annual report

The first Annual Report on Population Screening was published in June 2006. It included an overview of new developments in existing population screening programmes and of conditions for which population screening was being considered.<sup>1</sup> This second annual report does not include an update of this overview, as that seemed somewhat premature. It instead focuses on a single issue: the quality of the range of available diagnostic self-tests of body samples and the regulations that apply to them.

Self-testing as a choice for individual citizens

The market for self-testing is rapidly expanding. A community survey in the United Kingdom showed that 104 different self-test kits can now be bought on the Internet.<sup>2</sup> These kits can apparently detect or diagnose 24 conditions, including bowel cancer and HIV-infection, or control the course of a condition or therapy (with a monitoring test) as in the case of diabetes and anti-coagulation therapy. The Netherlands can match the United Kingdom in this respect.<sup>3,4</sup> Besides being available on the Internet, self-test kits can also be obtained from community pharmacies and chemist chains. At the same time, we are witnessing the growth of direct-access testing (DAT) and organisations promoting periodic health examinations (PHEs). Stichting ServiceLabs, launched in late 2004, has

Introduction

been offering consumers a very wide range of clinical chemicals tests ranging from alpha-1antitrypsin to zinc and pregnancy tests. These can be performed in a hospital laboratory without the need for referral, after a blood test at one of the affiliated testing centres.

The growth of self-testing evokes mixed emotions. 'The Netherlands is suffering from collective hypochondria', suggested one commentator. 'Measuring without knowing', concluded the Consumers Association (Consumentenbond) after visiting 15 clinics (www.consumentenbond.nl). However, another commentator takes the view that 'the time is ripe for self-diagnosis, because consumers are now better able to decide whether they should consult a physician'.

The tone in the media is chiefly critical, particularly with regard to the diagnostic value of self-testing. But the public is more enthusiastic about self-testing. Thus, one in eleven Dutch adults took up an offer for a free 'kidney check' by the Dutch Kidney Foundation (Nierstichting Nederland) in the autumn of 2006.<sup>5</sup> Of course, pregnancy tests have been popular for many years. In fact, the number of pregnancy tests taken in the Netherlands exceeds the number of childbirths by a factor of more than four.

Several values clash in the debate on self-testing. People are entitled to decide for themselves what they want to do or have done. The rush of self-tests coming on the market fits in with the healthcare development in which patients play a full role in their treatment and in which the right to self-determination is a fundamental principle.<sup>6,7</sup> This is, of course, on condition that people can make considered choices and can grasp the consequences of their choices.6 This is why it is essential for consumers to have access to reliable information.<sup>6</sup>

However, do we know enough about the test characteristics, the users and the consequences of use to meet this condition? Is the advertising objective and balanced? Do charities, chemists, insurance companies, mail order companies, manufacturers, occupational health departments, pharmaceutical firms, pharmacists, sports shops, suppliers and other market parties always put health interest at the top of the agenda?<sup>8</sup> Is there not a potential for a conflict of interests in the case of initiatives such as the Cholesterol Treatment in Pharmacies for Diabetes Patients (CADS) project, which has been launched by a drug manufacturer, or Internet-based pharmacies that sell self-test kits as well as drugs and food supplements? It is precisely because conflicts of interest may arise that it is important that objective safeguards are in place.

#### Protective role of the government

The government plays a pivotal role in this context. When the exercise of the right of self-determination is detrimental to health, the question arises as to whether the government should protect citizens.<sup>6</sup> Is this the case here?

Self-testing may benefit consumers, and may even benefit personal and public health to some extent. In the case of emotionally charged conditions (such as HIV infection), for instance, people may be more likely to take a test when they can do so not only anonymously but also at home. The blood coagulation test is another example. Oral anticoagulation therapy works well, but setting the dose is precision work. Too high a dose can lead to haemorrhaging, and too low a dose to thrombosis. If patients can measure the blood coagulation time and adjust the dose at home, this will be at least as safe as the standard treatment and it will also yield a major improvement in the patient's mobility.<sup>9-11</sup>

So self-tests may have advantages, but they always have disadvantages. After all, virtually every test will produce false-positive and false-negative outcomes, each with their own implications. Moreover, the reliability and diagnostic value of a test may be significantly reduced when it is not conducted by an experienced professional.<sup>12-14</sup> Even when the instructions in the patient information leaflet are very clear, inexperienced users can easily make crucial mistakes, for example in timing the reading of the result. Furthermore, the predictive value of a test is by definition lower when it is conducted outside a hospital, an Outpatients' Department or general practitioner's surgery (see also section 3.1).

However, the problems need not be restricted to taking the test and interpreting the result. How strong are the supplier's claims of clinical utility and diagnostic value? For example, lay people do not expect a pregnancy test to be less sensitive than the manufacturer claims. Nonetheless, that is often the case, even though these products have been on the market for more than 35 years.<sup>15</sup> A US study showed that only 8 out of 18 different pregnancy tests could demonstrate a hCG value of 100 IE per litre.<sup>16,17</sup> Such a test can identify around 16% of pregnancies on the day of the missed menses.<sup>16,17</sup> That is far less than the claim of 99% certainty from the first day that a woman's period is overdue.

The more severe the condition being tested for, the greater the consequences of false-positive and false-negative results. This is also true if the screening outcome affects not only the person being tested, but also his or her relatives. Hence it is important to investigate whether the government can effectively execute its protective role with regard to self-testing, and whether the current range of available products does not cause damage to public health. The Committee on the

Introduction

Annual Report on Population Screening (*Commissie Jaarbericht Bevolking-sonderzoek*) will be considering these matters in this report.

#### 1.2 Scope of the report and questions

In principle, there are a number of instruments for evaluating the quality and utility of screening methods, such as the Decree on In Vitro Diagnostic Medical Devices (*Besluit in-vitrodiagnostica*) and the Population Screening Act (*Wet op het bevolkingsonderzoek*, WBO). In this annual report, we will examine which laws and regulations are relevant in terms of self-testing, and we will be evaluating a number of tests.

#### Selection of the discussed self-tests

The selection of self-tests was made as follows. This annual report is concerned with in vitro tests, that is, tests that involve taking body samples. This means that self-measurement of blood pressure, breast or testicular self-examination, and other forms of self-diagnosis have not been considered, because the regulations governing these are different or not relevant. Nor have pregnancy tests, ovulation tests and paternity tests been considered, because these do not involve diseases and comprehensiveness was not an aim. Point-of-care tests (performed, for example, at general practitioners' surgeries) and direct-access testing (DAT) are also outside the scope of this report. Strictly speaking, monitoring tests fall outside the domain of self-diagnosis. However, because they can be used for selfdiagnosis they have been included in this report.

Within these parameters, the Committee primarily wanted to investigate the kinds of problems that may arise with self-testing. Incidentally, the concept of 'self-testing' is not entirely unambiguous. In the wake of a report on self-testing<sup>6</sup> published by the Council for Public Health and Health Care (*Raad voor de Volks-gezondheid en Zorg*, RVZ), three types of self-tests are often distinguished: 1. do-it-yourself tests, intended for home use; 2. home-collecting tests, in which a commercial or non-commercial laboratory tests body samples that a person has taken or collected from himself or herself; and 3. street-corner tests, in which a commercial or non-commercial laboratory tests body samples taken by a third party.

This annual report considers all three types of self-testing. The Committee based its selections within these domains on two criteria: the severity of the condition being tested, and (with a view to differences in regulatory regimes) the distribution across 'products', 'services' and 'risk categories' under the IVD Decree. We have therefore chosen examples of do-it-yourself tests (Chapter 4),

tests for a tumour marker (Chapter 5) and genetic self-tests (Chapter 6). The supplier or manufacturer was not a factor in choosing the brand of self-test kit.

#### **Research questions**

On the basis of the above selection criteria, the Committee formulated the following questions:

- 1 What are the current laws and regulations governing self-testing?
- 2 Are these sufficient to protect the population or are there gaps?
- 3 What criteria should self-tests fulfil?
- 4 What is the verdict on a number of widely used do-it-yourself tests?
- 5 What is the verdict on home-collecting or street-corner tests for tumour markers?
- 6 What is the verdict on home-collecting tests for genetic disorders?
- 7 What improvements can be recommended to encourage an appropriate and sensible use of self-tests?

#### 1.3 Relationship with other reports on population screening

#### Relationship with two forthcoming advisory reports

This annual report restricts itself to the current range of available self-tests. It differs in that sense from two more wide-ranging reports which are to be published in April 2008; one by the Health Council of the Netherlands and one by the RVZ. These two bodies will make recommendations from their own perspectives (scientific advice and policy advice, respectively) on medium-term developments in population screening. The growing availability of screening tests and public information will be considered in more general terms in these reports, as well as the role of government and the human rights at issue. In this report we will be concentrating on self-tests.

#### Relationship with previous recommendations and reports

As early as 1988 and 1989 the Health Council of the Netherlands observed that self-test kits were being marketed – especially abroad – for cancer, neural tube defects and hereditary conditions.<sup>18-20</sup> Because of the many false-positive and false-negative results, and the likely improper use associated with these tests, the Council recommended changes in the relevant regulations and a ban on the general sale of self-test kits for hereditary conditions. In 1998 the Council expressed

23

Introduction

its preference for the Dutch approach to DNA-based diagnostics within the regular health service, with its careful referral, genetic counselling and recommendations on the basis of the test result.<sup>21</sup>

The European Directive on In Vitro Diagnostic Medical Devices (98/79/EC, hereafter 'IVD Directive') came into force in 1998. This was enshrined in Dutch law in the Decree on In Vitro Diagnostic Medical Devices (*Besluit in-vitrodiagnostica*, hereafter 'IVD Decree') issued in 2001. In 1999 the RVZ saw no reason to further regulate the use of self-tests. The government, the Council argued, should only intervene if self-diagnosis was harmful.<sup>6</sup>

These developments seemed to have largely resolved the problems identified by the Health Council of the Netherlands. However, self-testing subsequently started to again attract considerable attention. In the 2006 Annual Report on Population Screening (*Jaarbericht bevolkingsonderzoek 2006*) the Council pointed to the growing availability of screening tests of unproven value.<sup>1</sup> Following the publication of this report, the Minister of Health, Welfare and Sport also expressed his concern about the 'proliferation of easily available health tests' (*NRC Handelsblad*, 20 June 2006).

According to the Netherlands Society for Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine (*Nederlandse Vereniging voor Klinische Chemie en Laboratoriumgeneeskunde*, NVKC), the quality of self-tests is unclear. In October 2006 the NVKC called for an independent quality mark for self-tests. In November 2007 the NVKC, the Royal Netherlands Pharmacists Association (*Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie*, KNMP) and the Netherlands Association of Hospital Dispensaries (*Nederlandse Vereniging voor Ziekenhuisapothekers*, NVZA) published a declaration of intent on cooperation on a number of issues. Specifically, the three organisations committed themselves to formulating joint recommendations to consumers about the quality and use of self-tests, including blood glucose meters.

In March 2007 the Dutch Cancer Society (*KWF Kankerbestrijding*) published a report on the use of biomarkers in screening, genetic testing, diagnosis and treatment.<sup>22,23</sup> This report warned about the proliferation of self-tests for which the quality and diagnostic value could not be verified by the user. The Society takes the view that the government should impose similarly strict rules on self-tests as exist for medical drugs.<sup>2</sup>

In April 2007 the Care and Public Heath Research Institute (CAPHRI) of Maastricht University published a report on self-testing commissioned by the Health Care Insurance Board (*College voor zorgverzekeringen*, CVZ) (www.cvz.nl/zorgpakket/preventie/diagnostischezelftests).<sup>4</sup> This report chiefly concentrated on the perceptions and backgrounds of users of self-tests. It showed

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

that Dutch consumers have access to self-tests for 28 conditions or symptoms, roughly the same as identified in the British study mentioned above.<sup>2</sup> It also emerged that 16% of Internet users had used one or more self-tests. The view that it is mainly the 'worried well' who use self-tests was confirmed. Self-testers often reported poorer health, overweight and a higher consumption of food supplements and homeopathic remedies than non-self-testers. The CAPHRI researchers did not expect a further spectacular growth in the use of self-tests, but they did want to further study this. It proved more difficult than anticipated to obtain information on test characteristics from suppliers. One of the report's recommendations was for further study into the diagnostic value of self-tests, whether they subsequently take the appropriate steps, and what additional information they would like.

A report by two advisory committees and the Health Council of the Netherlands on trends in biotechnology published in May 2007 indicated that the growing opportunities for genetic testing are raising great expectations among the public.<sup>24</sup> Internet-based businesses are responding to this by selling self-tests of dubious quality and reliability. The careful embedding of genetic tests in heredity-related advice is coming under pressure, according to this report.<sup>24</sup>

#### 1.4 Structure of the report, responses to questions

The Committee outlines the current laws and regulations on self-testing in Chapter 2. The first two questions are answered at the end of this chapter. Chapter 3 discusses the criteria by which self-tests can be evaluated. The selected tests are then evaluated in Chapters 4, 5 and 6. Taken together, these evaluations give an indication of the problems that may occur in this field, thus providing answers to questions 3 to 6. Conclusions and recommendations are outlined in Chapters 7 and 8, respectively.

A list of concepts and their definitions is provided in Annex C.

Introduction

Chapter

2

## Laws and regulations on self-testing

This chapter sets out the laws and regulations which apply to self-tests. The weak points in the regulatory regime are also considered.

#### 2.1 Different regulations for products and services

Difference between self-tests as products and as services

The difference between do-it-yourself tests on the one hand and home-collecting and street-corner tests on the other hand is significant in legal terms. The latter two test forms comprise not only a product, but also a service rendered by a third party (*e.g.* a laboratory) to the person in question. This chapter first looks at the regulations for self-tests as products (section 2.2), then the regulations for services (section 2.3), and finally the regulations relevant for products and services (section 2.4).

#### Key concepts in the regulatory regime

The statutory basis for the in vitro diagnostic test as a product in the Netherlands is the Decree on In Vitro Diagnostic Medical Devices (*Besluit in-vitrodiagnos-tica*, hereafter 'IVD Decree'). The IVD Decree (Bulletin of Acts and Decrees 2001, 385) is based on an EU directive (see section 2.2.1), and on such concepts as 'in vitro diagnostic medical device', 'high-risk diagnostic medical device',

Laws and regulations on self-testing

and device for self-testing'. Article 1.1a of the IVD Decree defines an 'in vitro diagnostic medical device' as "a medical device intended for diagnosis with body samples". Article 1.1f defines the concept of 'in vitro diagnostic medical device intended for self-testing' as "an in vitro diagnostic medical device intended by the manufacturer to be able to be used by lay persons in a home environment". In the IVD Decree, then, the key element of the definition of self-testing is "intended for use by lay persons in a home environment". This is the definition of the do-it-yourself test.

The 'high-risk diagnostic medical devices' within the meaning of Article 1.1b of the IVD Decree include tests for HIV infection and tumour markers, tests for the diagnosis of hereditary diseases, and predictive genetic tests (see Table 2). 'High-risk' thus clearly refers to the severity of the disease and the risk of a false-negative or false-positive test result, and should not be confused with a high *a priori* probability of a particular disease. The products mentioned here may not be supplied directly to the user without the intervention of a doctor or pharmacist (under the sales channel regulation). A do-it-yourself test may also be a high-risk diagnostic medical device, which therefore can only be supplied by a doctor or pharmacist.

The IVD Decree divides in vitro diagnostic medical devices into categories, namely 'high risk' ('List A'), 'medium risk' ('List B') and 'low risk' (other tests) (see Table 2). This classification determines which 'conformity assessment procedure' (hereafter 'CE assessment; 'CE' stands for '*Conformité Européenne*') will have to be undergone before the test can be placed on the market. A do-it-yourself test may belong to any one of the risk categories (i.e. high, medium or low). The classification in risk categories is taken from European Directive 98/ 79/EC of the European Parliament and the Council of 27 October 1998 on in vitro diagnostic medical devices (hereafter 'IVD Directive').

#### 2.2 Regulations for self-tests as products

#### 2.2.1 Content of the IVD Directive

The IVD Directive is important for self-tests as products. The definitions of 'in vitro diagnostic medical device' and 'self-testing' in Articles 1.2b and 1.2d of the IVD Directive correspond to those of the IVD Decree (see section 2.1). The IVD Directive does not apply to what are called 'homebrew tests'.\*

'Homebrew tests' are tests that are used only within the same health institution without having been transferred to another legal entity (Article 1.5 of the IVD Directive). These tests are thus not commercial products.

CE assessment		Sales channel regulation
'High risk'	list A: - tests for the blood groups ABO sys- tem, rhesus (C, c, D, E, e), anti-Kell - tests for HIV 1 and 2, HTLV I and II benetitis B C and D	do-it-yourself tests for HIV, HTLV I and II, hepatitis B, C and D, for tumour markers, for the diagnosis of hereditary diseases, and predictive gapatic tests
'Medium risk'	<ul> <li>It, hepatus B, e and D</li> <li>list B:</li> <li>tests for the blood groups anti- Duffy and anti-Kidd, and for irregu- lar anti-erythrocyte antibodies</li> <li>tests for rubella, toxoplasmosis, phenylketonuria, cytomegalovirus, chlamydia, HLA tissue groups DR, A, B, PSA, trisomy 21 and blood glucose meters</li> </ul>	genetic tests
'Low risk'	tests not mentioned in list A or B	

*Table 2* Tests by risk category for CE assessment procedure, and do-it-yourself tests which fall under the sales channel regulation.

European directives are particularly concerned with guaranteeing the free movement of goods, people, services and capital on the internal market. Their aim is to harmonise regulations in the EU member states and to remove trade barriers. Another primary main objective of the IVD Directive (preamble 5) is to maintain or improve the level of health protection attained in the member states.

#### Essential requirements in the IVD Directive

The 'essential requirements' that in vitro diagnostic medical devices must meet (Annex I of the Directive) are at the core of the IVD Directive. These are divided into 'general requirements' and 'design and manufacturing requirements'. The general requirements seek to ensure that the intended purpose of the device isclear, that it works as intended, and that it will not compromise the safety or health of patients and users. They comprise five points, of which the first and the third are particularly important:

The devices must be designed and manufactured in such a way that ... they will not compromise, directly or indirectly, the clinical condition or the safety of the patients, the safety or health of users ... Any risks which may be associated with their use must be acceptable when weighed against the benefits to the patient and be compatible with a high level of protection of health and safety.

The devices must be designed and manufactured in such a way that they are suitable for the purposes referred to ..., taking account of the generally acknowledged state of the art. They must achieve the

Laws and regulations on self-testing

performances, in particular, where appropriate, in terms of analytical sensitivity, diagnostic sensitivity, analytical specificity, diagnostic specificity, ..., stated by the manufacturer.

A crucial question is whether the essential requirements refer only to the analytical validity of in vitro diagnostic medical devices, or also to their diagnostic validity and clinical utility. The former is the most common interpretation<sup>243</sup>, although the Committee believes that there are convincing arguments for using the latter.

First, a manufacturer cannot comply with requirement (1) solely with laboratory data (on the analytical validity).<sup>25,243</sup> After all, (1) can only be complied with on the basis of clinical data on the 'benefit for the patient' weighed up against the risks for the user. The risks of false-positive and false-negative results are among the direct and indirect risks for the user that relate directly to the diagnostic validity of the test. Comprehensive assessment must evaluate the diagnostic validity and clinical utility of the test.

Second, a manufacturer cannot comply with requirement (3) without performance data on the diagnostic validity of the test in its intended clinical purpose.

Third, the Committee argues that the regulations in the IVD Directive revolve around the risks for the user. After all, the division into categories for the purpose of the 'conformity assessment procedure' (see below) is closely linked to the risks of use. That is evident from the criteria for placing a diagnostic medical device in a particular category (Article 14.2b of the IVD Directive). The application of these criteria presupposes the availability of data on a test's diagnostic validity and clinical utility.<sup>25</sup> It is worth noting that, under Articles 1.1 and 1.2a, the IVD Directive applies to in vitro medical devices which are intended to be used for the diagnosis of diseases. This is pre-eminently a clinical matter.

Supplementary requirements in the IVD Directive for do-it-yourself tests

Devices for self-testing must be designed and manufactured in such a way that they perform appropriately for their intended purpose taking into account the skills and the means available to users and the influence resulting from variation that can reasonably be anticipated in users' technique and environment. The information and instructions provided by the manufacturer should be easily understood and applied by the user(Annex I B, point 7).

Supplementary requirements have also been made for the instructions for use. The results need to be expressed and presented in a way that is readily understood by a lay person; information needs to be provided with advice to the user on action to be taken (in case of positive, negative or indeterminate result)

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

and on the possibility of false positive or false negative result. The information supplied by the manufacturer should be sufficient to enable the user to use the device and to understand the result(s). The information provided must include a statement clearly directing that the user should not take any decision of medical relevance without first consulting his or her medical practitioner (Annex I B, point 8 sub t).

#### Demand for conformity with essential requirements prior to market launch

Before a product is allowed to be placed on the market, the manufacturer shall follow a conformity assessment procedure (CE assessment) to prove that the product meets the essential requirements of the IVD Directive and to have permission to affix the CE marking (see below).

#### Determining the risk category

The IVD Directive distinguishes different risk categories. This distinction is related to the severity of the disease or condition to be detected and to the risk associated with a false-negative or false-positive test result (Table 2). In Annex II, the IVD Directive distinguishes:

- high-risk devices, including tests for determining certain blood groups and tests for HIV-infection (Annex II, List A)
- medium-risk devices, including tests for Chlamydia, the tumoral marker PSA and devices for the measurement of blood sugar (List B)
- low-risk devices: all tests not named in List A or List B
- devices to be used by lay persons in a home environment. These devices for self-testing can belong to the high-, medium- or low-risk category.

A major problem is a lack of consistency. For instance, PSA is on List B, but no other cancer tests, such as do-it-yourself tests for bowel cancer (see table 2 and section 4.6).

This risk classification is specific to the extent that it limitatively summarises the markers or conditions to be detected within a particular risk category. The disadvantage of this approach is that all new products have to be regarded as low-risk for the simple reason that they are not named in List A or List B. For instance, PCA3 has not been added to List B, although it has the same function as PSA. This creates further inconsistency.

Laws and regulations on self-testing



#### Assessment dependent on risk category

The assessment procedure to be followeddepends on the risk category. The more severe the disease or condition and the higher the risk associated with a particular test, the more onerous the assessment procedure.

The most onerous procedures apply for the tests on List A, while tests named in List B are slightly less onerous. Products from List A and List B are assessed by a 'notified body'. In the Netherlands this is KEMA Quality.

Low-risk diagnostic medical devices are assessed by the manufacturer itself, without intervention from a notified body. In the case of a do-it-yourself test, the manufacturer has to let the notified body assess its conformity with the supplementary requirements for do-it-yourself tests (regarding, for example the information on the label and in the instructions for use)\*. Whether a do-it-yourself test needs any further assessment depends on the risk category into which the device in question falls (i.e. high, medium or low).

The Dutch notified body that carries out an assessment is an 'administrative body' for these activities. Its findings are 'decisions' within the meaning of the General Administrative Law Act (*Algemene wet bestuursrecht*). Under Article 10e of the Medical Devices Act (*Wet op de medische hulpmiddelen*), an interested party can appeal against such a decision to the Minister.

The way manufacturers and notified bodies go about a CE assessment procedure takes place behind closed doors. The files in question are currently kept secret, and can only be requested for viewing by the Health Care Inspectorate if concerns arise. For that reason the Committee has not been able to ascertain the role played by the general 'essential requirements' in the assessment procedure.

For the products named in List A, Common Technical Specifications (CTSs) have been drawn up on the basis of Article 5.3 of the IVD Directive (Commission Decision of 7 May 2002, 2002/364/EC, OJ EC L 131/17). These are binding specifications with which the products in question and the performance evaluations must comply. Do-it-yourself tests referred to in List A must meet the same requirements for sensitivity and specificity as the respective devices for professional use. It is confusing, however, that diagnostic sensitivity, for instance, is defined in terms of analytical sensitivity, namely as 'the probability that the device gives a positive result in the presence of the target marker'. The perfor-

On the basis of the IVD Directive, the notified body need only consider the label and the instructions when assessing the information on do-it-yourself tests, not the information that consumers need to be able to decide whether or not to buy the product. As evident from the formulation in Annex III concerning the EC Declaration of Conformity, under point 6.1, first dash, 'where appropriate' indicates that as part of its application the manufacturer is not obliged to provide results from studies with lay persons.

mance evaluation must be carried out or repeated by inexperienced users<sup>\*</sup> in order to validate the operation of the device and the instructions for use. A new version of the Annex to the CTS Decision that lists the specifications will probably be published in 2008. Furthermore, Article 5.3 of the IVD Directive also provides for the possibility of drawing up CTSs for List B devices, but this option has not yet been taken up.

#### Affixing the CE marking

CE marking is not a quality mark, but it should guarantee that the product meets the essential requirements of the IVD Directive. If the manufacturer has followed the prescribed CE assessment procedure, then it may affix the CE marking to its product.

An in vitro diagnostic medical device may not be placed on the EU market without a CE marking. If the product bears the CE marking, it is assured of access to the European market: Member States shall not create any obstacle to the placing on the market of devices bearing the CE marking (Article 4(1) of the IVD Directive). If a manufacturer based outside Europe wants to sell products in Europe (on the Internet or otherwise), it must appoint an 'authorised representative' that will fulfil all the manufacturer's rights and obligations, including those for CE marking.

#### Scope in the IVD Directive for EU member states

Article 4(1) shows that the IVD Directive's stipulations applying to the 'essential requirements' are not minimum standards but absolute standards. Tightening the requirements in national legislation is therefore not allowed. If a member state takes the view that the 'essential requirements' should be tightened, it will have to argue for this at EU level. The procedure to effect a change can take years. However, the Directive does give member states some freedom to regulate the commercial practices surrounding the products (*e.g.* sale, advertising). The Netherlands has used this freedom to introduce the 'sales channel regulation' (see section 2.2.2).

Article 13 of the IVD Directive gives member states the right to intervene and take transitional measures in the interests of public health. This Article has the character of an exception clause. It says:

The requirement for performance evaluation with inexperienced users applies only to do-it-yourself tests on List A and to self-tests for which performance evaluations have been conducted.

Laws and regulations on self-testing

Where a Member State considers, in relation to a given product, that, in order to ensure protection of health and safety and/or to ensure that public health requirements are observed pursuant toArticle 36 of the Treaty, the availability of such products should be prohibited, restricted or made subject to particular requirements, it maytake any necessary and justified transitional measures. It shall then inform the Commission and all the Member States, giving the reasons fot its decision. The Commission shall consult the interested parties and the Member States and, where the national measures are justified, adopt necessary Community measures.

#### 2.2.2 Implementation of the IVD Directive in the Netherlands: IVD Decree

The IVD Directive was enshrined in Dutch law in 2001 with the Decree on In Vitro Diagnostic Medical Devices (*Besluit in-vitrodiagnostica*, hereafter 'IVD Decree'). This incorporates the stipulations of the IVD Directive. Article 5(2) of the IVD Decree names the common technical specifications (CTSs) that apply for the devices in List A to be designated by the Minister. The technical specifications set out in the Annex to the Commission Decision of 7 May 2002 (OJ EC L 131/17) were accordingly designated in the Ministerial Regulation of 4 September 2002 (GMT/MT23 11237).

The IVD Decree is an Order in Council (*Algemene Maatregel van Bestuur*), based on the Medical Devices Act. Article 3(1) of this law provides for the designation by Order in Council of specific types of medical devices whose importation, storage and sale is prohibited unless certain conditions or requirements have been met. This has been done in the IVD Decree for in vitro diagnostic medical devices. The Health Care Inspectorate supervises compliance with the IVD Decree.

#### Language requirement, sales channel regulation

The EU member states' freedom to regulate the commercial practices surrounding the products in question has been used by the Netherlands in two ways: the language requirement and the restricted sale of do-it-yourself tests. Under Article 6.1 of the IVD Decree, the information for the user must be in the Dutch language. Furthermore, it has been decided on the basis of Article 4 of the Medical Devices Act that certain do-it-yourself tests cannot be sold to users without the intervention of a healthcare professional. Article 3.4 of the IVD Decree stipulates that only physicians and pharmacists are allowed to supply users with the highrisk diagnostic medical devices named in Article 1.1b (including tests for the detection of HIV infection and tumour markers, tests for the diagnosis of hereditary diseases, and predictive genetic tests). Hence this regulation concerns only

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

products, not services. It is known as the 'sales channel regulation' because it channels the sale of in vitro diagnostic medical devices.

Article 13a forms part of the sales channel regulation. This Article sets the requirements for the sale of high-risk diagnostic medical devices by pharmacists. These requirements concern the content of the patient information leaflet (Article 13a.2) and the information provided prior to the sale (Article 13a.3). The patient information leaflet should include the following additional details:

- adequate information on the severity of the condition and the importance of medical supervision in the use of the high-risk diagnostic medical device
- instructions, sufficiently understandable for non-professional users, on how to correctly use the high-risk diagnostic medical device and to correctly interpret the test results
- presentation, in an easily understood form, of the test results
- information on the possibility of a false-positive or false-negative result
- a recommendation on appropriate measures in case of a positive, negative or unclear result
- a recommendation not to take a medical decision without consulting a physician, with references to relevant professional healthcare institutions.

The information provided prior to the sale of the product (Article 13a.3) should include the following points:

- the availability of anonymous tests under medical supervision
- the importance of medical supervision in case of a positive test result
- the correct use of the high-risk diagnostic medical device
- the correct interpretation of the test results.

The sale of do-it-yourself tests (for example, for HIV or PSA) without the intervention of a physician or pharmacist is therefore prohibited in the Netherlands. However, the sales channel regulation does not, for example, apply to a do-ityourself test for bowel cancer (the FOBT) because blood is not a tumour marker. This means that FOBTs can indeed be sold without the intervention of a physician or pharmacist. Another weakness in the regulation is that users obtain most of the information (through the patient information leaflet) only after they have bought the test.

Several other EU member states have imposed a Netherlands-like sale restriction on, for example, HIV self-tests. However, many member states have no such restrictions. As a result, manufacturers from EU countries without sales channel regulation can, in practice, sell high-risk tests with the CE marking to Dutch consumers on the Internet without the intervention of a physician or phar-

Laws and regulations on self-testing



macist, even though this conflicts with the IVD Decree. The growing availability of tests for sale on the Internet, including by companies outside Netherlands, limits the application of the sales channel regulation and makes it difficult to enforce. The Minister of Health, Welfare and Sport has, in response to parliamentary questions on Internet sales of biomarker tests, announced that he will ask the RVZ whether there are grounds for reviewing the risk classification concerning the sale of diagnostic tests as set out in the IVD Decree now that ever more self-tests for cancer are offerred.<sup>22</sup> However, such a review will not solve the fundamental problems with the maintenance and enforceability of the sales channel regulation.

It is possible for a manufacturer based outside Europe to sell in vitro diagnostic medical devices to Dutch consumers on the Internet without the required CE marking, although Article 3.1 of the IVD Decree forbids the sale of such a product. Article 3.3 likewise forbids the use such an in vitro diagnostic medical device. This means that a Dutch consumer who uses such a test at home is, strictly speaking, guilty of an offence, although such an offence will not be easy to establish.

#### 2.2.3 Analysis after admission to the market

Once the manufacturer has placed the in vitro diagnostic medical device on the market, the IVD Directive (and the IVD Decree) (Annex part 3, paragraph 5) oblige it to institute, within the framework of 'post-marketing surveillance' (PMS), a system and procedure for the collection and analysis of experiences with the product. The aim of this is to determine whether the product designs, including the instructions and application, require adjustment. The Health Care Inspectorate expects manufacturers to both passively and actively conduct PMS. Manufacturers usually passively (reactively) conduct PMS by waiting for incidents and user complaints (through a complaint procedure). The Inspectorate is urging manufacturers to proactively conduct PMS (for example, through customer satisfaction surveys, purchase satisfaction forms and meetings with users).

'Vigilance' is one element of PMS. The Annex mentioned above requires the manufacturer to notify the Health Care Inspectorate of the following:

1 any malfunction, failure or deterioration in the characteristics and/or performance of a device, as well as any inadequacy in the labelling or the instructions for use that, directly or indirectly, might lead to, or might have led to, the death of a patient or user or other persons or to a severe deterioration in his or their state of health;
2 any technical or medical reason connected with the characteristics or the performance of a device for the reasons referred to in subparagraph 1 leading to systematic recall of devices of the same type by the manufacturer.

Agreements between the industry and governments on the specific aspects of these notifications are set out in the EU's Guidelines on Medical Devices (MED-DEV) (2.12-1 [rev 5] April 2007). The Health Care Inspectorate has asked manufacturers to use the standard forms included with the MEDDEV when submitting notifications. However, in practice users tend not to complain about self-tests and the Inspectorate has received virtually no notifications of incidents or recalls (although it certainly does not follow from this that the products are of high quality). Where the lay public is concerned, the registration of notified incidents probably has only limited value.

## 2.2.4 Other regulations

In addition to the IVD Directive and the IVD Decree, the supply and sale of doit-your-self tests is also governed by general law in the Netherlands, in particular the rules in Book 7 of the Dutch Civil Code (*Burgerlijk Wetboek*, BW) covering consumer purchases and distance selling (whereby the contact with the seller is via telephone, post, fax or Internet).

In a consumer purchase, the seller has to provide goods of high quality. The product must live up to the claims the seller makes for it, the seller must indicate whether the product is suitable for whatever purpose the buyer wants to use it, and the seller is bound by the product expectations created by the manufacturer. Before a distance contract can be concluded, the consumer must have timely access to sufficient, clear and understandable information that sets out, among others, the key features of the product or service.

The Civil Code also includes rules on the illegality of misleading advertising (Articles 6:194-196) and rules on product liability (Articles 6:185-193). The latter does not deal with the general quality of the product, but with its safety. A consumer who feels misled or cheated can use these rules to claim damages from the seller or manufacturer.

These civil law rules have only limited relevance for do-it-yourself tests. It is consumers who have to activate these rules by calling upon them when they feel they have been misled or cheated. A claim against a manufacturer or seller only has a chance of success if the consumer can show that he or she has been harmed.

Laws and regulations on self-testing

#### 2.3 Regulations for self-tests as a service

Home-collecting tests and street-corner tests are not only products, to which the IVD Decree applies, but also services. These services are certainly of a medical nature, namely the assessment of a person's state of health. The question thus arises as to what extent this type of service is covered by the regimes enshrined in the Population Screening Act (WBO), the Individual Health Care Professions Act (*Wet op de beroepen in de individuele gezondheidszorg*, BIG) and the Medical Treatment Contracts Act (*Wet op de geneeskundige behandelingsovereenko-mst*, WGBO). The Health Care Institutions Quality Act (hereafter 'Quality Act') may also apply, although this law certainly does not apply to single individuals acting on their own. We consider the relevant statutory regulations below.

#### 2.3.1 Population Screening Act

In this Act screening is defined as: "medical examination of persons performed for the purpose of implementing an offer made to the whole population or a section thereof and aimed at detecting specific diseases or risk factors for the benefit, or in part for the benefit, of the persons to be examined."

Home-collecting testing or street-corner testing fall under this definition. Examinations of this nature require a permit if ionising radiation is used, if they concern cancer, or if they concern severe diseases, defects or anomalies for which there is no treatment or prevention (Article 2.1). For instance, if the homecollecting test or street-corner test concerns the detection of cancer (PSA test, FOBT or AMAS test) or a predisposition to cancer, then this examination requires a permit under this law and is thus prohibited without the required permit (Article 3.1). Compliance with the WBO is supervised by the Health Care Inspectorate (Articles 10 and 11). Contraventions of the WBO are punishable (Article 13).

The WBO does not apply to do-it-yourself tests. Such tests are commercial products and they do not amount to population screening within the meaning of the WBO. This also applies to do-it-yourself tests for prostate cancer or bowel cancer. Products with the CE marking are commercial products. If the WBO also required a permit for market placement, this would constitute an obstacle to trade and would thus contravene the IVD Decree.

However, if a FOBT or PSA test is offered or sold in the form of a service, then the WBO does apply to this service and this examination requires a permit under the WBO. The IVD Decree applies to the *product* with which a home-col-

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

lecting test or street-corner test is performed (unless it is what is called a 'homebrew test', that is, a test used within the same health institution without having been transferred to another legal entity: Article 2.2 of the IVD Decree, see also section 2.2.1).

## 2.3.2 Individual Health Care Professions (BIG) Act

The BIG Act allows anyone to perform procedures in the area of individual healthcare, unless the procedure is a 'reserved procedure', such as an injection, puncture or catheterisation (Articles 35 and 36). Reserved procedures can only be performed by or on behalf of a physician or obstetrician. As far as the BIG is concerned, the ban on the independent performance of reserved procedures only applies to healthcare professionals.

With a home-collecting test, a person collects or takes body samples from himself or herself for the purpose of analysis. This is not a reserved procedure within the meaning of a healthcare professional's work. Street-corner tests do not usually involve a medical professional, but they do involve professional procedures in the health service. That is why it is usually not allowed to obtain body samples for this type of test by means of a reserved procedure, such as a puncture. It should be noted here that finger pricking is not a puncture within the meaning of the law and is thus not a reserved procedure.

The BIG is also relevant in terms of title protection. Only those people who are entered on a BIG register are entitled to use the title of physician, dentist, pharmacist, clinical psychologist, psychotherapist, physiotherapist, obstetrician or nurse (Article 4.1). In this way, patients or consumers can check whether they are dealing with a qualified professional. Those entered on a BIG register are also subject to the law's disciplinary rules (Article 47). Healthcare professionals who move beyond their area of expertise in the course of their work and cause or are very likely to cause unnecessary harm to another person's health are punishable, even if they are not entered on a BIG register (Article 96). Performing reserved procedures in contravention of the stipulations of the BIG is also punishable (Article 97). Moreover, general criminal laws are applicable to anyone who has inflicted severe harm to other people (outside their professional work; Articles 307 and 208 of the Criminal Code).

# 2.3.3 Medical Treatment Contracts Act (WGBO)

A medical treatment contract is a contract in which a natural or legal person – the healthcare provider – in the course of carrying out a medical profession or busi-

Laws and regulations on self-testing

ness, undertakes towards another person – the client- to perform medical procedures on the client or a third party (Article 7:446 of the Civil Code). Homecollecting tests and street-corner tests clearly involve both a. a natural or legal person carrying out a medical profession or business (*e.g.* a laboratory performing medical tests) and b. medical procedures (*e.g.* assessing someone's state of health). If the healthcare provider (the laboratory) agrees to assess the state of health of the client (the consumer) by means of a test, then a contract has therefore been concluded within the meaning of the WGBO. The employees of the legal entity (the laboratory) are to be regarded as the executors of the contract on behalf of the legal entity.

In short, the provisions of the WGBO govern the legal position of consumers in relation to the laboratory or the laboratory staff. This means, for example, that the laboratory is obliged to provide consumers with all the information they need to enable them to decide whether or not to allow the performance of the test. Another consequence is that the activities of the laboratory require a duty of care as a good healthcare provider and must be in accordance with its responsibilities arising from the professional standards applicable to healthcare providers (Article 7:453 of the Civil Code). This, of course, presupposes the existence of such standards.

Not all WGBO rules apply to home-collecting tests and street-corner tests. The provisions of 'central liability' (Article 7:462.1 of the Civil Code) do not apply if the laboratory that renders the service is not part of a hospital, because such a laboratory is not a hospital within the meaning of the law.

## 2.3.4 Health Care Institutions Quality Act

The Quality Act is a framework act that uses a general standard – the provision of 'responsible healthcare' – to place responsibility for the quality of healthcare within the institutions themselves. 'Responsible healthcare' is defined as "being of a good quality, effective, efficient and patient-oriented, and geared to the real needs of the patient" (Article 2). Theoretically, all healthcare institutions have to comply with the Quality Act, regardless of their funding arrangements.

Are suppliers and sellers of home-collecting tests and street-corner tests healthcare providers within the meaning of the Quality Act? The Act defines a 'healthcare provider' as "(i) the natural or legal person who operates an institution, (ii) the natural or legal persons who together form an institution" (Article 1.1c). 'Institution' is defined as "the organisation whose purpose is to provide healthcare" (Article 1.1b). And 'healthcare' is defined as "healthcare as defined

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

in or pursuant to the Health Insurance Act and the Extraordinary Medical Expenses Act" (Article 1.1a of the Quality Act).

The legislators did not intend for the Quality Act to apply only to healthcare reimbursed under one of the above laws; it also applies to healthcare that is comparable to the healthcare as defined in these laws.<sup>26</sup> What matters, then, is whether the intended services can be designated as this type of healthcare. One can argue about the answer to this question, and there are thus doubts about the scope of application of the Quality Act.

Parliament could remove this uncertainty by defining home-collecting tests and street-corner tests as healthcare within the meaning of the Quality Act. Article 1.2 states, "If required for the promotion of the quality of healthcare, a form of medical assistance can be designated as healthcare within the meaning of the Act by means of an Order in Council". An implementation decree on Article 1.2 of the Quality Act that designates certain forms of medical assistance as healthcare within the meaning of the Quality Act has been in effect since 1996. The decree could be amended in this respect, whereupon the institutions or laboratories would have to formulate quality policies that could be assessed by the Health Care Inspectorate.

The above doubts to not extend to regular healthcare institutions, or laboratories that form part of these, that offer services in the form of home-collecting tests or street-corner tests. These are certainly covered by the provisions of the Quality Act.

## 2.4 Regulations for self-tests as products and services

Article 38 of the Health Care Market Regulation Act (*Wet marktordening gezondheidszorg*, WMG) imposes an obligation on healthcare providers that also applies to suppliers of self-tests, at least on the assumption that these are also 'healthcare providers' (see also section 2.3.4). This obligation entails that healthcare providers must disclose information about the characteristics of their products and services in such a way that this information can be easily compared by consumers. This information must also refer to the quality of the product or service. The above stipulation can be enforced by the health care authority by administrative order or by imposing a penalty order (WMG Article 82).

# 2.5 Conclusions

The Committee has investigated which laws and regulations apply to self-tests. In doing so, it distinguished between tests as products and tests as services (hav-

Laws and regulations on self-testing

ing oneself tested) because the relevant laws and regulations differ. What are the main conclusions?

#### The Netherlands is bound by the IVD Directive

• With regard to the product requirements for self-tests, the Netherlands is bound by the European IVD Directive. A member state may not tighten these requirements unilaterally because this would constitute an obstacle to trade, although member states do have some freedom to regulate the commercial practices (*e.g.* sale and advertising) surrounding these types of products.

#### The IVD Directive needs to be clarified

• The general 'essential requirements' set out in the IVD Directive are open to interpretation. The Committee adduces arguments to interpret them in such a way that they refer not only to the analytical validity, but also to the diagnostic validity and clinical utility, of a self-test.

#### The European assessment procedures are not transparent

• The procedures by which manufacturers and notified bodies perform a CE assessment take place behind closed doors. The files in question are currently kept secret and can only be requested for viewing by the Health Care Inspectorate if concerns arise. Secrecy impedes the professional identification of possible problems.

The IVD Directive gives very little guidance on information for consumers and clinicians

- The IVD Directive sets virtually no requirements on the information provided to consumers prior to the purchase of a self-test.
- There are no specific regulations for advertising self-tests (such as those that exist for prescription drugs), apart from the code of conduct adopted by the trade association, Diagned (www.diagned.nl).

Most tests fall within the CE assessment's low-risk category, even though they certainly carry risks

• Virtually all tests fall within the low-risk category of the CE assessment procedure. This is true, for example, for tests for cancer (apart from PSA tests) and genetic tests (apart from tests for phenylketonuria, Down's syndrome and histocompatibility). In these instances, the manufacturer can determine for itself whether the test meets the 'essential requirements'. As a result European test marketing is based on self certification.<sup>244</sup>

- The IVD Directive does not oblige the manufacturer to provide the results from studies with inexperienced users for the CE assessment procedure for do-it-yourself tests. Such an obligation currently only applies to the high-risk tests on List A and to self-tests for which performance evaluations have been conducted.
- An independent scientific committee should be responsible for overseeing the risk categories, and the current European system of agreement between civil servants should end.<sup>244</sup>

The regulations contain no clear definition of a high-risk diagnostic medical device

• The definition of high-risk diagnostic medical devices that fall under the sales channel regulation does not coincide with the products cited in List A and/or List B in the IVD Directive. This is confusing.

Some test forms seem to fall outside the current regulatory regime

• Some home-collecting tests and street-corner tests are not covered by publiclaw legislation such as the WBO and the Quality Act. At the very least, there are doubts about their applicability to this type of services. This can only be resolved with a legislative amendment.

43

Laws and regulations on self-testing

# Chapter

3

# Criteria for the evaluation of self-tests

The statutory framework outlined in the previous chapter represents the parameters within which the government can shape its tasks to protect citizens from selftests that do not promote health and may even harm it. But when is this the case? On what grounds can such a judgement be made? And how do these relate to the statutory requirements? In this chapter the Committee sets out which criteria it uses to evaluate the quality of self-tests.

## 3.1 Proven diagnostic value

A first condition for a good test is that a repeat of the test yields the same outcome. This characteristic (repeatability, reproducibility, reliability) is important, but not sufficient. By analogy, an archer who systematically hits a particular spot but misses the bull's-eye is doing his best, but he is not hitting the target. In other words, a test must also be valid (accurate). It is important to distinguish here between analytical validity and diagnostic validity. Analytical validity reflects the performances in a laboratory trial setting, for example how often is the test positive when a gene mutation being sought is actually present (the genotype)? Diagnostic validity goes one step further: how often is the test positive in people who have or will get the condition in question (the phenotype), and how often is it negative in people without that phenotype? A test may accurately show the presence or absence of a gene mutation, for example, but if people with that mutation virtually never get the disease, the test is not useful. The laboratory

Criteria for the evaluation of self-tests

analysis determining the presence of a particular biomarker (the 'assay') should be distinguished from the application of this assay for a particular purpose (eg, diagnostic, prognostic) in a particular population.

The validity of a test is determined by the test characteristics of sensitivity and specificity. A test's (diagnostic) sensitivity is its ability to identify *all* people with the disease in question, or the number of true-positive test results divided by the number of people with the disease (true-positives plus false-negatives). A test with a high sensitivity leads to few false-negative outcomes. A test's diagnostic specificity is its ability to identify *only* people with the disease, or the number of true-negative test results divided by the number of people without the disease (true-negatives plus false-positives). A test with a high sensitivity leads to few false-positive outcomes.

Contrary to what is often thought, the degree of sensitivity and specificity does not only depend on the characteristics of the test itself. The sensitivity also depends on the clinical spectrum of the disease among the people being tested.<sup>27</sup> A test is usually first 'benchmarked' among a series of patients who have been referred to a hospital. These will often have the disease in a severe, pronounced form. Among the general population, people will still have the disease at an early stage, and hence it will be far more difficult to distinguish between those who have the disease and those who do not. Because of this difference in clinical spectrum, a test with a high sensitivity in a hospital setting will perform less well when applied to the general population.

For users of self-tests, the predictive value of the test result is of overriding importance. The positive predictive value indicates the probability that people with a positive test result will indeed have the disease. This probability depends on the validity of the test, but moreover on the percentage of cases of the disease among the tested people (the prevalence of the disease). A test that performs well in a group with many cases of the disease may not be suitable for use among the general population. The probability of a false-positive test result is by definition higher among self-testers than among visitors to an outpatients' department. After all, the pre-selection by the general practitioner means that there will be more cases of the disease among the outpatients, and the probability of a correct test result will be higher than in the case of more-or-less random testing.<sup>28</sup> A physician will make the decision to refer a patient based on the outcome of a physical examination.

Just as with participants in organised population screening, the main motivation for self-testers is probably to seek reassurance that they do not have a particular condition. This means that the test must in every case meet the requirement

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

that the predictive value of a negative test result is high. A test that yields many false-negative outcomes is not very informative and gives people a false reassurance. People who use a self-test when it is almost certain that they do not have the disease will barely reduce the uncertainty, but do run a relatively high risk of an incorrect test result.<sup>29</sup>

It is true that self-tests are not only used as a screening test by people who do not have symptoms, but also by people who do have symptoms. This does not detract from the requirement of proven diagnostic value. It should also be stressed that severe symptoms require serious medical attention within the regular health service. If a person noticed blood in their faeces or urine, for example, it would be risky to rely on a self-test.

## 3.2 Proven clinical utility

A test must first of all give the user greater certainty about having or developing a particular condition. Furthermore, using the test must be of benefit to the user. Generally speaking, 'benefit' is taken to mean a health gain. In certain situations (*e.g.* pregnancy test, prenatal screening, or a test for an untreatable disease), the issue is not a health gain, but to offer sensible courses of action. The intended effect in the case of a health gain must be convincingly demonstrated in terms of mortality, disease burden or quality of life. After all, a test (explicitly or otherwise) offers a promise of a health gain. A test user should therefore be able to count on this promise being delivered.

This requirement of evidence-based effectiveness fits in with the general development that market parties demonstrate social responsibility concerning their products. Thus, the efficacy and safety of drugs must be well documented before they can be introduced on the market. This is done on the basis of clinical trials that can withstand or have withstood the peer reviews of scientific journals. Requirements have become more stringent and detailed information concerning efficiency must now also be given. Transparency in healthcare means, among other things, that medical specialists have to disclose their medical performances. Claims of health benefits for foods and food supplements, for example, must increasingly be substantiated, and this substantiation must be independently tested.<sup>30</sup>

To be convincing, information about the evidence of efficacy must be available to the public. This fits in with the obligation to provide information under consumer protection legislation (see section 2.2.4), and applies not only to consumers, but also to general practitioners and other physicians who are being consulted following a test outcome, as well as to health insurance companies.

Criteria for the evaluation of self-tests

#### 3.3 Favourable risk-benefit ratio

Using a test may have the desired effects, but it may also have unwelcome effects. Ultimately, a test is only of value if the desired effects amply weigh up against the unwelcome effects (*e.g.* health impairment or risk) for the users themselves and for others. There is no point in testing if the benefit is cancelled out by the risk. All that is certain about tests which have not been proven to be effective are the disadvantages. Because there are no perfect tests, false-positive and false-negative outcomes are always likely, with all the implications that entails.

The use of self-tests is not likely to pose a direct danger to the user's safety, but it may pose an indirect danger to his or her physical and mental health. Health impairment can take many forms, such as temporary worry about the result, or unnecessary worry in hindsight if a result proves a false-positive. The follow-up examination or treatment may be burdensome and risky. Testing can lead to overdiagnosis and overtreatment or, on the contrary, to false reassurance and late treatment after a false-negative result. Testing can also lead to 'loss of amenity' (loss of enjoyment of life) because it may merely bring forward the moment of detection without allowing the user to live longer.

It is often unquestioningly assumed that the risk-benefit ratio is favourable, or at least not unfavourable. 'It doesn't hurt to try' does not, however, hold in the case of self-testing or screening. Users of self-tests are generally people without definite symptoms and with a low probability that they have the disease in question. This means that many people have to use the test before someone benefits and that the great majority of people will not benefit from the test. Under these circumstances, the risk of testing (for the many) will have to be very small indeed to remain favourable compared to the benefits (for the few). This fundamental law of a precarious, by no means inevitably favourable, risk-benefit ratio applies to all forms of early detection.

However, if someone does have symptoms (for example bowel pain and weight loss), then it is very much an open question whether self-testing offers benefits rather than causing harm.

#### 3.4 Favourable cost-benefit ratio

Efficiency has to do with the costs of the test and the costs of all possible consequences of the use of the test. How does the deployment of resources compare to the potential net health gain? Efficiency can be considered from the consumer's perspective or from a social perspective. For consumers, the convenience of a

self-test, the avoidance of a doctor's appointment, or the reassurance of a negative test result may well easily outweigh the cost of buying the test. At a social level, one of the questions that arises is whether self-testing reduces the probability of a risky postponement of a doctor's appointment or actually increases it through a false-negative test result. Does self-testing inhibit the unnecessary use of healthcare services, or does it actually have a stimulating effect?

Efficiency is ideally expressed in terms of costs per gained life-year (costeffectiveness) or costs per quality-weighted life-year (cost-utility). The efficiency and cost-benefit ratio of tests with unproven efficacy are by definition unknown. A very efficient test has a low (favourable) cost-effectiveness ratio.

Research on the efficiency of diagnostics in general and self-tests in particular is scarce. If nothing is mentioned on this in the following chapters, that is because nothing is known about the efficiency of the self-test in question.

#### 3.5 Good test performances with inexperienced users

A specific criterion for do-it-yourself tests is that lay persons must also be able to perform the test in such a way that its diagnostic value is preserved. After all, diagnostic value can significantly decline if the test is not correctly applied.<sup>24</sup> Even when the instructions in the patient information leaflet are very clear, inexperienced users can easily make crucial mistakes, for example in timing the reading of the result. 'Stop Kidney Disease Early' (*'Stop beginnende nierziekte'*), a campaign launched by the Kidney Foundation in the autumn of 2006, led to an unexpectedly large number of false-positive test results, estimated at one in five participants. Part of the explanation was that the test (in the first morning urine) can only be accurately read in natural daylight. In artificial light – and bear in mind, the test was held in the autumn – the test results are more easily interpreted as positive.<sup>5</sup>

## 3.6 Adequate information for users

Quantified information on probabilities is part and parcel of informing the patient in the physician's surgery. The Committee finds it self-evident that information on self-tests, in particular, must meet high standards. To be able to assess the value of self-tests, consumers must receive balanced and adequate information. That is a precondition for exercising the right to self-determination. Do consumers have access to this information in time, or can they only obtain it after they have bought the self-test kit?

Criteria for the evaluation of self-tests

The code of conduct for the trade association of Dutch manufacturers, importers and suppliers, states that advertising for self-tests must be done so as to promote the rational use of the test, not mislead consumers on the effects, safety and applicability of the product, and to provide truthful and verifiable information (www.diagned.nl).

## 3.7 Embedding in the regulatory regime

A final set of criteria is whether the self-test requires a permit under the Population Screening Act (WBO), whether the test carries the CE marking, and whether (in the Committee's eyes) the outcome of the CE assessment procedure meets the general 'essential requirements' set out in the IVD Decree (and Directive).

The Committee has looked at publicly accessible sources, such as the Internet and articles in peer-reviewed scientific or professional journals. It did not take account of the non-public data which manufacturers, the notified body, or the Health Care Inspectorate have access to. The Committee was thus in the same position when evaluating the self-tests discussed in the following chapters as a consumer who is considering buying a self-test.

#### 3.8 Conclusion

Self-tests must be assessed in the same way as tests in screening programmes

The Committee sees no reasons to assess a self-test any less critically than a test that is part of a screening programme. After all, both the use of self-tests and participation in population screening are promoted, explicitly or implicitly, as ways of achieving health gains. Users have the right to know whether there are sound reasons for that claim and what the downside might be.

A second reason is that the quality of self-testing is vulnerable. In a screening programme, a professional organisation safeguards the main links in the chain of information provision, choice of target group and screening interval, training and retraining of screening staff, quality control of the screening procedure, registration, and process and effect evaluations. The situation is different for self-tests.

#### Four general criteria apply to self-tests

No ready-made evaluation framework is available; there have only been initial steps in that direction.<sup>31</sup> The Committee based its evaluation of self-tests in this annual report on the following criteria: diagnostic value, clinical utility, risk-benefit ratio and efficiency. If nothing has been published in scientific and professional journals on these aspects, then the requirements that the quality of the tests must be objectively evaluated and that the outcome must be made public and must be verifiable have not been met. This is all the more serious because unpublished research tends to be of lower quality and often overestimates the results.<sup>32</sup>

How do these criteria relate to the requirements set out in the laws and regulations? According to the Committee, they agree with the general 'essential requirements' set out in the IVD Decree. After all, these requirements must ensure that it is clear what the test is used for, that the test works as intended (and delivers the indicated test performances in terms of reliability, diagnostic validity, etc), and that 'any risks which may be associated with their use must be acceptable when weighed against the benefits to the patient'.

These requirements generally apply to diagnostic medical devices. However, the evaluation of new diagnostic medical devices in the regular health service lags behind research into the effects of therapies. There has been a growing realisation over the last few decades of the need for critical evaluations of new diagnostic procedures.<sup>28,33</sup>

#### Three supplementary requirements are important for self-tests

In addition to the four above-mentioned criteria, the evaluation also focuses on several other requirements more specifically geared to self-tests: responsible application by inexperienced users, provision of adequate information, and meeting statutory requirements.

51

Criteria for the evaluation of self-tests

Chapter

4

# **Evaluation of do-it-yourself tests**

In this chapter the Committee starts the evaluation of self-tests with do-it-yourself-tests: tests which consumers can perform themselves at home, without the intervention of anyone else in taking or collecting the necessary body samples and in reading the test outcome.

## 4.1 Do-it-yourself tests for glucose in urine or blood

There are do-it-yourself urine or blood tests for detecting diabetes and there are meters with which diabetes patients can monitor their blood sugar levels themselves. Diabetes is a serious and very common disease. On the basis of general practitioners' morbidity registrations, it is estimated that in 2003 there were more than 600,000 people in the Netherlands with diabetes, of which 90% had type-2 diabetes (www.nationaalkompas.nl). The costs to the Dutch health service in 2003 of diabetes and diabetes-specific complications, such as eye conditions and kidney problems, were estimated at EUR 735 million.<sup>34</sup> The total costs, including complications such as cardiovascular diseases, came to EUR 1.2 billion.

## 4.1.1 Clinical utility of screening

The efficacy of screening for diabetes has not been demonstrated.<sup>35,36</sup> Research on this is ongoing. A screening trial was started in the Rijnmond region (Greater Rotterdam) in late 2005-early 2006 to establish whether systematic screening for

Evaluation of do-it-yourself tests

diabetes reduces the risk of cardiovascular disease. In accordance with the Health Council of the Netherlands' recommendations, the sample group consists of men and women aged between 40-75 years with a large waist circumference. This form of obesity is a better predictor than obesity determined on the basis of the body mass index. A measuring tape and a questionnaire are used to estimate the respondents' risk. The group with a heightened risk is randomly divided into a screening group and a control group. The members of the screening group are invited to have their fasting blood glucose and lipid levels measured. Participants who probably have diabetes, according to this measurement, are then referred to their doctor for diagnosis and treatment. The control group is only given lifestyle advice. The study will take 10 years to complete, including a feasibility study, and will eventually include 62,000 people, equally divided between the screening group and the control group.

This population screening trial does not require a permit under the WBO.

In anticipation of the results of scientific research, the Netherlands Diabetes Association (DVN), the Netherlands Diabetes Federation (NDF), the Royal Netherlands Pharmacists Association (KNMP) and other organisations have launched publicity campaigns with free diabetes tests. In the autumn of 2007, a free finger-prick campaign was conducted nationwide in the branches of a major sports clothing chain. This involved a volunteer from the DVN taking blood from a person and measuring their blood glucose level. The whole procedure took less than a minute.

# 4.1.2 Verdict on glucose tests for self diagnosis

Do-it-yourself tests, like the Medi-Test glucose urine test strip, have been around for a long time. Urine tests are not very sensitive in detecting diabetes. Their sensitivity lies between 21% and 64%.<sup>35</sup>

Blood glucose tests are the most popular self-test kits, according to the Maastricht study by the Care and Public Heath Institute (CAPHRI).<sup>4</sup> An example is the Visual Glucose Home Test (www.kwaliteitsapotheek.nl priced at EUR 9 to EUR 13). This is a semiquantitative test on capillary whole blood requiring one drop of blood from a finger prick. According to the instructions, the test result should be read 50-75 seconds after the drop of blood has been applied to the test strip, by comparing the colour of the test section against a colour scale.

Comparative research has been conducted into a capillary glucose measurement in the laboratory with the oral glucose tolerance test – the 'gold standard' for diabetes – as the reference test. The sensitivity came out between 40% and 84% and the specificity between 66% and 98%.<sup>37.40</sup> This could mean that the test

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

does not recognise most cases of diabetes and that a positive result will be a false-positive in nine out of ten cases (on the basis of a prevalence of 3.8% and a specificity of 66%).

It must be assumed that these tests do not perform any better when applied as do-it-yourself tests, but the website does not provide any information on this. Nor does it state whether the test has CE marking (www.kwaliteitsapotheek.nl). The Committee was unable to determine, on the basis of an Internet search, what test performances are claimed by the manufacturers themselves. Manufacturers are not obliged to provide the 'notified body' with results from studies with inexperienced users. The Committee was unable to find any publications on such studies in peer reviewed medical jounnals.

Do-it-yourself tests for glucose are categorised as low-risk. This means that the CE assessment is left almost entirely to the manufacturer itself. Do-it-yourself tests fall outside the scope of the WBO.

The Committee concludes that the clinical utility and cost-effectiveness of screening for type-2 diabetes are still being researched. Glucose measurements from finger-prick blood with test strips produce widely varying test results under laboratory conditions. This is all the more serious because nothing has been published on the diagnostic value of test strips when used by inexperienced users. Because the diagnostic value cannot be ascertained, the test result cannot be interpreted. The Committee takes the view that the sale of test strips for glucose levels is at odds with the general 'essential requirements' of the IVD Decree.

Some people test themselves for diabetes by using the portable glucose meter used by a relative or friend with diabetes. Glucose meters all measure in capillary whole blood (obtained from a finger prick) and are not suitable for self-diagnosing diabetes mellitus.<sup>41</sup> Nor are they intended for that purpose. Glucose measurements (in veinous plasma) in laboratories are much more accurate. The use of portable meters (which are calibrated half for whole blood and half for plasma) can lead to confusion in diagnosis.

# 4.1.3 Verdict on blood glucose meters for monitoring

The 1980s saw significant progress in the self-measurement of blood sugar levels, namely from manual visual measurement to electronic measurement.<sup>42</sup> Subsequently many meters were equipped with software. Urine test strips are rarely used these days. The search for an ambulant feedback system in which a noninvasive glucose meter is linked to the automated application of insulin is still ongoing.<sup>43</sup>

Evaluation of do-it-yourself tests

In the 1980s the Netherlands Organisation for Applied Scientific Research (TNO) developed a guideline with quality criteria for portable and other glucose meters. This guideline was a voluntary agreement between manufacturers and professionals, and applied until the IVD Decree came into force in 2001. Under this guideline it was agreed with healthcare providers and insurance companies that only TNO-approved meters could be used for health insurance purposes. This approval is not a one-off check, but involves regular monitoring. The approval holder undertakes to submit his approved product annually for testing. Another important aspect is that regular checks are made to ensure that the measurements are performed correctly. Under this quality assurance programme, participants are sent two samples with unknown glucose concentrations every three months, each of these concentrations must be measured twice. After the participants return the measurements, they receive a detailed report. The introduction of CE marking made the pivotal role of TNO redundant.

Subject to certain conditions, glucose meters are suitable for monitoring. Accurate regulation of glucose reduces the chances of complications. Self-management improves the attitude of diabetics using insulin. This might also apply to type-2 diabetes patients who do not use insulin,<sup>44</sup> although this has not been demonstrated convincingly.<sup>45</sup> Self-management is probably chiefly valuable when it is embedded in structural diabetic care, within which education constitutes a major element. A systematic check revealed user mistakes among a quarter of 'self-measurers'.<sup>46</sup> This was due in particular to the use of expired or wrong glucose strips. Nearly all patients had questions about how to use the glucose meter.

Glucose values which vary by more than 7% from the reference values can lead to errors in the insulin dose.<sup>47</sup> Under the ISO standard, a meter's glucose value may not vary by more then 20% from the reference figure selected by the manufacturer. This means that two different meters could differ by 40% between them. In other words, someone with a glucose value of 10 mmol/l on the benchmark meter may register a value of 8 mmol/l on one approved meter and 12 mmol/l on another. In practice the variations are likely to be even greater if the instructions are not followed, if the strip preparation has changed over time without this being noticed, or if the self-selected reference level deviates more from the 'gold standard' for measuring glucose levels (hexokinase method calibrated using the ID-GCMS method).

Blood glucose meters are categorised as medium-risk in the IVD Directive. This means that they have to undergo a relatively onerous assessment procedure to obtain CE marking. The Committee takes the view that glucose meters are only suitable for monitoring if they pass not only the initial assessment but also subsequent regular checks of the meter, the test strips and the way in which the

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

measurement is conducted with blood from the patient. In this way it is possible to identify new patient-dependent interference factors for measuring glucose levels. The need for regular checks of blood glucose meters is insufficiently assured in the current CE marking system. The Committee recommends that this requirement be included in the preparations for the review of the CE marking system. The Committee was unable to find any publications on the efficiency of the use of blood glucose meters for monitoring.

## 4.2 Monitoring tests for blood coagulation time

Test equipment to determine how quickly blood coagulates is intended for people who are being treated with oral anticoagulation therapy. Setting the dose is precision work. Information on blood coagulation time can help patients to take the correct amount.

## 4.2.1 Thrombosis

Outpatient anti-coagulation treatment is supervised in the Netherlands by thrombosis clinics. In 2002 there were 63 such clinics, treating more than 326,000 patients: 73% with an arterial indication (cardiovascular diseases such as atrium fibrillation, heart attack with complications, heart valve replacement), and 27% with a veinous indication.<sup>48</sup>

Deep-vein thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolism are responsible for a heavy disease burden and many deaths. The incidence of DVT in the general population is not known. An old US questionnaire-based study suggested that 5% of men over 70 years and 10% of women in that age group may have had DVT. A Swedish study came to a figure of 15% of the population.<sup>49</sup> Because of the often non-specific symptom pattern, mortality rates do not give a reliable picture. The likelihood of death within 30 days of a DVT episode is 5%. For pulmonary embolism the corresponding figure is 10%.<sup>50</sup> No figures are available on the specific costs of DVT and pulmonary embolism to the health service.

In its new consensus on the treatment of DVT and pulmonary embolism (*Behandeling diepe veneuze trombose en embolie*), the Institute for Health Care Improvement (CBO) provides evidence of major advances in the diagnosis and treatment of these conditions (www.cbo.nl). Hospital admission is usually no longer necessary for DVT. However, treatment with oral anticoagulants combined with supervision by the thrombosis services is burdensome. Although research into new anticoagulants which do not need laboratory control is ongoing, these new therapies will not become available in the coming years.

Evaluation of do-it-yourself tests

Oral anticoagulation therapy works well, but setting the dose is precision work. Too high a dose can lead to haemorrhaging; too low a dose to thrombosis. The blood coagulation time can be measured and the therapy can be checked with the INR test, which measures the prothrombin time, expressed in the 'International Normalised Ratio'. The test consists of adding a substance to the blood to make it coagulate, and measuring the coagulation time.

# 4.2.2 Verdict on the INR test

The patient can measure the blood coagulation time at home using a simple appliance. This brings a major improvement in terms of mobility. Coagulation meters can be taken as hand luggage when travelling. Even more important is that, subject to certain conditions, self-management is at least as safe as the standard treatment, measured at the incidence of thrombosis, embolism or serious haemorrhaging, or the so-called INR value.<sup>9-11,51</sup> INR is the standard used to allow for differences in prothrombin time measurements in different laboratories on the basis of different reagents.

Blood coagulation meters are categorised as low-risk in the IVD Directive. They determine the INR in a drop of finger-prick blood on a test strip after one minute (with the CoaguChek XS) or after two minutes (with the HemoSense INRatio system). The website for the second coagulation meter states that it has CE marking. Since 2002, patients deemed suitable for self-testing can receive training and support from the thrombosis services, and they learn to set the dose within certain INR values themselves.<sup>48</sup>

The Committee concludes on the basis of published research into clinical utility and safety that self-management can offer added value. It sees no reason to place coagulation meters ('low risk') in a lower risk category than blood glucose meters ('medium risk').

## 4.3 Do-it-yourself tests on occult blood in urine

There are test strips which can detect blood that is present in the urine but not visible to the naked eye. Such a presence could be indicative of bladder cancer or another cancer of the urinary tract.

## 4.3.1 Bladder cancer

Some 2,350 new patients were registered with invasive bladder cancer in the Netherlands in 2003, and almost as many with a non-invasive form (www.ikc-

net.nl). Each year 1,150 patients die of bladder cancer (www.cbs.nl). The costs of bladder and kidney cancer (not broken down further) to the Dutch health service were estimated at EUR 100 million in 2003.<sup>34</sup> The disease is often diagnosed on the basis of painless visible loss of blood in the urine (macroscopic haematuria).

Years ago it was already assumed that bladder cancer could be detected early with a test for invisible traces of blood in the urine in people who do not yet have symptoms (asymptomatic microhaematuria, AMH). Test strips – *dipsticks* – were developed which are used in the health service, but also as do-it-yourself tests. Does such a haematuria test indeed detect bladder cancer sooner, and if so, is the disease then easier to treat?

#### 4.3.2 Clinical utility of screening

For screening to have an effect, then in any case appreciably more cases of the disease will have to be diagnosed among people with a positive test result than among those with a negative result. However, three patient-control type studies showed that bladder cancer was not diagnosed more often among people with asymptomatic microscopic haematuria (AMH) than among people without AMH.<sup>52-54</sup> Moreover, in autopsies, bladder cancer is not often observed at an early stage (unlike prostate cancer, for instance). This indicates that the chances of early detection of the disease are limited.<sup>55</sup> A calculation of the lead time (i.e. the period by which screening brings forward the moment of diagnosis) came out at only three months for AMH.<sup>56</sup> Correspondingly, no clear indications have been found that cases of bladder cancer detected via screening for AMH are detected at an earlier (more favourable) stage than would have been the case if the diagnosis had been made on the basis of symptoms.<sup>57,58</sup>

This implies that AMH screening has a low sensitivity for early bladder cancer, and that it would have to be repeated very frequently to have any effect. According to a study in Japan, a one-off haematuria test had a sensitivity of only 28% for bladder cancer.<sup>59</sup>

Moreover, there is the problem of low specificity. The initial test result is often positive, but at the decisive test (cystoscopy) this result usually proves a false-positive. How often this happens depends on the target group and the question of whether the screening consists of a single test strip or a series of ten or fourteen dipsticks on successive days. Between 2% and 24% of the participants present positive screening results under these conditions. The predictive value of this for bladder cancer is of a magnitude of 0.5 to 3.0% <sup>53,59,61</sup> or slightly higher.<sup>55,57,62,64</sup> The test performances among patients who have been referred for a

Evaluation of do-it-yourself tests

urological examination because of AMH are no better than among the general population.<sup>65</sup>

Scientific literature reports only two small, non-randomised studies into the efficacy of AMH screening for bladder cancer. A British study among men aged 60 and older showed no favourable effect of screening on bladder cancer mortality rates after an observation period of seven years.<sup>63</sup> But an American study among men over 50 did seem to point to a favourable effect after a period of 14 years.<sup>55</sup>

Test strips for AMH are categorised as low-risk in the IVD Decree. They are available, for example, as Bayer Multistix 5 (EUR 17 per bottle of 50 test strips) on several websites, such as www.daxtrio.nl (which has a Webshop Keurmerk quality mark), without stating whether the product has CE marking. These test strips can be used to screen for bladder or kidney cancer, but haemoglobin (the colourant of red blood cells) cannot be designated as a tumour marker, which means that the (Dutch) sales channel regulation does not apply.

## 4.3.3 Verdict on do-it-yourself tests for occult blood in urine

The Committee concludes that the efficacy of screening for bladder cancer, with test strips or any other method, has not been demonstrated. Suppliers of do-it-yourself tests for AMH do not warn that their clinical utility has not been established. Nor do they provide information on the test performances (which are often poor). Because of the high risk of false-positive and false-negative results, the test results cannot be interpreted. The efficacy of AMH testing for other cancers of the urinary tract has not been demonstrated either.

# 4.4 Do-it-yourself tests for albumin in urine

The next type of test which can be performed at home screens for albumin in urine. Loss of albumin through the urine (albuminuria) may point to chronic kidney disease.

#### 4.4.1 Chronic kidney disease

The Netherlands has around 11,000 patients with renal replacement therapy (dialysis and transplant; www.renine.nl). The annual costs of this therapy amount to around EUR 400 million. Renal dysfunction can remain unnoticed for a long time, until the kidneys have become seriously damaged. Diabetes mellitus (types 1 and 2) and hypertension are the main causes of end-stage kidney failure. These

conditions account for one in three cases of end-stage renal disease (ESRD) in the Netherlands and other European countries, and for two in three in the United States.<sup>55,66,67</sup> A Norwegian study showed that people with type-1 diabetes had an 8% chance of nephropathy (persistent macroalbuminuria) during an average observation period of 24 years after diagnosis.<sup>68</sup> In Finland, it was calculated that people diagnosed with diabetes before reaching the age of 30 had a 2% chance of suffering ESRD within 20 years, and an 8% chance within 30 years.<sup>69</sup> Incidentally, these national figures are appreciably lower than those from previous small-scale studies in referral centres.

Albuminuria and impaired kidney function (i.e. an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) < 60 ml per minute) raise the probability of deteriorating kidney function or the development of cardiovascular diseases among people with diabetes or hypertension.<sup>70-72</sup> Between 20% and 30% of people with diabetes or hypertension have albuminuria (albumin concentrations 20 milligrams per litre in morning urine or a random sample) or impaired kidney function.<sup>14,70,73-76</sup>

Deteriorating kidney function can be slowed or prevented by careful regulation of blood glucose levels and above all of blood pressure.<sup>77,79</sup> Practice guidelines issued by the Dutch College of General Practitioners (NHG) advise doctors to test kidney function annually in diabetics and people using diuretics or ACE blockers.<sup>78</sup> The reality is rather different, however. A national representative study showed that less than 40% of patients with diabetes and only a quarter of people with hypertension had their kidney function tested every year. And less than 25% of patients with diabetes and 10% of people with hypertension were examined for albuminuria.<sup>80</sup>

# 4.4.2 Clinical utility of screening for macroalbuminuria

There have been calls to population screening for hidden kidney damage.<sup>81,82</sup> In the autumn of 2006, the Kidney Association (Nierstichting) conducted a national campaign entitled 'Stop Chronic Kidney Disease Early' (*Stop beginnende nier-ziekte*) (www.nierstichting.nl).<sup>83</sup> There was widespread interest in a free 'kidney check' for macroalbuminuria: more than 1.1 million people (8.7% of Dutch adults) reported for a test.<sup>81,5</sup> The participants were sent three traditional test strips or 'dipsticks' with a colour chart for a semiquantitative reading. They were advised to consult their doctor if two or three test strips were positive, equivalent to a protein excretion rate in urine of more than 300 mg/l. The campaign was explicitly aimed at effective prevention of end-stage kidney failure.<sup>83</sup> But what do we know about the effects and costs of screening?

Evaluation of do-it-yourself tests

Ten years ago the first round of the Prevention of Renal and Vascular End-Stage Disease (PREVEND) study was conducted in Groningen. Nearly half of the city's more than 85,000 residents aged between 28 and 75 years participated in this study. Macroalbuminuria (> 300 mg per day) was observed in 0.6% of the participants. In 75% of cases their doctors were not aware of this.<sup>84</sup> People with macroalbuminuria are at a heightened risk of developing chronic renal insufficiency, cardiovascular diseases or ESRD.<sup>74,85.89</sup> According to large American and Japanese studies, the probability of ESRD was increased by 12 to 15 times in case of a strong positive result (2+ or higher).<sup>85,87</sup>

However, the latter does not necessarily mean that screening is likely to have a major effect at population level. This is because people with a positive result (1+ or higher) constitute only a minority of those who subsequently develop endstage kidney failure.<sup>85</sup> According to the American MRFIT study (1973-1975, 13,000 middle-aged men with at a heightened risk of cardiovascular diseases, observation period of 25 years), the figure was 19%. A Japanese study with an observation period of 17 years came out at 45%.<sup>90</sup> These would imply that a maximum of 19% or 45% of cases of ESRD could be prevented with screening for macroalbuminuria.<sup>85</sup> And this on condition that the screening programme is perfect in the sense that all members of the group take part, that a positive outcome leads to a formal diagnostic process in all cases, that treatment is given whenever required, and that treatment prevents the development of ESRD in all cases.

In practice this is an impossible combination. The evaluation of the 'Stop Chronic Kidney Disease Early' campaign showed that around 25% of participants whose 'kidney check' was positive visited their doctor.<sup>5</sup> Treatment compliance is generally only around 50% among people being treated for risk factors or chronic conditions which have few or no symptoms, such as hypertension and osteoporosis.<sup>91-94</sup> These percentages may of course come out higher when campaigns are less non-committal.

No research has been published which demonstrates the efficacy of screening. What is clear, however, is that screening has disadvantages. The commonly used test strips have a low specificity, between 70% and 90%. This is also true for new dipstick tests that measure lower albumin concentrations (microalbuminuria).<sup>73,95-97</sup> In a population screening, this inevitably leads to a low predictive value for a positive test outcome – in other words, many false-positive results, which would mean additional burdens for the participants and the health service. Whether repetition of the test would reduce the number of false-positive results without further reducing sensitivity has not been researched in any detail.

An unpublished pilot study for the 'kidney check' showed a specificity of 85%.<sup>81</sup> The evaluation of the Kidney Foundation campaign showed that 20% of

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

the participants had a positive 'kidney check'.<sup>5</sup> This percentage was much higher than expected, because the prevalence of macroalbuminuria in the general population is 0.6%.

The dipsticks used in the 'kidney check' are commercially available as Medi-Test, in combination with one to ten other indicators (www.machereynagel.com). A model calculation yields an unfavourable cost-effectiveness ratio for dipstick screening.<sup>98</sup> Incidentally, cost-effectiveness only becomes attractive once actual effectiveness has been proved.

# 4.4.3 Clinical utility of screening for microalbuminuria

Could screening for microalbuminuria be effective and efficient? The 'yield' could be much higher, because microalbuminuria is much more common than macroalbuminuria (occurring in 7% and 0.6% of adults respectively), and it is also a risk indicator for cardiovascular diseases.<sup>72,89,99-102</sup> However, a number of important questions still remain, for instance concerning test performances of dipsticks in screening exercises. These have been studied in high-risk groups, but only fleetingly thus far in the general population. An exception is a Japanese study of more than 2,300 people; 15% of the local population over the age of 40 years.<sup>103</sup> How this sample group was recruited is not explained, however. In case of a positive dipstick (a trace or more), the analytical sensitivity and analytical specificity to detect macroalbuminuria was 80% and 93% respectively. For the detection of microalbuminuria *and* macroalbuminuria the sensitivity fell to 15%, while the specificity remained the same.<sup>103</sup>

There is no research on the use of dipsticks as do-it-yourself tests. This is quite remarkable, because there are indications that the test performances depend on the user. In one study, more than 1,000 urine samples of diabetes patients, with albumin concentrations between 20 and 200 mg/l, were examined in different settings. Micral test strips used by laboratory technicians had a sensitivity of 91% for demonstrating heightened albumin levels (> 30 mg), while in doctor's surgeries the sensitivity was 66%.<sup>12</sup> Since the sensitivity in these doctors' surgeries ranged from 58-81%,<sup>4</sup> it is unlikely that inexperienced users will achieve much above 58%. A 'pee by post' may be a better alternative. After all, a quantitative measurement of the albumin concentration in a laboratory will be more reliable than a semiquantitative test strip at home, will yield fewer false-positive results and will therefore be cheaper in the end.<sup>95</sup> What is more, the experiences of sending urine samples through the post are good.

Another question concerns the natural course of microalbuminuria and chronic kidney disease. Population based studies have shown that the risk of

Evaluation of do-it-yourself tests

ESRD is smaller than thought. In the Norwegian HUNT II-study, 5% of the participants above the age of 20 years suffered from impaired kidney function (GFR < 60 ml per minute per 1.73 m<sup>2</sup>). In a median observation period of eight years, 1.2% of the patients with impaired kidney function developed ESRD. The progression probability was low in particular in cases of impaired kidney function without the presence of diabetes or hypertension.<sup>104</sup> Furthermore, there is not enough evidence yet that people with microalbuminuria but without diabetes or hypertension should actually be treated.

Finally, it should be borne in mind that in the case of microalbuminuria the patient is significantly more likely to die of cardiovascular diseases than of ESRD. Screening for microalbuminuria could therefore also be advantageous from the perspective of preventing cardiovascular diseases. An indication in this direction was given recently by a therapy trial among members of the general population with microalbuminuria but without diabetes or hypertension.<sup>105,106</sup> The outcome was not statistically significant, however. The cost-effectiveness of screening came out well in one study, but this was based on assumptions about effectiveness.<sup>105,106</sup> Recommendations on screening for microalbuminuria are still premature, also from the perspective of preventing cardiovascular diseases.

## 4.4.4 Verdict on do-it-yourself tests for albuminuria

The Committee concludes that there is much uncertainty surrounding the diagnostic value and efficiency of test strips. The efficacy of macroalbuminuria or microalbuminuria screening in the general population for the early detection and treatment of hidden kidney damage has not been demonstrated. Nor is it certain whether the use of test strips for macroalbuminuria or microalbuminuria is of added value for the prevention of cardiovascular diseases. For that reason the guidelines do not recommend such a test to assess the risk for people without diabetes or hypertension.<sup>107</sup>

# 4.5 Do-it-yourself tests for prostate cancer

Twenty years ago a blood test for prostate-specific antigen (PSA) was introduced to detect prostate cancer. Do-it-yourself variants of the PSA test have become available recently.

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

#### 4.5.1 Prostate cancer

Prostate cancer is the most common form of cancer among men in the Netherlands, accounting for 21% of new cancer cases. Some 7,900 men were diagnosed with prostate cancer in 2003 (www.ikc.nl). Every year around 2,400 men die of this disease (www.cbs.nl). The costs of prostate cancer to the Dutch health service were estimated at EUR 92 million in 2003.<sup>34</sup> The natural course of prostate cancer is fitful and unpredictable. Many men grow old with it and die of something else. Others die shortly after the disease has been diagnosed. The five-year survival rate averages around 80% (www.ikcnet.nl).

PSA is a protein which is excreted by prostate cells into the blood. A heightened PSA concentration may point to prostate cancer. PSA is accepted worldwide as a tumour marker. But among older men a heightened PSA level is often symptomatic of something else, such as a benign enlargement of the prostate.

#### 4.5.2 Clinical utility of screening

## Screening of the general population

Can screening reduce the mortality rate of prostate cancer and the disease burden? A search of the literature revealed two completed trials, conducted in Quebec (Canada) and Nörrköping (Sweden), with a total of more than 55,500 participants.<sup>108</sup> A meta-analysis of the results showed that screening had no effect on prostate cancer mortality.<sup>108</sup> But because there were serious criticisms of the quality of the trials, this may not be the last word. A definite answer is expected from two randomised trials which are still ongoing. The Prostate, Lung, Colorectal and Ovary cancer screening (PLCO) trial conducted by the National Cancer Institute (NCI) in the United States comprises 74,000 men aged between 60 and 75 years, half of whom are offered annual screenings with the PSA test and a digital rectal examination and half of whom receive only the usual healthcare. The findings of the first screening round were published at the beginning of 2005.109 This showed that 8% of the screened men had PSA levels of 4 ng/ml or higher, and that 7.5% had suspicious findings for prostate cancer detected with the digital rectal examination. Some 1.4% of the screened men were diagnosed with prostate cancer, usually at an early stage (83% clinically localized). It was still too early to observe an effect on mortality rates.

Also started in 1994, the European Randomised Study of Screening for Prostate Cancer (ERSPC) is being conducted in eight European countries and is coor-

Evaluation of do-it-yourself tests

dinated from Rotterdam.<sup>110,111</sup> The ERSPC comprises nearly 200,000 men, mostly in the 55-70 age group. The men in the experimental group are offered a PSA test every four years. If their PSA levels are 3 ng/ml or higher, they are given a referral advice. Two or three screening rounds have been completed in most centres. The researchers believe that the ERSPC is large enough to demonstrate that screening has a potential favourable effect of at least 25% on prostate cancer mortality rates.<sup>111</sup> In addition to the effect of screening on mortality, the trial examines the implications for quality of life in order to estimate the cost-effectiveness of screening.<sup>112,113</sup> The outcomes of the trial are expected in 2010 or 2011.

In short, then, it is not yet known whether screening helps, whether it is efficient and whether it has a favourable risk-benefit ratio. The disadvantageous effects, however, are known. Firstly, there is a significant risk of false-positive results. Nearly 20% of the ERSPC participants in the Netherlands have heightened PSA levels, but for only one in four of these (4.7% of all participants) the decisive test (prostate biopsy) revealed the presence of prostate cancer. This means that the PSA test had false-positive results for 15% of the participants.<sup>114</sup> In other words, screening leads to many unnecessary follow-up examinations.

A second disadvantage of cancer screening in general, and of screening for prostate cancer in particular, is overdiagnosis. The number of prostate cancer patients rises sharply in countries where screening is undertaken. In the Netherlands the number of new cases per year has surged by nearly 50% over the past 15 years (after adjustment for population ageing and growth). Localised prostate cancer in particular is diagnosed ever more frequently.<sup>23</sup> Screening advances the diagnosis 'prostate cancer'.<sup>115</sup> The length of this so-called 'lead time' depends on age, and is just over 12 years for a man aged 55 who has taken part in a single screening makes sense, then the American practice of screening annually is not efficient. The ERSPC study has shown that it is not necessary to screen more than once every four years.<sup>115,116</sup> Men with low PSA levels (< 1 ng/ml) should not have to be screened for another eight years. If screening brings forward the diagnosis but does not extend life, then the only effect is that the patient will have to live longer with the awareness that he has the disease.

Screening may have an adverse effect on the quality of life. Temporarily, because of an unfavourable result of screening and because of unintended effects of the diagnostic process. Prostate biopsy may lead to blood loss in urine or sperm or to fever, but rarely to serious complications. Because of the risk of septicaemia, the patient is given a course of antibiotics. Primary treatment for prostate cancer (operation, radiation) lead to incontinence, impotence or bowel dysfunction in a substantial number of patients.<sup>112,117</sup> The possibility of overtreat-

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

ment cannot be ignored, and rises with repeated screening. In the first and second screening rounds of the ERSPC-Rotterdam, it emerged that 32% and 43% respectively of the detected cancers were dormant (indolent or minimal cancer).<sup>118</sup> These will almost certainly cause no problems for 10 years. This means that there is no need for an operation or radiation treatment, and that watchful waiting will suffice. Research is ongoing on how unnecessary treatment can be prevented by distinguishing more effectively between aggressive and non-aggressive cancers. To this end a prognostic nomogram has been developed which incorporates the PSA level, the prostate volume and the total length of cancer and no-cancer tissue in biopsy cores.<sup>119,120</sup>

In the meantime, unorganised screening for prostate cancer is booming. In the United States, for instance, 75% of men over 50 years of age have taken tests, and 54% do so regularly.<sup>121</sup> A similar proliferation becomes evident in the Netherlands.<sup>122</sup> One in five men over the age of 40 has taken one or more tests in the past five years, and for men over 70 this figure is nearly 40%, according to a questionnaire study in 2005. This showed an increase in testing in all age groups compared to 2001 (www.cbs.nl). PSA tests and variants on them are easily available. In some towns and cities, men's clinics and even sport fitness centres and occupational health and safety departments are offering PSA screening under the auspices of 'preventive medical examination' (PMO). Screening for prostate cancer requires a licence under the WBO.

#### Screening with do-it-yourself tests

Recently do-it-yourself tests have also become available on the Internet, from pharmacies and in chemist chains, at prices between EUR 6.50 and EUR 20. These are semiquantitative tests for PSA in finger-prick blood. The result can be read from a test line by comparing the colour reaction with a reference line. A control line indicates whether the quantity of blood used was sufficient to ensure a proper colour reaction.

Good information on the reliability and diagnostic value of the do-it-yourself tests is either absent or unverifiable. According to the supplier of the MiraTes Prostaat (PSA) ZelfTest, the 'agreement' between this do-it-yourself-test and a reference test is more than 98% (www.mirates.nl). But this figure says very little about the test's diagnostic value. This is because any test for a disease which is relatively uncommon will have a high percentage of true-negative results and will thus seem very 'reliable'. Moreover, the supplier does not state which reference test was used. There is no information on the risk of false-positive and

Evaluation of do-it-yourself tests

false-negative results with the do-it-yourself test. The Committee has not been able to find research results on this aspect in any specialist publications.

The information on the website seems balanced at first glance (www.mirates.nl). The website lists advantages and disadvantages of taking the test. It also warns that it is not proven that early detection of prostate cancer actually reduces the mortality rate of this disease. Even so, the Committee does not consider the information to be balanced. On the one hand, the disease is made out to be more serious than it is. The suggestion that prostate cancer is only rarely diagnosed at a curable stage does not square with an actual five-year survival rate of more than 80% (www.ikcnet.nl). And on the other hand, the benefit of early detection is exaggerated. Consumers who read '98% reliable' do not expect that around 80% of the positive results will prove to be false-positives, and that this figure will probably be even higher outside the setting of a scientific study.114 Moreover, the website recommends screening from the age of 45 or 50 upwards, but does not explain what the benefit might be. Only 1% of deaths from prostate cancer in the Netherlands occur before the patient reaches his 55th year. The recommendation on the website to repeat the test annually is disingenuous, given the lead time of around 12 years.<sup>115</sup> Nor is it helpful to recommend screening in the case of urination problems. These symptoms are no reason to screen for prostate cancer. One in four men of this age has urination problems. The probability of having prostate cancer is the same for men with urination problems and those without.123

The Cobeco Bodytest PSA test kit is available for less than EUR 16 at www.kwaliteitsapotheek.nl. The information provided on the website is minimal. It is claimed that testing makes the chances of successful treatment 'many times greater'. The word 'cancer' is not mentioned. The Kruidvat chain sells a do-it-yourself test over the counter for EUR 6.50.

#### 4.5.3 Verdict on do-it-yourself tests for prostate cancer

The Committee was unable to ascertain the diagnostic value of the MiraTes Prostaat PSA ZelfTest, the Cobeco Bodytest PSA test or the Kruidvat test. Whether these products have a CE marking is not mentioned. If they test for a tumour marker, they fall under the sales channel regulation. For CE assessment purposes, tests for the tumour marker PSA are categorised as medium-risk.

The Committee feels that the information provided by suppliers on their websites does not meet the requirement of balance and adequacy. Because of the lack of information on the risk of false-positive and false-negative outcomes, the test results cannot be interpreted. The sales channel regulation cannot change any-

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

thing in this respect, as long as there are no results from studies with inexperienced users. The Committee takes the view that the sale of do-it-yourself tests for prostate cancer is at odds with the general 'essential requirements' of the IVD Decree, because the clinical utility of early detection of prostate cancer is not proven, so that the risk-benefit ratio and efficiency are not known either, while the diagnostic value of do-it-yourself tests cannot be ascertained.

# 4.6 Do-it-yourself tests for bowel cancer

For decades now there have been faecal occult blood tests (FOBTs) for bowel cancer screening. Do-it-yourself variants of these tests have become available recently.

# 4.6.1 Bowel cancer

Colorectal cancer (bowel cancer) was diagnosed in 10,000 people in the Netherlands in 2003 (www.ikc.nl). Some 4,700 people died of bowel cancer in 2006 (www.cbs.nl). The five-year survival rate is 50-60% (www.ikc.nl). The costs to the Dutch health service of bowel cancer were estimated at EUR 232 million in 2003.<sup>34</sup>

# 4.6.2 Clinical utility of screening

# Screening of the general population

Four randomised controlled clinical trials carried out abroad has shown that bowel cancer mortality rates can be reduced by 15-20% by FOBT screening. These trials involved screening on a two-year basis, an offer which was taken up by half of the intervention group. On the basis of the screening trials in the United Kingdom and Denmark, the costs of biennial population screening were calculated at GBP 1,600 per life-year gained.<sup>124,125</sup>

Other screening methods, such as immunochemical FOBT variants, are more sensitive for bowel cancer and polyps. However, immunochemical tests may have a larger number of false-positive outcomes than the standard test. The feasibility studies being conducted since 2006 in the regions of Maastricht, Nijmegen, Amsterdam and Groot-Rijnmond (Greater Rotterdam) are intended to give a better indication by 2008 of (i) the feasibility of a national population screening programme for bowel cancer and (ii) the advantages and disadvantages and the

Evaluation of do-it-yourself tests

optimum limit value of OC-Sensor, an immunochemical test, compared to the standard test.

The FOBT screenings in these experimental screening trials and feasibility studies are home-collecting tests. The faecal samples are collected by the participants themselves, but the test is read in a laboratory.

#### Screening with do-it-yourself tests

Immunochemical FOBTs have recently become available in the Netherlands as do-it-yourself tests, at a price of EUR 11. This means that the test can be read at home. What is the diagnostic value of these do-it-yourself tests?

There is a do-it-yourself test variant of ImmoCare-C, a semiquantitative test introduced in 1996 and affixed CE marking in 2004. But as yet very few experiences have been reported with ImmoCare-C. They only concern groups of patients referred for colonoscopies. The test is used in a screening project in the Austrian state of Burgenland. At the moment only a few preliminary results have been reported in a poster presentation at a conference. The Committee was not able to find any publications on the do-it-yourself test variant. It is not clear whether this do-it-yourself test has the CE marking. The manufacturer of a second do-it-yourself test, the CE-certified MiraTes Darm (FOB) ZelfTest (price EUR 11), claims a 'reliability' rate of 99% in terms of demonstrating the presence of blood in the faeces (www.mirates.nl). But it is not clear here what is meant by 'reliability'. Does it refer to the reproducibility of the do-it-yourself test? And as applied by inexperienced users? The Committee suspects that the claim is more about the 'agreement' with another immunochemical FOBT (which one?) as a reference test. In any event, the reported 99% says nothing about the diagnostic validity of the test.

A second problem, according to the Committee, is that the precise purpose of these do-it-yourself tests is not clear. There is no section on the website dealing with the test's aim (www.mirates.nl). Consumers cannot ascertain whether the objective is to detect 1) 'blood in the faeces', 2) 'any bowel conditions' (those specifically mentioned are inflammations of the colon, Crohn's disease, intestinal polyps and bowel cancer), or only 3) intestinal polyps and bowel cancer. The test objective should be clear; any doubts on this score will lead to confusion. Feasibility studies for the planned national population screening programme for bowel cancer are being conducted in Maastricht, Nijmegen, Amsterdam and Groot-Rijnmond (with FOBT screening aimed at the third objective). Another source of confusion is that the test characteristics are linked to the test's objective. On the assumption that the test's objective is to detect blood (the first objective)

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

tive), then a positive test result would be a true-positive if there is indeed blood in the faeces, regardless of the cause (bleeding gums, haemorrhoids etc). In terms of the third objective, however, a positive test result would only be a true-positive if further examination (with a colonoscopy) reveals an advanced adenoma or bowel cancer.

A third problem is that the information about the MiraTes Darm (FOB) ZelfTest is incomplete. The most important information, on the test's accuracy compared to the 'gold standard' (colonoscopy) in detecting polyps and/or bowel cancer, is absent. A test with a perfect reliability, in the usual sense of reproducibility, is worthless if the diagnostic sensitivity and diagnostic specificity are low. How high these are and the positive predictive value for someone without symptoms are not mentioned, nor can these be verified in any other way. The information does not make clear precisely what test is being used and at what limit value the test result is positive. Because the different immunochemical FOBTs vary widely in their test performances, the screening outcome cannot be interpreted. Moreover, the Committee is not aware of any research into the diagnostic value of FOBTs when used as do-it-yourself tests.

FOBT do-it-yourself tests are categorised as low risk for CE assessment purposes. They do not fall under sales channel regulation. It is true that these are tests for cancer, specifically bowel cancer, but blood or haemoglobin are not tumour markers. The Committee concludes that the assessment procedure for these do-it-yourself tests is significantly less strict, and left largely to the manufacturer rather than the WBO regime which applies to the same test used as a home-collecting test.

## 4.6.3 Verdict on do-it-yourself tests for bowel cancer

The Committee concludes that the clinical utility of FOBT screening has been demonstrated in four trials. But it could not ascertain how well the FOBTs perform as do-it-yourself tests in inexperienced hands. Because of the lack of information on the risk of false-positive and false-negative outcomes, users cannot assess the benefit of such a test and the test results cannot be interpreted. The Committee therefore takes the view that the sale of FOBT do-it-yourself tests (that is, tests other than the home-collecting tests used in the planned national screening programme for bowel cancer) is at odds with the general 'essential requirements' of the IVD Decree/Directive.

Evaluation of do-it-yourself tests

# 4.7 Do-it-yourself tests for coeliac disease (gluten intolerance)

To detect gluten intolerance, a number of do-it-yourself tests for antibodies against coeliac disease are available.

#### 4.7.1 Coeliac disease

Coeliac disease or gluten-sensitive sprue is a chronic digestive disorder. The cause is an intolerance of gluten proteins found in wheat, rye, barley and possibly oats. Coeliac disease is an autoimmune disease with a significant genetic component.<sup>126</sup> A Dutch population-based study among people aged between 20 and 60 years showed a diagnosis of 'coeliac disease' (gluten intolerance) in 0.016%.<sup>127</sup> This amounts to slightly more than 2,500 patients nationwide. Much more common, however, in 0.35% of participants, was undiagnosed coeliac disease.<sup>127</sup> This amounts to around 55,000 patients. A corresponding 'iceberg phenomenon' is also evident in other countries.

Serological diagnosis of coeliac disease became possible with a blood test for IgA antiendomysium antibodies (EmA). Somewhat better test characteristics than EmA may be achieved with measurements of IgA antitissue transglutaminase antibodies (tTG), which have a sensitivity of around 94% and a specificity of 99%.<sup>128,129</sup> However, the test sensitivity declines significantly with lesser degrees of villous atrophy.<sup>130,131</sup> If the result of the EmA or the tTG test is positive, the recommendation is to take biopts of the small intestine in order to conduct a tissue analysis to determine the existence of coeliac disease.

# 4.7.2 Clinical utility of screening

Screening of the general population

Given the iceberg phenomenon, it seems likely that screening for coeliac disease makes sense. After all, if people with undetected coeliac disease have the same disease burden as those who have been diagnosed with it, then screening should offer significant added value. This is not confirmed by research, however.<sup>132,133</sup> Hence it is doubtful whether screening offers any health gains. Moreover, following a gluten-free diet is a serious burden. This means that there are insufficient arguments for considering screening for coeliac disease.<sup>134</sup>
#### Screening with do-it-yourself tests

Do-it-yourself tests for coeliac disease are available on the Internet for around EUR 20. They include the CoeliaTest (www.glutentest.nl) and the Gluten Allergie Test. These are immunochromatographic tests for IgA antitissue transglutaminase antibodies (tTG) in finger-prick blood, which can be read in five minutes. Good test performances have been recorded in their use as point-of-care tests among small groups of patients with symptoms who were referred for biopsies from the small intestine.<sup>135,136</sup> However, the Committee is not aware of any publications on the diagnostic value of these tests as do-it-yourself tests in the general population.

The information on the supplier's website is quite extensive. It claims that the test is suitable for diagnosis and family screening. The test also has CE marking. Coeliac disease is described as a hereditary disease, although no indication is given of the significance of the genetic factor. There is no information on the lack of research into the effectiveness of screening for coeliac disease and into the test performances of do-it-yourself tests in the general population.

#### 4.7.3 Verdict on do-it-yourself tests for coeliac disease

The Committee concludes that do-it-yourself tests for coeliac disease are categorised as low-risk for CE assessment purposes, and that they do not fall under the (Dutch) sales channel regulation. It also concludes that the clinical utility of screening for coeliac disease has not been demonstrated. The Committee does not know of the test characteristics of the application by inexperienced users. It takes the view that the sale of do-it-yourself tests for coeliac disease is at odds with the general 'essential requirements' of the IVD Decree.

73

Evaluation of do-it-yourself tests

#### Chapter

5

# Evaluation of tests for a tumour marker

In this chapter the Committee discusses the tests for tumour markers, in view of their special prominence in the IVD Decree/Directive. In the previous chapter we looked at a do-it-yourself test for a tumour marker (PSA) and will now examine other types of self-tests.

#### 5.1 Background information about biomarkers

Biomarkers are characteristic aberrations fixed in DNA, RNA and proteins, which are useful when determining the risk of disease, the nature of the disease, the choice of therapy and the response to it, following the course of the disease and ascertaining the genetic basis. This involves germline-specific or tumour-specific features such as reproduction, loss or translocations of chromosomes or chromosome regions, mutations, polymorphisms or modifications of genes, and expression levels of individual genes or groups of genes as measured by their RNA or protein. Biomarkers can also be functional proteins found in an unusual concentration in body fluids such as plasma, spinal fluid or urine.<sup>23</sup>

Tests for biomarkers for cancer (tumour markers) can serve different purposes.<sup>23</sup> With respect to prevention, they can indicate the risk of developing cancer, or the risk of having it. The former involves mutations and variations in the DNA. If a hereditary form of *e.g.* breast cancer or colon cancer is suspected, a test can be done to determine whether someone is a carrier of that type of mutation, and preventive measures can be considered. Another application is HPV screening for cer-

Evaluation of tests for a tumour marker

vical cancer. Tumour markers from the second category are generally proteins. The best-known example is the prostate-specific antigen (PSA).

With respect to diagnostics and treatment, tumour markers can provide information about the nature and severity of a certain type of cancer, or about the course of the disease and the success of the treatment (monitoring). For example, a successful treatment of patients with colorectal cancer or prostate cancer leads to a decrease in the quantity of carcino-embryonic antigen (CEA) or PSA, respectively. The diagnostic value and efficiency of a biomarker test depend on the objective for its use.

Given the explosion of knowledge about biomarkers, a huge increase in the number of commercially available tests is expected in the near future.<sup>23</sup> This could be a beneficial development for patients who want to monitor their disease themselves. If measuring the biomarker rapidly confirms whether a certain treatment is succeeding or not, the patient is spared unnecessary treatment.<sup>23</sup>

Tumour markers occupy a specific place in the legislation. The tumour marker PSA is included on the B-list of Annex II of the IVD Directive. This means that do-it-yourself tests for PSA for CE assessment belong in the 'medium-risk' category. The sales channel regulation does not apply to the provision of 'services'.

#### 5.2 Test for a biomarker for cancer

#### 5.2.1 Cancer

In 2006 there were 40,563 deaths in the Netherlands ascribed to the diagnosis group 'neoplasms' (cancer, www.cbs.nl), 30% of the total. In 2003 around 73,000 new cases of cancer were registered, of which 37,500 were men and 35,500 women. Every year the total rises by 1.5 to 2%, primarily due to population growth and ageing of the population. If you correct for these factors, there is no evidence of an increase (www.ikcnet.nl). Deaths from cancer have declined since the 1980s, especially in men. In women the drop has stagnated, primarily due to the rising death rate from lung cancer among women.

In 2003, EUR 2.4 billion, or 4.1% of the total health care costs in the Netherlands, were devoted to the diagnosis group 'neoplasms' (www.kostenvanziek-ten.nl). There was an increase in expenditure of nearly 5% a year for this group in the 1994-1999 period, and almost 11% in the 1999-2003 period. The increase in expenditure was greater than average in the health care sector in both periods (4.3% and 9.6%, respectively).<sup>137</sup>

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

#### 5.2.2 Clinical utility of screening with the AMAS test

Twenty-five years ago, an American couple introduced the AMAS (anti-malignin antibody serum) test. With an alleged sensitivity and specificity of 95%, people with cancer could be effectively distinguished from people without cancer.<sup>138</sup> The test was praised on the Internet by Dutch companies in terms of screening, diagnostics and monitoring. It was claimed that for people with complaints or symptoms which could suggest cancer (regardless of the type), no further testing was necessary if the result of the AMAS test remained under 135 microgram per millilitre (www.kanker-aktueel.nl). The test (USD 135) entailed sending a serum sample to the inventors' laboratory in Boston, USA.

In 1991 they reported that trials were being conducted in the UK and elsewhere to assess the value of the AMAS test for the early detection of breast cancer, lung cancer and ovarian cancer.<sup>138</sup> Their outcomes have never been published in scientific journals. Hardly any publications have appeared that scientifically support the other claims. They concern mostly women referred for biopsy due to the suspicion of breast cancer.<sup>139,140</sup> The researchers concluded that the AMAS test is not sensitive enough to spare women from undergoing a biopsy if there are symptoms of breast cancer, and in addition there were too many false-positive outcomes to be useful for screening.<sup>139</sup> The specificity was around 65%.<sup>139,140</sup> This corresponds to 99 of every 100 positive outcomes being false-positive with AMAS screening, given the relatively small risk of breast cancer in women over the age of 50 in the general population (around 5 per 1,000).<sup>141</sup> How sensitive the test is for cancer in the general population has not been explored.

#### 5.2.3 Verdict on the AMAS test

The Committee concludes that the claimed performance of the AMAS test for screening for cancer is unsupported. This street-corner test is categorised as 'low-risk' for CE assessment, so long as the test, or tests for cancer, is not registered on the A- or B-lists of the IVD Directive. The AMAS test is not a do-it-yourself test and does not fall under the sales channel regulation. Whether the AMAS test has CE marking cannot be ascertained from the Internet. Offering this test for screening purposes is forbidden without WBO approval.

Evaluation of tests for a tumour marker



#### 5.3 Tests for biomarkers for cervical cancer

Up to now, screening for cervical cancer has been based on morphological examination of cells (cytology) in a smear from the cervix. Recently, tests for tumour markers have become available: DNA of the high-risk types of the human papilloma virus (hrHPV).

#### 5.3.1 Cervical cancer

Each year, around 600 women are diagnosed with cervical cancer in the Netherlands, and about 200 women die from this disease (www.ikc.nl, www.cbs.nl). In this respect, the Netherlands has a favourable position within Europe.<sup>142</sup> The estimated costs to the Dutch health service due to cervical cancer in 2003 were EUR 52 million.<sup>34</sup> The death rate from cervical cancer has been declining in the Netherlands since 1962.<sup>143</sup> This decline amounts to 60%, at least half of which can be ascribed to screening.<sup>144</sup> Since 1996, women between the ages of 30 and 60 years have been invited to participate in the population screening for cervical cancer every five years.

#### 5.3.2 Clinical utility of cytological screening

Nowhere has the efficacy of screening for cervical cancer been examined with randomised controlled trials. The decision-making is based on observational research (case-control studies, cohort studies, research into the occurrence of cervical cancer after a negative smear result, research into the cytological prior history of women with this disease or who have died of it) and modelling. There is very convincing evidence in support of the effectiveness of screening for cervical cancer.<sup>143,145-152</sup> Death due to cervical cancer is usually (in about 60%) associated with non-participation in screening and much less with a false-negative screening result.<sup>153-157</sup> Conventional (cytological) screening is not successful in detecting a certain type of cervical cancer, adenocarcinoma.<sup>151</sup>

#### 5.3.3 Clinical utility of screening for human papilloma virus

DNA of a high-risk type of the human papilloma virus (hrHPV) is almost always demonstrable in cervical cancer and often also in CIN.<sup>158</sup> HrHPV is considered an essential but not sufficient cause of cervical cancer.<sup>159</sup> Most young people become infected with HPV at some point. Usually, the infection does not lead to cellular

aberrations, and the immune system removes the virus. In 96 to 98% of women over 30, hrHPV is no longer evident.<sup>160,161</sup> Sometimes the virus persists. The associated risk of tissue aberrations (CIN) is great.<sup>162</sup> But even most aberrations disappear spontaneously. It usually takes at least 15 years before an infection transforms into cancer.<sup>159</sup>

#### Screening of the general population

A great deal of research is being done into the efficacy of hrHPV testing for triage or primary screening.<sup>163,164,165</sup> In 1998 a randomised screening trial involving 44,000 women was started in the Neteherlands. The second round of this POBASCAM (Population Based Screening Amsterdam) trial will be concluded shortly.<sup>163</sup> In 2008, the Health Council of the Netherlands will present separate recommendations about the new developments in the screening and about possible inclusion of HPV vaccination in the national vaccination programme.

#### Screening non-responders

One important problem is reaching the target group.<sup>157</sup> In 2003, 66% of the general population participated in the screenings. This means that a total of 77% of the target population (79% in 2006) is reached once every five years (including opportunistic screening).<sup>166</sup> The participation is lower among non-Western immigrant women, women under the age of 40 and women in urban areas or those with a low social-economic status, while some of these groups (such as women born in Surinam or Morocco) actually have an increased risk of cervical cancer.<sup>167,168</sup>

In the national screening programme, women in the target group are invited either by a GGD (Municipal Health Service) or by their own GP. In the latter case, the participation is 8 to 13% higher than when invited by the GGD. This difference can be as high as 20% if the GP sends a reminder to women who have not yet responded to the initial invitation.<sup>169</sup> The effect of an invitation by the person's GP on the level of participation is greater than average in subgroups with a poor response rate, especially non-Western women who also belong to another subgroup.<sup>170</sup>

The government memorandum entitled *Langer gezond leven (Live a longer, healthy life)* aims to increase the participation in the organized screening programme to 75%.<sup>171</sup> Especially high-risk women are difficult to reach. Alternatives to the usual letter of invitation, such as phoning or a publicity campaign, generally have little effect.<sup>172,173</sup> Preparing personal invitations that address the

Evaluation of tests for a tumour marker

motives for not participating (computer tailoring) work no better than the standard approach. Sending material in a reply envelope so that women can conduct their own vaginal smear will not help if the smear has to be analysed in the normal way (cytologically). This form of test allows many aberrations to slip through.

Success is expected from self-sampling if the sample obtained can be tested for hrHPV. The (relative) sensitivity of an hrHPV home test is equivalent to that of an hrHPV test on material collected by a physician, and at least as good as a conventional cervical smear.<sup>174-178</sup> In addition, a home test could be a welcome alternative for a speculum examination.<sup>174,179,180</sup>

In 2006, a trial with the home test was conducted in North-Holland and Flevoland among 44,500 women who had not responded earlier to an invitation to participate in the screening programme.<sup>181</sup> A preliminary study revealed that 34% had used the home test.<sup>176,182</sup> It also emerged that they belonged to the group at risk. Almost three times as much high-grade CIN was found as among regular participants in the screening programme.

#### 5.3.4 Verdict on the HPV home test

If these findings are confirmed in the main study, nationwide implementation of home-collecting testing for non-responders would significantly improve the effectiveness and efficiency of the screening programme. There are various home-collecting tests for hrHPV with CE marking. Offering this screening service requires authorisation, because the test is aimed at cancer. At the start of 2008, the Health Council of the Netherlands will make separate recommendations about the new developments in the screening for cervical cancer and about possible incorporation of HPV vaccination in the national vaccination programme.

#### 5.4 Tests for new biomarkers for prostate cancer

#### 5.4.1 Prostate cancer

Information about prostate cancer can be found in Chapter 4 section 4.5.1.

#### 5.4.2 Clinical utility of screening

If an increased PSA value is found when screening for prostate cancer, prostate biopsies (sextant biopsy) are taken to ascertain whether or not cancer is present. Due to the low specificity of the PSA test, three out of four prostate biopsies, an uncomfortable intervention, are shown in hindsight to have been unnecessary.<sup>114,119</sup> A second

limitation of PSA as a tumour marker is that it cannot be used to distinguish tumours that remain latent from tumours with a biologically aggressive nature.

A great deal of research is being done with other blood tests for proteins to improve this situation.<sup>183</sup> However, the specificity of these tests is not high either. In the past few years markers at the DNA and RNA level have appeared. One promising candidate is marker PCA3, a prostate cancer-specific gene which was discovered by the Nijmegen/American research group.<sup>184,185</sup> PCA3 levels are strongly increased in prostate cancer cells and the gene is overexpressed in more than 95 % of prostate tumours. PCA3 messenger RNA (mRNA) is not or rarely overexpressed in normal prostate tissue and tissue of a benign prostate enlargement.

PCA3 does not code for a protein. It is thus not possible to develop a proteinantibody test for it. A urine test is available for determining the quantity of mRNA copies of PCA3. The PCA3 score is measured in the first urine excreted after a light prostate massage (digital rectal examination). Research in men being considered for a prostate biopsy due to a raised PSA value showed that they perform better on the PCA3 score than the PSA test.<sup>184,186-188</sup> Nothing has yet been written about the value of the PCA3 score as a screening test. In August 2007 the Minister authorised a scientific study into this, linked to the ERSPC.<sup>189</sup>

#### 5.4.3 Verdict on testing for new biomarkers for prostate cancer

The Committee concludes that, aside from the PSA test, no new biomarker test for prostate cancer is available as a home-collecting test. The PCA3 test is still undergoing trials, has CE marking and is available as the Progensa PCA3 test.

#### 5.5 Tests for biomarkers for bladder cancer

5.5.1 Bladder cancer

Information about bladder cancer can be found in 4.3.1.

#### 5.5.2 Clinical utility of screening

A great deal of research is being done concerning genes involved in the development and the course of progress of bladder cancer. The ability to demonstrate markers in urine is important because this method is non-invasive and could be used in the creation of a screening option.<sup>23</sup>

Various tumour markers are found in the urine of bladder cancer patients. The Minister of Health, Welfare and Sport has recently authorised a screening

Evaluation of tests for a tumour marker



trial in the Rotterdam region.<sup>190</sup> A total of 22,500 men aged between 50 and 75 years are being invited to take part in this trial. Participants are required to conduct a dipstick test for 14 days to look for blood in the urine. A positive outcome will lead to tests for tumour markers. If one of these further tests is positive, cystoscopy will be performed (exploratory examination of the bladder) to determine whether bladder cancer is really present. Using the outcome of cystocopy as the golden standard, the properties of the tumour markers will be determined.

#### 5.5.3 Verdict on tests for biomarkers for bladder cancer

The Committee concludes that biomarker tests for bladder cancer are still being developed and not available as a self-test.

#### 5.6 Tests for biomarkers for breast cancer

#### 5.6.1 Breast cancer

Breast cancer is the commonest tumour in women in the Netherlands. One in three new cases of cancer is breast cancer. In 2003 this corresponded to 11,700 women (www.ikcnet.nl). About 3,350 women die from this disease each year (www.cbs.nl). The costs to the Dutch health service for breast cancer in 2003 were estimated at EUR 199 million.<sup>34</sup> Women aged between 50 and 75 years are invited every two years for the screening programme for breast cancer. The cost of this screening programme amounted to EUR 42 million in 2005.

Genetic research is advancing rapidly. In the past few months alone, 22 new breast cancer genes were found.<sup>191,192</sup> Nonetheless, it is not expected that the genetic screening will change greatly as a result in the near future. The five genes published in *Nature* are polymorphisms, each of which slightly increases the risk of developing breast cancer, while little is known about their mutual interactions. The 17 other genes are spontaneous mutations which cannot be inherited. Biomarkers are already being used in clinical genetics (especially BRCA1 and BRCA2), diagnostics (gene expression profiles, in research) and treatment of breast cancer (ESR1, PR, ErbB-2).<sup>23</sup>

During follow-up examinations of women treated for breast cancer, CA 15-3 and sometimes other markers (CEA, CA 125) are used for monitoring tumour growth and the effect of treatment. The efficiency of routine use of these tumour markers is still unclear. It has not been shown that the detection of metastases with a test for CA 15-3 increases the survival rate. Use of the test is thus not recommended.<sup>193,194</sup>

If CA 15-3 is determined in new patients with breast cancer before they undergo surgery, the result is positive in 15 to 30% of cases.<sup>195,196</sup> The sensitivity seems especially low in patients with early-stage breast cancer and only increases once the tumour has grown and metastasised.<sup>196</sup> It is clear that a test which is unsuitable for the diagnosis of breast cancer is equally unsuited for self-diagnosis.

#### 5.6.2 Clinical utility of screening

Some companies offer preventive examination into CA 15-3 as a street-corner test (www.vandervlugthealth.nl, www.medicontrol.nl). Are there any arguments in favour of this? If a test has a sensitivity of 15 to 30 % in women already diagnosed with breast cancer after experiencing symptoms, it follows due to differences in the clinical spectrum of the disease that the sensitivity will be even lower when applied as a screening test in the general population. This means that most patients with breast cancer would be missed, and in particular those with early disease at a more tractable stage. In addition, the test may give a positive result with certain benign diseases (especially hepatic diseases) and in 5% of healthy people.<sup>193</sup> Assuming a specificity of 95% and a sensitivity of 20%, it can be calculated that 98 of the 100 positive results would be false-positive.

#### 5.6.3 Verdict on tests for biomarkers for breast cancer

The Committee feels that offering tests for CA 15-3 for the early detection of breast cancer conflicts with the general 'essential requirements' of the IVD Decree, given its poor diagnostic value and the unproven effectiveness of screening for breast cancer with a test for CA 15-3.

The Committee was unable to ascertain whether street-corner tests for CA 15-3 have a CE marking. These tests are categorised as 'low-risk' for the CE assessment. Although a tumour marker is involved, they are categorised as street-corner tests (and thus a service) so they do not fall under the sales channel regulation. Because the test targets cancer (breast cancer), providing it without authorisation is forbidden by the WBO.

#### 5.7 Tests for biomarkers for bowel cancer

#### 5.7.1 Bowel cancer

Information about bowel cancer can be found in Chapter 4 section 4.6.1.

Evaluation of tests for a tumour marker



#### 5.7.2 Clinical utility of screening

For bowel cancer, biomarkers are used in clinical genetics (MSI, MMR-proteins, APC), diagnostics and the monitoring of the effect of treatment (CEA). Except in connection with trials, no use is made of markers in the treatment of people with bowel cancer.<sup>23</sup>

Considerable scientific research is being done to find reliable biomarkers to develop a screening test.<sup>197</sup> Aside from DNA tests on faeces samples, there are also stool and blood tests searching for proteins (CEA, CA 19- 9, MCSF, TATI). These simple tests are not suitable for screening for bowel cancer. For example, CEA (*carcinoembryonic antigen*) has been known for 35 years.<sup>198</sup> Nonetheless, such tests are offered on the Internet (www.vandervlugthealth.nl) as part of preventive health examinations. The price of individual tests is not listed on the website.

Developments in microarray technology ('biochips'), mass spectroscopy and bioinformatics enable large numbers of proteins to be measured precisely and identified directly at the same time. Their application can define protein profiles in blood or stool samples that are specific for bowel cancer and advanced (high-risk) adenoma. These patterns can be used to identify new candidate genes and explore their utility as a marker. Another possibility is to test the protein profiles for their utility as a marker.<sup>199</sup>

A home-collecting test for bowel cancer can already be bought on the Internet. The PreGen-Plus, available for USD 575, targets 23 markers in stool samples (www.dnadirect.com). It is claimed that the test is a more effective screening method than FOBT screening.

#### 5.7.3 Verdict on tests for biomarkers for bowel cancer

The Committee could not find any support for this claim for the PreGen-Plus. Nor has it found any useful, well studied biomarker tests for bowel cancer screening.<sup>119</sup>

Chapter

6

### **Evaluation of genetic self-tests**

In this chapter we examine genetic tests for susceptibility to specific diseases. Two types of genetic tests are first distinguished and the latest developments are described. Five self-tests are then considered.

#### 6.1 Background information about genetic tests

6.1.1 Types of genetic tests

#### Presymptomatic diagnostics

Genetic tests can be directed at determining the existence of a hereditary condition or genetic predisposition for a certain condition, predicting the course of the disease, or estimating the sensitivity of the disease to medical treatment. The last two objectives will not be dealt with here. Determining the existence of a hereditary condition before any signs develop is called presymptomatic diagnostics. This examination informs members of a high-risk family who have the mutation in question that the chance is great that they will develop the condition later in life. For example, carriers of BRCA mutations have a 45 to 65% risk of developing breast cancer and a 10 to 40% of ovarian cancer.<sup>200</sup> This concerns monogenic, Mendelian-inherited diseases with extensive penetrance. Other examples include Huntington's disease and certain inherited forms of bowel cancer (FAP, HNPCC).

Evaluation of genetic self-tests

Self-tests are not feasible for these diseases and are not necessary in the Netherlands. The essential knowledge about the mutation in the family is only available to family members with the patient's permission and in a clinical-genetics centre or its associated Outpatients' Department for hereditary cancers.

#### Susceptibility tests

Presymptomatic diagnostics can thus assist families at risk to take sensible measures. It provides important information, for relatives as well. In such conditions, the genotype can be synonymous with the diagnosis. However, the case is different with susceptibility tests.<sup>244</sup> Susceptibility tests concentrate on inherited genetic variants that increase susceptibility to common diseases, such as cancer, type-2 diabetes, osteoporosis, cardiovascular diseases and congenital abnormalities such as spina bifida. The development of these multifactorial disorders involves various genetic factors. In addition, environmental factors influence the concerned genetic variations. The thus-far rarely reproducible findings from association studies have such a slight effect on the risk of developing the disease that they are useless for counselling purposes.

#### 6.1.2 Limitations of susceptibility tests

The development of new technologies to rapidly obtain information about a range of characteristics from large groups of people is racing forward. The unravelling of multifactorial disorders, however, is still in its infancy. A first problem is statistical in nature. Increasingly larger studies are needed to rule out false positive results, because certain interactions between commonly occurring gene variants in the common epidemic diseases (that are thus are also common in the control group) are usually involved. The influence of genetic factors is generally overestimated. Quite often, large replication studies reveal that the risk of developing a disease is considerably smaller than was assumed based on the easily available research on a small scale. For example, 85 variants of 70 genes that had previously been reported to be associated with the predisposition for a cardiac infarct or another disease of the coronary arteries were examined in a large validation study. This association could not be confirmed for even one of the gene variants.<sup>201</sup> Of greatest concern is the fact that at least six of these markers are being offered as clinical tests to assess risk of cardiovascular disease.243 An additional difficulty is that an association that has been determined in a certain ethnic group may not be found in another ethnic group. Nearly all gene-disease associations have been found in people of European origin.

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

A second problem with susceptibility tests is the occurrence of pleiotropy: the condition in which a gene has more than one expression. Susceptibility genes are often associated with an increased risk of developing various diseases. However, they can also have opposing effects, increasing the risk for one disorder and decreasing the risk for another. As a result, preventive treatment meant to reduce the risk for disease A may increase the risk for disease B.

A third point is that a positive outcome can be explained as an unavoidable fate. Even in the recent prevention memo from the Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport, *Kiezen voor gezond leven* (Choose a healthy life), genetic predisposition is presented as something you are powerless to change (www.minvws.nl/images/preventienota). Due to the often exaggerated focus on 'heredity' and lack of knowledge about genetics, the risk of developing a disease can easily be overestimated by forgetting the role of untested (and perhaps not yet even understood) genetic factors and the contribution of environmental factors.

Finally, a negative test result can give the person a feeling of having a free rein to keep on with an unhealthy lifestyle, as if directives concerning a healthy diet and recommendations concerning not smoking apply only to people with the wrong genes.

The question of which susceptibility tests can usefully contribute to predictive medicine still requires considerable scientific research. Although major scientific progress has been made, clinical applications are still mostly unclear. The main impact of the new markers will probably be from the insights provided into disease mechanisms.<sup>244</sup> Given the limited knowledge available, susceptibility tests are unlikely to meet the requirement that a test be informative and clinically useful.

#### 6.1.3 Recent applications

In the meantime, genetic screening options continue to grow. One recent example, but not from the self-test field, is the expansion of neonatal screening (the heel prick test of newborn children). Although there will not be many other useful applications for genetic screening in the near future, there is a proliferation of genetic tests in the USA, available for USD 100 to USD 500 per test or more than USD 1,000 for test combinations (www.redorbit.com). Many self-tests are put on the market when only one or two genetic risk factors, which hardly affect the risk of developing the disease, are known. For example, there is a diabetes test on sale for USD 300 (deCODE T2<sup>TM</sup>, www.dnadirect.com) that focuses on only one of the many relevant factors.<sup>202</sup> The thousand-dollar genome has also made its appearance. The Icelandic company Decode Genetics recently announced a test, called deCO-

Evaluation of genetic self-tests

DEme, which examines your entire genome after receipt of a saliva sample and USD 985.

There is little oversight at the federal level, despite warnings from government agencies such as the Food and Drug Administration, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, and the Federal Trade Commission, a consumers' watchdog against unfair commercial practices (www.ftc.gov).<sup>203</sup> The US Government Accountability Office conducted a random sampling of genetic tests marketed on the Internet and concluded that the companies involved were misleading consumers and could not substantiate their claims.<sup>204</sup> Half of the American states allow direct-to-consumer (DTC) genetic testing. The intervention of a caregiver is required in some states, although this is often not an independent physician but one working for the supplier of the tests.

Since 2005, genetic tests have been marketed via Internet in the Netherlands (www.mijnapotheek.nl, www.veilabs.nl, www.quaok.nl). One company wants to give consumers the possibility to predict their risk of developing a severe disease based on their DNA profile (www.geneticom.nl). This offer is accompanied by rousing advertising texts such as, "Cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, cancer and other dreaded diseases develop in one person and not in another. ... But the predisposition for many known and dreaded diseases has been determined by DNA research. ... Lifestyle, eating fat, smoking are involved, but the 'susceptibility' to the development of diseases lies in our genes. ... It is difficult to imagine a more effective basis for prevention. ... Now you can take control of your right to early prevention".

Elsewhere you can pay EUR 335 to have a cheek swab sample, obtained with a cotton bud, examined and receive recommendations on the results (www.mij-napotheek.nl). The assortment includes home-collecting tests for genetic predisposition to coeliac disease (gluten intolerance), lactose intolerance, thrombosis and osteoporosis (bone demineralisation). In the near future, it is said there will be tests for the predisposition to high blood pressure, Crohn's disease (regional enteritis) and dyslexia.

For people over 40 years old who are not sleeping well or seem less interested in sex, there is an 'effective' anti-aging medication containing dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), if you are willing to provide a blood sample for a DNA test. This 'extremely complex' research takes place in a specialised laboratory in Vienna (Genosense Diagnostics, TUV-certified, ISO 9001-2000 certificate, CE marking not known) and takes three months (www.quaok.nl). The result of the test is a lifestyle recommendation.

For nutritional advice, consumers can order a test kit for about EUR 200 that they can use to carry out a cheek swab at home (www.mycellf.com). The com-

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

pany claims to be able to give a 'personal' recommendation for a healthy diet based on any aberrations in 19 genes.

By examining previous meta-analyses and HuGe reviews, Janssens *et al.* assessed the scientific evidence for the usefulness of commercially available genomic profiles. They identified seven companies that offer predictive genomic profiling. The seven companies tested at least 69 different polymorphisms in 56 genes. Of the 56 genes tested, 24 (43%) were not reviewed in meta-analyses. For the remaining 32 genes, they found 260 meta-analyses that examined 160 unique polymorphism-disease associations, of which only 60 (38%) were found to be statistically significant. Even the 60 significant associations were generally modest. Furthermore, genes in cardiogenomic profiles were more frequently associated with noncardivascular diseases than with cardivascular diseases, and though two of the five genes of the osteogenomic profiles did show significant associations with diseases, the associations were not with bone diseases. Their conclusion was that there is unsufficient scientific evidence to conclude that genomic profiles are useful in measuring risk for common diseases or in developing personilized diet and lifestyle recommendations for disease prevention.<sup>242</sup>

Providing genetic tests counts as screening within the meaning of the WBO, but is not subject to authorisation under current legislation. They are, for the CE evaluation, 'low-risk' tests (Table 1). Because is it a home-collecting test, a genetic self-test does not fall under the sales channel regulation of the IVD Decree, as this Decree covers only products.

#### 6.2 Tests for genetic predisposition to coeliac disease

6.2.1 Coeliac disease

Information about coeliac disease can be found in Chapter 4 section 4.7.1.

#### 6.2.2 Clinical utility of screening

Do-it-yourself tests for coeliac disease were discussed in 4.7. There is now a home-collecting test of the genetic predisposition to coeliac disease (www.mij-napotheek.nl).<sup>1</sup> This does not even involve blood sampling. For EUR 335 you are sent coded test material, and you can have a cheek swab sample examined in a laboratory in Germany. The supplier receives the coded test results from the laboratory after one or two weeks and forwards this to a (Dutch) physician, who contacts the client to discuss the result. A contract is entered into for the testing.

Evaluation of genetic self-tests

People with the HLA-DQ2 or -DQ8 gene should have 'a high risk' of developing coeliac disease. According to research in European countries such as Norway, Italy and Spain, a large proportion (around 30 %) of the general population has one of the genes but only a fraction develops coeliac disease.<sup>205-208</sup> It is estimated there are 55,000 people with coeliac disease in the Netherlands, this includes undiagnosed cases.<sup>127</sup> This means that 99 out of 100 people with the genetic predisposition do not develop the disease. The question is, what should people do with a positive, uninformative result?

Is a negative test result of value for excluding the presence of the disease? That may be possible in certain cases of doubt. <sup>209,210</sup> However, hard facts about the predictive value are lacking. The research into disease genes is still going on. English and Dutch researchers recently identified a new region of genes on chromosome 4 that could cause coeliac disease.<sup>211</sup>

#### 6.2.3 Verdict on tests for genetic predisposition to coeliac disease

The Committee concludes that a self-test of genetic predisposition is premature.<sup>1</sup> Research has not yet revealed whether the test could be valuable for certain groups at risk, as the supplier claims. The test does not have CE marking. The test is a population screening within the meaning of the WBO, but it does not require authorisation.

#### 6.3 Tests for genetic predisposition to lactose intolerance

#### 6.3.1 Lactose intolerance

Lactose is a milk sugar that is digested in the small intestine. The enzyme lactase splits lactose into glucose and galactose. If too little lactase is produced, lactose arrives in the large intestine, where it is broken down by bacteria. This process produces gasses (carbon dioxide, hydrogen and methane) that can lead to the development of symptoms such as flatulence, cramp, pain, diarrhoea.

Newborn children have a high lactase activity and can absorb large quantities of lactose. The ability to produce lactase decreases in most children around the world as they grow older. This is then considered a lactase deficiency (adult-onset hypolactasia, lactase nonpersistence), unfortunate terms for a normal process. People with lactase deficiency can suffer from lactose intolerance when consuming excessive amounts of milk or other dairy products. Some people retain the ability to continue producing lactase. Especially in northwest Europe, this is the normal

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

state.<sup>212-214</sup> It is ascribed to an autosomal-dominantly transmitted mutation that prevents the normal age-related reduction in lactase activity.

#### 6.3.2 Screening for lactose intolerance

A home-collecting test of the genetic predisposition to lactose intolerance recently became available (www.mijnapotheek.nl).<sup>1</sup> For EUR 335 you receive a coded test kit and have a cheek swab sample you collect yourself examined in a laboratory in Germany. The recent identification of two polymorphisms ( $C/T_{13910}$  and  $G/A_{22018}$ ) associated with the persistence of lactase or its decline has enabled the development of these tests. People with the CC or GG genotype have a genetic predisposition to lactose intolerance, and people with another genotype do not.<sup>213</sup>

The test features are excellent according to studies using the lactase activity in small-intestine biopsies and the sucrase:lactase activity ratio as golden standards.<sup>213,215,216</sup> This research was, however, limited to small numbers of patients with abdominal symptoms who had been referred for further diagnosis. This does not give a definitive answer about the test's performance in the general population and provides no more information about the risk run by people with a genetic predisposition to lactose intolerance who suffer symptoms as a result. Epidemio-logical research on a large scale with people from different backgrounds is needed to determine its utility as a screening test or self-test.

In northwest Europe, 6 to 20 % lactase deficiency is found.<sup>66,212,214</sup> At least equally large is the percentage of people with vague abdominal symptoms.<sup>217,218</sup> Does it make sense to use a test for genetic predisposition to lactose intolerance? What should the tested person do with the result? The signs of lactose intolerance are aspecific and occur even if there is no lactose intolerance. Various studies have shown that the suspected diagnosis of 'lactose intolerance' must be rejected for more than half of the patients.<sup>212,219,220</sup> This will occur more often with home diagnosis. On the other hand, many people with lactase deficiency are not affected by the moderate consumption of dairy products or can develop some tolerance.<sup>219,221,223</sup>

A potential benefit of a test of genetic predisposition is that a negative test result excludes a genetic predisposition to lactose intolerance as the cause of aspecific symptoms. The utility of this depends on the need for such a test (low), the costs of the test (high) and the properties of the test (unknown). The need is limited because the diagnosis is easily made, and there are already sensitive diagnostic tests available that are rarely used in practice.<sup>224</sup> A disadvantage could be that a negative test result may lead to the symptoms not being taken seriously and no physician being consulted, even though the symptoms could be concealing a

Evaluation of genetic self-tests

treatable disorder, such as coeliac disease or Crohn's disease. In addition, aside from people with a CC or GG genotype, heterozygotes (CT/GA) could also have severe lactose intolerance. The disorder also occurs in TT/AA families.<sup>225</sup>This shows that other hereditary factors are involved along with the two known polymorphisms.

What should be done if the test gives a positive result for aspecific symptoms? Can we then conclusively assume that the symptoms are actually due to the genetic predisposition? As both aspecific abdominal signs and a genetic predisposition to lactose intolerance occur relatively often, the symptoms can easily be incorrectly ascribed to genetic predisposition. This could lead to another, severer disorder that is causing the symptoms being overlooked or diagnosed late. A second disadvantage is that milk and other dairy products have to be avoided, leading to a shortage of calcium and to osteoporosis.<sup>226</sup> This disadvantage can also occur when an asymptomatic person is tested and appears to have a predisposition to lactose intolerance.

#### 6.3.3 Verdict on tests for genetic predisposition to lactose intolerance

The Committee concludes that a DNA test for lactose intolerance could be of benefit for clinics. It is not yet known whether the test is also suitable as a selftest. Little is known about the test's performance and about the penetrance of a predisposition to lactose intolerance in the general population. No research has been done into the clinical utility and efficiency of the active detection of people with a genetic predisposition to lactose intolerance. The test marketed on the Internet does not have a CE marking.

#### 6.4 Tests for hereditary predisposition to thrombosis

#### 6.4.1 Thrombosis

Information about thrombosis can be found in Chapter 4 section 4.2.1.

#### 6.4.2 Clinical utility of screening

Factor V is a protein involved in the activation of blood clotting. Factor V Leiden (FVL) is produced by a mutation in the factor V gene. FVL is the most commonly occurring genetic risk factor for venous thrombosis. About 5 % of the Western population is a carrier of this autosomally transmitted mutation, while 1 in 5,000 people is homozygous for FVL (this is less than expected due to foetal mortality). It

is mostly homozygous carriers who have a considerably increased risk of developing thrombosis and, when pregnant, of spontaneous miscarriage or growth retardation of the unborn child.<sup>227</sup> Heterozygotes have a 5- to 8-fold greater risk of venous thrombosis. FVL is involved in 20 to 50 % of cases of thrombosis.<sup>228</sup>

There is a home-collecting test available, the Trombo Check genetic test (EUR 335). This focuses on FVL and other thrombophilic aberrations, such as the prothrombin G202 10A mutation (www.mijnapotheek.nl). Carriers of the latter mutation run a threefold elevation in the risk of thrombosis.<sup>229</sup> Does the use of the self-test make sense?Screening of the general population is not being considered. The chance of developing thrombosis is relatively increased for a heterozygote, but the risk remains small in absolute terms.<sup>228</sup> Nine of ten carriers never suffer thrombosis.

Does it make sense, therefore, to test groups at risk, for example because of a family history or because someone has to undergo an operation? No, it makes no sense even here. The risk of developing thrombosis does not depend solely on genetic factors. There are also triggering factors to consider, such as an operation or pregnancy. A pregnancy proceeds normally in most women.<sup>230</sup> In addition, even if there are triggering factors such as operations, the policy would not change if thrombophilia becomes evident. Testing is superfluous.

Does it make sense to test women who want to take the contraceptive pill? If they are found to have a predisposition to thrombosis, they could reduce the risk of developing thrombosis by not taking the pill. Thrombosis occurs very rarely, however, in young women. Many women would have to be tested, and many women would have to refrain from taking the pill to prevent just one death from pulmonary embolism.<sup>231</sup> In addition, the chance of pregnancy increases, which in itself increases the risk of thrombosis and embolism.<sup>227</sup>

Is a self-test useful for patients who have suffered deep venous thrombosis or pulmonary embolism? Carriers of FVL have a definitely increased chance of recurring thrombosis.<sup>232</sup> According to the new CBO consensus, *Behandeling diepe veneuze trombose en embolie* (Treatment of deep venous thrombosis and embolism), even testing after the first thrombosis has taken place is unnecessary because the treatment does not depend on the test outcome (www.cbo.nl).

#### 6.4.3 Verdict on tests for genetic predisposition to thrombosis

The Committee concludes that there are no arguments in favour of providing selftests for hereditary predisposition to thrombosis. The self-test cited above has no CE marking.

Evaluation of genetic self-tests

#### 6.5 Tests for genetic predisposition to osteoporosis

#### 6.5.1 Osteoporotic fractures

Osteoporosis is a skeletal disorder characterised by a low bone mass and a deterioration of the micro-architecture, leading to an increased risk of bone breaks. Annually, around 84,000 people aged over 55 years break a bone (hip, vertebra and wrist) as a result of osteoporosis.<sup>233</sup> This problem will only increase with the aging of the population. The risk of dying in the year following a hip fracture is considerably larger than for peers without a hip fracture. The annual treatment costs connected with osteoporotic fractures amount to EUR 500 million.

The guideline states that when someone consults a physician and is found to belong to a high-risk group (persons with one or more vertebral fractures, women over 50 years old with a fracture), testing for osteoporosis must be considered.<sup>233,234</sup> This testing can include a bone density measurement (DXA, QCT).

Despite the availability of effective therapy, it has not yet been possible to reduce the number of osteoporotic fractures in the population. A significant obstacle is the unpredictability of the risk of a fracture. A bone density measurement has a low sensitivity, of the order of 50 %. The weakest link is compliance. This is not high in the short term, and the treatment has to be continued for 5 years. Within a year the compliance is low in half the cases. After two to three years it has reached 75 %.<sup>91-93</sup> The compliance of self-testers could be better, but this possibility has not been explored.

#### 6.5.2 Clinical utility of screening

Screening of the general population

Screening for osteoporosis is not recommended.<sup>233,234</sup> No experiments have been done to assess the efficacy and appropriateness of screening (and preventive treatment with hormonal supplement therapy, bisphosphonates or other medication) of the general population or groups at risk. Hormonal supplement therapy was discredited in mid-2002 as long-term use increased the risk of breast cancer, cardiovascular disease and thrombosis.<sup>235</sup> There are few data about the use of bisphosphonates in the middle term. It is recommended not to prescribe bisphosphonates for longer than 5 years.<sup>233,234</sup> This seems to be long enough in most cases, although it is not known whether this applies to women in high-risk groups as well.<sup>236</sup>

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

#### Tests of genetic predisposition

Can screening for a predisposition to osteoporosis be recommended? Tests of the genetic predisposition to osteoporosis are available via the Internet. For EUR 335 you can receive a test kit, take a cheek swab sample with a cotton bud, return it in a test tube after drying, and have it tested in a laboratory in Germany. The samples are coded before mailing. The Internet pharmacist receives the coded results and forwards this to a (Dutch) physician, who communicates the results to the client and gives advice.

The test focuses on four factors (collagen, r-calcitonin, r-vitamin D3, r-oestrogen) and should be chiefly useful (according to the supplier) for menopausal women, when osteoporosis is suspected, and for family members of already known osteoporosis patients. Scientific research into the meaning of these factors for the risk of osteoporotic fractures has not revealed a clear picture.<sup>237-239</sup> The University of Edinburgh has just started a study of the general population and certain families to improve their insight into the hereditary factors involved in the development of osteoporosis. The information provided by the supplier on the Internet makes it seem that the genetic predisposition to osteoporosis is mostly understood. The supplier emphasises that a negative test result 'almost certainly excludes' osteoporosis.

#### 6.5.3 Verdict on tests for genetic predisposition to osteoporosis

The Committee finds that the claims about the diagnostic value and the clinical utility of testing of the genetic predisposition to osteoporosis are not supported. The test has no CE marking.

#### 6.6 Genetic predisposition to hypertension

#### 6.6.1 Cardiovascular diseases

Blood pressure, smoking and cholesterol level are (along with hereditary predisposition [first-grade relatives with cardiovascular disease before the age of 60], age and gender) the classic risk factors for developing cardiovascular diseases.

In 2006 almost 42,000 people died in this disease category (www.cbs.nl). This is 32 % of all deaths in the Netherlands. The costs of cardiovascular diseases in the Netherlands were estimated at EUR 5.3 billion in 2003.<sup>34</sup> Among members of the Dutch population aged 20 to 60 years, around one-fifth suffers from hypertension (140/90 mm Hg or higher).

Evaluation of genetic self-tests

#### 6.6.2 Tests for genetic predisposition to hypertension

An Internet pharmacist announced that a test of the genetic predisposition for hypertension was about to be added to his arsenal. This will only be useful if the test provides added value. However, no research has been performed into whether a test of the genetic predisposition (together with the classic risk factors) will improve the risk profile and prevention of cardiovascular diseases. It is also unknown whether people who know that they have a genetic predisposition can adhere better to lifestyle recommendations. The question is how people deal with the knowledge about hereditary predisposition. Such knowledge can also have negative consequences. On the one hand, it is easy to exaggerate the importance of a hereditary predisposition, and 'predisposition' can be considered inevitable. On the other hand, a favourable test result can feel like being given a free rein to continue with an unhealthy lifestyle.

Before we can investigate the utility of a genetic test, we need to know which hereditary factors are significant, how they influence each other and how they interact with non-genetic factors. Numerous publications about association studies have appeared (genome-wide association studies), but they do not yet provide a serious foundation for making a judgement.<sup>240</sup>

#### 6.6.3 Verdict on tests for genetic predisposition to hypertension

The Committee feels that a self-test of genetic predisposition is premature. The purchase of a sphygmomanometer or the consulting of a physician offers cheaper alternatives than a genetic test (EUR 335). If there is any cause to be worried about blood pressure, it is best to include other important risk factors for cardiovascular diseases in the evaluation.

### 7 Conclusions

Chapter

#### Some self-tests offer added value

Of the examples discussed in this annual report, the HPV home test for cervical cancer and tests that monitor blood glucose levels and blood coagulation times can be said to have added value. The FOBT, which is used as a home-collecting test in population screening for bowel cancer in several trial regions(not the doit-yourself test), also deserves mention. A fifth possibility of added value is the *Chlamydia* home test (not the do-it-yourself test). A population screening trial that will investigate the value of home tests for infection with *Chlamydia tra-chomatis* will be started in three regions in 2008. These are all self-tests that take place with professional kwowledge, input and supervision. Table 1 provides an overview of the Committee's verdicts on the selected self-tests.

#### The other evaluated self-tests have not been scientifically supported

The Committee is unable to recommend the other 17 evaluated self-tests on the basis of scientific research into their diagnostic value, clinical utility, efficiency and risk-benefit ratio (Table 1). This applies to new tests as well as tests that have been routinely used for decades, and even holds on the basis of no more than scientific research into their diagnostic value. It is worrying that in the absence of sufficient knowledge, such self tests are being marketed directly to the public.

Conclusions

	Diagnostic validity	Clinical utility	Favourable benefit / risk ratio	Efficiency	Tested with lay persons	Adequate information	Mention of CE marking of conformity	Risk category for conformity assessment procedure Fulfils the 'essential requirements' of the IVD Directive Sales channelling			WBO permit required	Comments
Self-test kits												
Blood glucose: self diagnosis	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	?	L	Ν	Ν	Ν	
Blood glucose: monitoring	Y	Y	Y	?	Y	Y	Y	Μ	Y	Ν	Ν	А
Prothrombin time test	Y	Y	Y	?	-	Y	Y	L	Y	Ν	Ν	А
AMH test for bladder cancer	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	?	L	Ν	Ν	Ν	
Albuminuria test for renal damage	Ν	Ν	?	?	Ν	Ν	Y	L	Ν	Ν	Ν	
PSA test for prostate cancer	Y	?	?	?	Ν		?	М	Ν	Y	Ν	
FOBT for colorectal cancer:	Y	Y	?	?	Ν	Ν	Y	L	Ν	Ν	Ν	
Coeliac disease self-test	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	L	Ν	Ν	Ν	
Tumour markers												
AMAS test for (breast) cancer:	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	N/A	Ν					Y	
HPV self sampling cervical cancer:	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	L	Y	N/A	Y	А
CA 15-3 test for breast cancer:	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	N/A	Ν	?	L	Ν	N/A	Y	
CEA test for colorectal cancer:	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	N/A	Ν	?	L	Ν	N/A	Y	
PreGen-Plus for colorectal cancer:	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	N/A	Ν	Ν	L	Ν	N/A	Y	
Genetic self-tests												
Genetic predisp. to coeliac disease	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	L		N/A	Ν	
Gen. predisp. to lactose intolerance	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	L	Ν	N/A	Ν	
Hereditary risk of thrombosis	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	L	Ν	N/A	Ν	
Gen. predisp. to osteoporosis	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	L	Ν	N/A	Ν	
Gen. predisp. to hypertension	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	N/A	L	Ν	N/A	Ν	

A = added-value; N = no; Y = yes; N/A = not applicable; ? = research into this is currently underway, or unknown; L = low-risk; M = moderate; H = high

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

#### Table 1 Quality of self-tests.

These self-tests likewise fail to meet the general 'essential requirements'

The Committee finds that these tests also fail to meet the general 'essential requirements' of the IVD Directive (or it was not possible to properly examine this.) The Committee bases this conclusion on its interpretation that the general 'essential requirements' refer not only to a test's analytical validity, but also its diagnostic validity and clinical utility. The clinical content of these self-certification dossiers is thought to be low, as tasts that were rejected by the US-FDA as lacking any evidence of diagnostic validity have claimed CE marking in Europe.<sup>244</sup>

The Committee has the impression that self-tests are not seriously assessed according to the general 'essential requirements' before being placed on the market. Either the required assessment is not carried out, or the requirements are interpreted in a minimal manner. The Committee takes account of the possibility that the notified bodies conduct their assessments in accordance with the stipulations of the IVD Directive, but that these stipulations are chiefly aimed at assessing technical aspects and not enough at assessing compliance with the general 'essential requirements'. The Committee also wonders whether the notified bodies have sufficient skills in the area of medicine and epidemiology to carry out this type of assessment. The regulatory system is not felt to currently deliver the clinical evidence that consumers and clinicians need.

#### Manufacturers are almost always allowed to themselves decide whether the 'essential requirements' have been met

European test marketing is based on self certification. Most self-tests are not subject to independent pre-market review. For all tests not named on List A or List B, the manufacturer is allowed to decide itself whether its product meets the 'essential requirements' of the IVD Directive, and it can itself affix the CE marking to this product. Only the assessment of the supplementary requirements for do-it-yourself tests must be left to a notified body. The competent authorities' assumption that the manufacturer will take the appropriate social responsibility calls into question the credibility of the assessment system. The arguments used (in preamble 22 of the IVD Directive) are that in vitro diagnostic medical devices do not pose a health risk and that the results obtained can often be confirmed by other means. But these arguments cut no ice, as far as the Committee is concerned.

99

Conclusions

The risk classification schema lacks consistency

The list-based approach to classification is neither consistent nor effective for risk classification of novel tests.

It is not easy to ascertain whether the requirements have been fulfilled

Manufacturers must prepare technical files as part of the CE assessment. These files are not public, however, and can only be requested for viewing by the Health Care Inspectorate. Consequently, consumers can usually not find out whether a self-test has the CE marking and what quality standards it complies with before they buy the product on the Internet.

The IVD Directive leaves it entirely up to the manufacturer to describe the purpose of the self-test. This leads to claims of outstanding test performances that have little to do with the test's actual aim. In the case of genetic tests, for example, the precise aim and the associated diagnostic value is often not specified, or it is even stressed that the test is not intended to detect a disease or pre-disposition to it. Consumers themselves then have to establish the link with the conditions in question. In the website advertising and the patient information leaflets for the FOBT and PSA test, for early detection of bowel cancer and prostate cancer respectively, the aim of the tests is described as demonstrating the presence of blood in the faeces or PSA in the blood. Information on the test performances is restricted to the 'agreement' of the index test with an (unknown) reference test. However, this measure gives no sound information on the test's diagnostic value. This masks the risk of false-positive and false-negative test results.

Information provision to consumers and doctors is inadequate

In certain respects the IVD Directive works against transparency of data. Evaluative data is treated as confidential. The Committee finds that the information on self-test kits provided by manufacturers or suppliers on the Internet is generally inadequate to enable consumers to take well-considered decisions whether or not to buy a self-test. Descriptions of the precise aim of the self-test and its anticipated clinical utility, health risk and diagnostic value are often missing.

The information is often restricted to little more than the price and instructions for use. Advertising seems to be more important than informing. CE marking seems more often an excuse to omit information rather than a guarantee of objective and balanced information. For instance, the website www.thuistesten.nl

sells 12 do-it-yourself tests, including allergy, blood type, candida, syphilis and pregnancy tests, with not much more explanation than that all tests have CE marking and that laboratory tests have shown them to be "more than 99% reliable". This 'reliability index' says little about a test's diagnostic value. There are virtually no guarantees that consumers will be able to properly interpret the result of a self-test. After all, test results cannot be interpreted without an indication of the risk of false-positive and false-negative outcomes.

The sales channel regulation, under which 'high-risk diagnostic medical devices' can only be supplied by a physician or pharmacist, does not seem very effective. Of the evaluated tests, only the do-it-yourself test for PSA is subject to this regulation, and this test turns out to be freely available from a certain chemist chain.

### The growth in do-it-yourself testing diminishes the importance of the WBO as an assessment framework

The importance of the WBO as an assessment framework may be diminished as a result of the growth in do-it-yourself testing. Self-testing and screening actually have many similarities. Legally, however, do-it-yourself tests are commercial products; they therefore cannot be made subject to the WBO permit requirement on top of the assessment regulations in the IVD Decree, because this would constitute an obstacle to trade. However, certain services in the contexts of homecollecting and street-corner testing are covered by the WBO. If these services are intended to detect cancer or an untreatable condition, then they require a licence under this law. This also applies to tests for a genetic predisposition to cancer or an untreatable condition.

There is no research on the efficiency of self-tests

All kinds of advantages and disadvantages have been attributed to self-tests. On the one hand it is claimed that self-testing means that users are better able to decide whether to consult a physician. On the other hand, because of the high incidence of false-positive results, the use of self-tests may lead to significant unnecessary demands on healthcare services. No research is yet available on these aspects.

Conclusions

Chapter

8

## Recommendations

#### 8.1 Adaptation of regulations, enforcement and information provision

The Committee proposes to the Minister that the recommendations in this chapter relating to the IVD Directive be included in the preparations for the review of the CE marking system.

A number of recommendations relate to the regulatory regime. Nevertheless, the Committee sees the solution to the identified problems not only in terms of improving compliance with and strengthening the regulations on self-testing. There are limits in the Internet age to the enforceability of statutory rules. This underlines the importance of reliable public information (to be stimulated by the government) on the sense or otherwise of self-testing, and of a public debate on the issue. Professional associations, consumer organisations, patient associations as well as the trade association (Diagned) can play a major role here.

The Committee recommends that the information on self-testing in this annual report be widely distributed.

#### 8.2 Improve self-tests as products

More clearly define 'essential requirements'

• The Committee feels that self-tests should be assessed for diagnostic validity and clinical utility before they are admitted to the market. In its view, this follows naturally from the general 'essential requirements' of the IVD Direc-

Recommendations

tive. If it emerges that the requirements 1 and 3 as they are currently formulated do not refer to the diagnostic validity and clinical utility, then the Committee recommends that these requirements be revised at the EU level so that they do refer to these criteria. The Committee underlines the importance of a clear and meaningful formulation of the general 'essential requirements'. There is a great need for more detailed information on these requirements that unambiguously sets out what is meant by the employed concepts. It should be mandatory for manufacturers to state the test's intended clinical purpose.

#### Study the conformity assessment procedure

• The Committee recommends that a study be made of how manufacturers and notified bodies operate with regard to the CE assessment procedure. How do they interpret the general 'essential requirements', and what role do these requirements play in the assessment? The findings of such a study could be brought into the review of the IVD Directive. In any case, the CE assessment procedure must be structured in such a way that a check regarding the general 'essential requirements' is guaranteed at all times, and the bodies conducting the assessment must be adequately equipped to fulfil their task. The Health Care Inspectorate also has a role to play here. An EU member state has an obligation to take appropriate steps in every case where the CE marking has been wrongly assigned (Article 17 of the IVD Directive). Incidentally, the Committee is allowing for the possibility that this tightening of the assessment procedures.

#### Revise the risk classification

EU should adopt a more comprehensive and more consistent risk classification schema, in order to ensure that more tests be subject to pre-market review. The Committee recommends that the classification in risk categories be structured so that the competent authorities can more quickly respond to new market developments. This can be achieved by replacing the specific listing of conditions in the classification in risk categories by a generic listing. (This in effect supports a position already adopted by the Netherlands at EU level.) Tests for cancer and genetic tests should be added to List A or List B as a matter of urgency.

#### Create preconditions for proactive policies

• The Committee points out the problem of adapting the IVD Directive to the rapid technological and commercial developments taking place. This adaptation will take years, while developments in this market segment are very fastmoving. The Committee therefore recommends that the EU creates the preconditions in this area for more proactive policies by the member states.

Always include results with inexperienced users in the assessment procedure

• The Committee recommends that the obligation on manufacturers, within the context of the CE assessment procedure, to provide the results from studies with inexperienced users should be applied to all do-it-yourself tests.

#### Possibly restrict the availability of harmful tests

• If a high-risk do-it-yourself test has no proven benefit, but does have many disadvantages (many false-positive test results, overdiagnosis or overtreatment), the Committee recommends that the Minister of Health, Welfare and Sport should consider restricting the availability of such a test under Article 13 of the IVD Directive. This states that if the availability of a product needs to be restricted *in order to ensure protection of health and safety and/or to ensure that public health requirements are observed*, then a member state may take any necessary transitional measures, for example tightening the essential requirements or banning the product.

#### Aim for self-regulation in post-marketing surveillance of new self-tests

• The Committee recommends that the Health Care Inspectorate continues to urge manufactures to actively seek out the experiences of consumers and patients with their products within the framework of the post-marketing surveillance of do-it-yourself tests. The Committee realises, however, that stronger post-marketing surveillance in a lay environment will always have its limitations. In light of these limitations, the Committee recommends a form of self-regulation in which manufacturers, expert healthcare professionals and other directly or indirectly involved parties track the performance of and experiences with new self-tests for a certain period (one year, for example) in order to monitor the correct use. This could be organised on a voluntary basis. This would certainly not constitute an unwarranted imposition on the free market. Another option might be to set up an independent reporting centre where consumers/patients could lodge any complaints.

Recommendations

Introduce a requirement for regular checks of blood glucose meters in the IVD Directive review

• The need for regular checks of blood glucose meters is insufficiently guaranteed in the current CE marking system. The Committee recommends that this requirement be brought into the review of the IVD Directive.

#### 8.3 Improve the supply of self-tests as products

Investigate the effect of the sales channel regulation

• The Committee recommends that research be undertaken to see whether the sales channel regulation is achieving its objective. One question in this context is whether Internet-based pharmacies are (given the required expertise in oncology, genetics and epidemiology) suitable outlets for selling high-risk products.

Draft production information in such a way that it is possible to make a well-considered choice

• The Committee takes the view that the product information provided in advance of a purchase and in the patient information leaflet should, at the very least, include details of the test's aim, diagnostic value and clinical utility (including a quantified indication of the risk of false-positive and false-negative results). What matters above all is that consumers can make a well-considered choice on the basis of understandable information as to whether or not to buy the test, thereby fleshing out the right to self-determination. The Committee recommends that the sales channel regulation be tightened to this effect.

#### 8.4 Improve self-tests as services

Consider the scope of the WBO

• Some forms of genetic screening already require a permit under Article 2 of the WBO or Article 2 of the Special Medical Procedures Act (WBMV). The Committee recommends that research be undertaken to investigate to what extent other forms of genetic screening should be made subject to the WBO's permit requirement.

Place home-collecting and street-corner tests within the scope of the Quality Act

• The Committee recommends that the services that institutions and laboratories offer in the form of home-collecting tests and street-corner tests should be designated as 'healthcare' within the meaning of the Quality Act so that there is no doubt that these institutions and laboratories fall within the scope of this law when they offer this type of test. The applicability of the Quality Act gives the Health Care Inspectorate an instrument to supervise these institutions.

Formation of quality policies by manufacturers

Suppliers and sellers of home-collecting tests and street-corner tests will have to formulate their own quality policies within the applicability of the Quality Act. These are policies for which the Health Care Inspectorate can hold them accountable. The Committee recommends that the diagnostic medical devices industry helps to develop such policies, following on from the code of conduct formulated by Diagned, the industry's trade association. Given the applicability of the WGBO to this type of service, the professional groups involved will also have to give thought to what constitutes 'healthcare by a good provider' (Article 7:453 of the Civil Code) in this context. If they do not yet have an appropriate professional standard in this respect, they should ensure that such a standard is formulated as a matter of urgency. The Committee recommends that close attention be paid in the formulation of quality policies and professional standards to the question of what information consumers and patients require to take a well-considered decision on whether or not to have themselves tested. This information could cover the advantages and disadvantages of having the test performed, the opportunities for testing in the regular health service, a quality comparison, when to consult a physician, etc.

#### 8.5 Improve information on self-tests

Provide users and clinicians with appropriate information

 Oblige manufacturers to make information available to all stakeholders. Because the test performances are correlated with the intended aim, the Committee recommends that suppliers be obliged to describe the test's intended clinical purpose in the information for users (in terms of the disease or condition being tested for and not in terms of 'reliability' or 'agreement' with an

Recommendations

unnamed reference test). Regulators should ensure easy access to all the relevant clinical evidence.

#### Report CE marking

• The Committee recommends that suppliers undertake (or be obliged) to mention in the advertising (on the Internet or elsewhere) for their tests that the tests have CE marking. As far as the Committee is concerned, the introduction of a separate quality mark besides CE marking is superfluous and confusing under the conditions set out by the Committee.

#### Ensure that advertising is evidence-based

• The Committee recommends that manufacturers and other suppliers be obliged to proceed in an evidence-based way in their advertising for do-it-yourself tests, in analogy with the requirements currently made for advertising products that make a health claim. Such an obligation could be laid down in the IVD Directive. The basis for the regulation of advertising for home-collecting and street-corner tests will have to be enshrined in a public law. In short, the Committee recommends that advertising for these kinds of products and services be subjected to stricter standards than those that currently apply. Arrangements for supervising compliance with these standards will also have to be made.
1	Gezondheidsraad. Jaarbericht bevolkingsonderzoek 2006. Den Haag, Gezondheidsraad; 2006: 2006/
	10.
2	Ryan A, Wilson S, Greenfield S, Clifford S, McManus RJ, Pattison HM. Range of self-tests available
	to buy in the United Kingdom: an Internet survey. J Public Health (Oxf) 2006; 28(4): 370-374.
3	van Zundert M. Preventiediagnostiek. Check-ups en doe-het-zelftests. Diagned 2007; maart 2007: 8-
	10.
4	Care and Public Health Research Institute. Diagnostische zelftests op lichaamsmateriaal. Aanbod,
	validiteit en gebruik door de consument. Maastricht: Care and Public Health Research Institute; 2007.
5	Nielen MMJ, Schellevis FG, Verheij RA. Evaluatie campagne 'Stop beginnende nierziekte'. Utrecht:
	NIVEL, 2007.
6	Raad voor de Volksgezondheid en Zorg. Zelftests. Zoetermeer: RVZ; 1999.
7	VWS. Brief minister VWS aan Voorzitter Tweede Kamer inzake RVZ-advies 'Zelftests'. 1999. Den
	Haag VWS.
8	Berg JWK vd, vd Molen T, Kerstjens HAM, Quanjer PH. Kanttekeningen bij screenend
	longfunctieonderzoek voor detectie van COPD. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2007; 151: 1557-160.
9	Fitzmaurice DA, Murray ET, Gee KM, Allan TF, Hobbs FD. A randomised controlled trial of patient
	self management of oral anticoagulation treatment compared with primary care management. J Clin
	Pathol 2002; 55(11): 845-849.
10	Gadisseur AP, Breukink-Engbers WG, van der Meer FJ, van den Besselaar AM, Sturk A, Rosendaal
	FR. Comparison of the quality of oral anticoagulant therapy through patient self-management and
	management by specialized anticoagulation clinics in the Netherlands: a randomized clinical trial.
	Arch Intern Med 2003; 163(21): 2639-2646.

References

- 11 Menendez-Jandula B, Souto JC, Oliver A, Montserrat I, Quintana M, Gich I et al. Comparing selfmanagement of oral anticoagulant therapy with clinic management: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2005; 142(1): 1-10.
- 12 Poulsen PL, Hansen B, Amby T, Terkelsen T, Mogensen CE. Evaluation of a dipstick test for microalbuminuria in three different clinical settings, including the correlation with urinary albumin excretion rate. Diabete Metab 1992; 18(5): 395-400.
- 13 Bastian LA, Nanda K, Hasselblad V, Simel DL. Diagnostic efficiency of home pregnancy test kits. A meta-analysis. Arch Fam Med 1998; 7(5): 465-469.
- 14 Grauw WJ de, van de Lisdonk EH, van de Hoogen HJ, van Gerwen WH, van den Bosch WJ, Willems JL *et al.* Screening for microalbuminuria in type 2 diabetic patients: the evaluation of a dipstick test in general practice. Diabet Med 1995; 12(8): 657-663.
- 15 Sadler LS, Dynes MW, Daley AM, Ickovics JR, Leventhal JM, Reynolds H. Use of home pregnancy tests among adolescent women. MCN Am J Matern Child Nurs 2004; 29(1): 50-55.
- 16 Cole LA, Khanlian SA, Sutton JM, Davies S, Rayburn WF. Accuracy of home pregnancy tests at the time of missed menses. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2004; 190(1): 100-105.
- 17 Cole LA, Sutton-Riley JM, Khanlian SA, Borkovskaya M, Rayburn BB, Rayburn WF. Sensitivity of over-the-counter pregnancy tests: comparison of utility and marketing messages. J Am Pharm Assoc (Wash DC) 2005; 45(5): 608-615.
- 18 Gezondheidsraad. Neuraalbuisdefecten. Den Haag, Gezondheidsraad; 1988: 1988/15.
- Gezondheidraad. In vitro diagnostische test voor thuisgebruik. Den Haag, Gezondheidsraad; 1989: 1989/05.
- 20 Gezondheidsraad. Erfelijkheid; Maatschappij en Wetenschap. Over de mogelijkheden en grenzen van erfelijkheidsdiagnostiek en gentherapie. Den Haag, Gezondheidsraad; 1989: 31/89.
- 21 Gezondheidsraad. DNA-diagnostiek. Den Haag, Gezondheidsraad; 1998: 1998/11.
- 22 Tweede Kamer. Antwoorden van minister Klink op vragen van Kamerlid Kant over internetverkoop van biomarkertests. 2007.
- 23 Signaleringscommissie Kanker van KWF Kankerbestrijding. Biomarkers en kankerbestrijding.
   Gebruik van biomarkers bij erfelijkheidsonderzoek, diagnostiek en behandeling. Amsterdam: Thieme; 2007.
- Commissie Biotechnologie bij dieren; Commissie Genetische Modificatie; Gezondheidsraad.
   Trendanalyse biotechnologie 2007. Kansen en Keuzes. Den Haag: 2007.
- Hogarth S, Melzer D, Zimmern R. The regulation of commercial genetic testing services in the UK.A briefing for the Human Genetics Commission. Cambridge: 2005.
- 26 Sluijters B. Gezondheidsrecht. Deventer, Kluwer; 2004.
- 27 Lachs MS, Nachamkin I, Edelstein PH, Goldman J, Feinstein AR, Schwartz JS. Spectrum bias in the evaluation of diagnostic tests: lessons from the rapid dipstick test for urinary tract infection. Ann Intern Med 1992; 117(2): 135-140.
- 28 Knottnerus JA, editor. The Evidence Base of Clinical Diagnosis. London: BMJ Books; 2002.

- 29 Deutekom M, Bossuyt PMM. De toegenomen beschikbaarheid van doe-het-zelftest voor medische metingen. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2007; 151: 901-904.
- 30 Gezondheidsraad. Voedingsmiddelen en -supplementen met claims over gezondheidseffecten. Den Haag, Gezondheidsraad; 2003: 2003/09.
- 31 Haddow JE, Palomaki GE. ACCE; a model process for evaluating data on emerging genetic test. In: Khoury MJ, Little J, Burke W, editors. Human genome epidemiology. A scientific foundation for using genetic information to improve health and prevent disease. Oxford: University Press; 2004: 217-233.
- 32 Lijmer JG, Mol BW, Heisterkamp S, Bonsel GJ, Prins MH, van der Meulen JH *et al.* Empirical evidence of design-related bias in studies of diagnostic tests. JAMA 1999; 282(11): 1061-1066.
- 33 Offringa M, Assendelft WJJ, Scholten RJPM. Inleiding in evidence-based medicine. Klinisch handelen gebaseerd op bewijsmateriaal. Houten/Antwerpen: Bohn Stafleu van Loghum; 2003.
- Rijksinstituut voor de Volksgezondheid en Milieu. Slobbe LCJ, Kommer GJ, Smit JM, Groen J,
   Meerding WJ, Polder JJ. Kosten van Ziekten in Nederland 2003. Zorg voor euro's 1. Bilthoven:
   RIVM; 2006: 270751010.
- 35 Gezondheidsraad. Screening op type 2 diabetes. Den Haag, Gezondheidsraad; 2004: 2004/16.
- 36 Borch-Johnsen K, Lauritzen T, Glumer C, Sandbaek A. Screening for Type 2 diabetes--should it be now? Diabet Med 2003; 20(3): 175-181.
- 37 Engelgau MM, Thompson TJ, Smith PJ, Herman WH, Aubert RE, Gunter EW et al. Screening for diabetes mellitus in adults. The utility of random capillary blood glucose measurements. Diabetes Care 1995; 18(4): 463-466.
- 38 Kruijshoop M, Feskens EJ, Blaak EE, de Bruin TW. Validation of capillary glucose measurements to detect glucose intolerance or type 2 diabetes mellitus in the general population. Clin Chim Acta 2004; 341(1-2): 33-40.
- 39 Qiao Q, Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi S, Rajala U, Uusimaki A, Kivela SL. Random capillary whole blood glucose test as a screening test for diabetes mellitus in a middle-aged population. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 1995; 55(1): 3-8.
- Rolka DB, Narayan KM, Thompson TJ, Goldman D, Lindenmayer J, Alich K *et al.* Performance of recommended screening tests for undiagnosed diabetes and dysglycemia. Diabetes Care 2001; 24(11): 1899-1903.
- Houweling ST, Kleefstra N, Van Ballegooie E, Miedema K, Rischen R, Heeg JE. Diagnostiek van diabetes mellitus: beperkte plaats voor draagbare glucosemeters. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2005; 149: 694-697.
- 42 Peters-Volleberg GWM, Hilbers-Modderman ESM, Van den Berg A. Ontwikkelingen op het gebied van diabeteshulpmiddelen. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2001; 145: 307-310.
- Geertsma R, de Bruijn AE, Hilbers-Modderman ESM, Hollestelle ML, Bakker G, Roszek B. New and emerging medical technologies. A horizon scan of opportunities and risks. Bilthoven: RIVM; 2007: 65/07 BMT/RB/RG/cvr.

- Welschen LMC, Bloemendal E, Nijpels G, Dekker JM, Heine RJ, Stalman WAB *et al.* Uit de Cochrane Library en Diabetes Care: zelfcontrole van bloedglucosewaarden bij diabetes mellitus type
   2 zonder gebruik van insuline waarschijnlijk effectieve methode om glykemische instelling te verbeteren. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2006; 150: 1826.
- 45 Farmer A, Wade A, Goyder E, Yudkin P, French D, Craven A *et al.* Impact of self monitoring of blood glucose in the management of patients with non-insulin treated diabetes: open parallel group randomised trial. BMJ 2007; 335(7611): 132.
- 46 Nijpels G, Serrée MJG, Dekker JM, Heine RJ. Zelfcontrole door patiënten met diabetes mellitus type 2, een jaar na aanvang: gebruikersfouten bij een kwart. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2003; 1068-1070.
- 47 Boyd JC, Bruns DE. Quality specifications for glucose meters: assessment by simulation modeling of errors in insulin dose. Clin Chem 2001; 47(2): 209-214.
- 48 Geest-Daalderop JHH v, Sturk A, Levi M, Adriaansen HJ. Omvang en kwaliteit van de antistollingsbehandeling met cumarinederivaten door de Nederlandse trombosedienst. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2004; 148: 730-736.
- 49 Nordström M, Lindblad B, Bergqvist D, Kjellström T. A prospective study of the incidence of deepvein thrombosis within a defined urban population. J Intern Med 1992; 232(2): 155-160.
- 50 Naess IA, Christiansen SC, Romundstad P, Cannegieter SC, Rosendaal FR, Hammerstrom J. Incidence and mortality of venous thrombosis: a population-based study. J Thromb Haemost 2007; 5(4): 692-699.
- 51 Beinema M, Salden H, Zuijderhoudt F. Controle kwaliteit CoaguChek. Ned Tijdschr Klin Chem 2001; 26(4): 192-193.
- 52 Choi BC, Farmilo JA. Microscopic haematuria as a predictor of urological diseases among steel workers. J Soc Occup Med 1990; 40(2): 47-52.
- Hiatt RA, Ordonez JD. Dipstick urinalysis screening, asymptomatic microhematuria, and subsequent urological cancers in a population-based sample. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1994; 3(5): 439-443.
- 54 Mohr DN, Offord KP, Melton LJ, III. Isolated asymptomatic microhematuria: a cross-sectional analysis of test-positive and test-negative patients. J Gen Intern Med 1987; 2(5): 318-324.
- 55 Messing EM, Madeb R, Young T, Gilchrist KW, Bram L, Greenberg EB *et al.* Long-term outcome of hematuria home screening for bladder cancer in men. Cancer 2006; 107(9): 2173-2179.
- 56 Hemstreet GP, III, Yin S, Ma Z, Bonner RB, Bi W, Rao JY *et al.* Biomarker risk assessment and bladder cancer detection in a cohort exposed to benzidine. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001; 93(6): 427-436.
- 57 Messing EM, Young TB, Hunt VB, Gilchrist KW, Newton MA, Bram LL *et al.* Comparison of bladder cancer outcome in men undergoing hematuria home screening versus those with standard clinical presentations. Urology 1995; 45(3): 387-396.
- 58 Sultana SR, Goodman CM, Byrne DJ, Baxby K. Microscopic haematuria: urological investigation using a standard protocol. Br J Urol 1996; 78(5): 691-696.

- 59 Kawamura T, Ohta T, Ohno Y, Wakai K, Aoki R, Tamakoshi A *et al.* Significance of urinalysis for subsequent kidney and urinary tract disorders in mass screening of adults. Intern Med 1995; 34(6): 475-480.
- 60 Hedelin H, Jonsson K, Salomonsson K, Boman H. Screening for bladder tumours in men aged 60-70 years with a bladder tumour marker (UBC) and dipstick-detected haematuria using both white-light and fluorescence cystoscopy. Scand J Urol Nephrol 2006; 40(1): 26-30.
- 61 Mohr DN, Offord KP, Owen RA, Melton LJ, III. Asymptomatic microhematuria and urologic disease. A population-based study. JAMA 1986; 256(2): 224-229.
- 62 Britton JP, Dowell AC, Whelan P, Harris CM. A community study of bladder cancer screening by the detection of occult urinary bleeding. J Urol 1992; 148(3): 788-790.
- 63 Mayfield MP, Whelan P. Bladder tumours detected on screening: results at 7 years. Br J Urol 1998; 82(6): 825-828.
- 64 Messing EM, Young TB, Hunt VB, Roecker EB, Vaillancourt AM, Hisgen WJ *et al.* Home screening for hematuria: results of a multiclinic study. J Urol 1992; 148(2 Pt 1): 289-292.
- Malmstrom PU. Time to abandon testing for microscopic haematuria in adults? BMJ 2003;
   326(7393): 813-815.
- 66 ERA-EDTA. Registry 2004 Annual report. www.era-edta-reg.org
- 67 U.S. Renal Data System, USRDS 2006 Annual data report: atlas of end-stage renal disease in the United States. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digesteive and Kidney Diseases; 2006.
- 68 Skrivarhaug T, Bangstad HJ, Stene LC, Sandvik L, Hanssen KF, Joner G. Low risk of overt nephropathy after 24 yr of childhood-onset type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) in Norway. Pediatr Diabetes 2006; 7(5): 239-246.
- 69 Finne P, Reunanen A, Stenman S, Groop PH, Gronhagen-Riska C. Incidence of end-stage renal disease in patients with type 1 diabetes. JAMA 2005; 294(14): 1782-1787.
- 70 Bigazzi R, Bianchi S, Baldari D, Campese VM. Microalbuminuria predicts cardiovascular events and renal insufficiency in patients with essential hypertension. J Hypertens 1998; 16(9): 1325-1333.
- 71 Bruno G, Merletti F, Biggeri A, Bargero G, Ferrero S, Pagano G *et al.* Progression to overt nephropathy in type 2 diabetes: the Casale Monferrato Study. Diabetes Care 2003; 26(7): 2150-2155.
- 72 Jager A, Kostense PJ, Ruhe HG, Heine RJ, Nijpels G, Dekker JM *et al.* Microalbuminuria and peripheral arterial disease are independent predictors of cardiovascular and all-cause mortality, especially among hypertensive subjects: five-year follow-up of the Hoorn Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1999; 19(3): 617-624.
- Zeller A, Sigle JP, Battegay E, Martina B. Value of a standard urinary dipstick test for detecting microalbuminuria in patients with newly diagnosed hypertension. Swiss Med Wkly 2005; 135(3-4): 57-61.
- 74 Gerstein HC, Mann JF, Yi Q, Zinman B, Dinneen SF, Hoogwerf B *et al.* Albuminuria and risk of cardiovascular events, death, and heart failure in diabetic and nondiabetic individuals. JAMA 2001; 286(4): 421-426.

- 75 Naushahi MJ, de Grauw WJ, Avery AJ, van Gerwen WH, van de Lisdonk EH, van Weel C. Risk factors for development of impaired renal function in Type 2 diabetes mellitus patients in primary care. Diabet Med 2004; 21(10): 1096-1101.
- 76 Tjin a Ton J, Zwart S. Patiënten met nierfunctiestoornissen gemakkelijk op te sporen in de huisartsenpraktijk. Huisarts Wet 2006; 443-447.

77 Ruggenenti P, Fassi A, Ilieva AP, Bruno S, Iliev IP, Brusegan V *et al.* Preventing microalbuminuria in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2004; 351(19): 1941-1951.

- Rutten GEHM, de Grauw WJ, Nijpels G, Goudswaard AN, Uitewaal PIM, Van der Does FEE *et al.* NHG-Standaard Diabetes mellitus type 2. Huisarts Wet 2006; 137.
- 79 Wee PM ter, Jorna AT. Behandeling van patiënten met chronische nierinsufficiëntie; richtlijn voor internisten. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2004; 148(15): 719-724.
- 80 Nielen MMJ, Schellevis FG, Verheij RA. Preventie van chronische nierinsufficiëntie in de huisartsenpraktijk. Utrecht: NIVEL; 2006.
- 81 Jong RE de, Gansevoort RT, Wetzels JFM. Screenen van de bevolking op eiwitverlies in de urine: een zinnige actie. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2007; 151(19): 1055-1058.
- Dirks JH, de Zeeuw D, Agarwal SK, Atkins RC, Correa-Rotter R, D'Amico G *et al.* Prevention of chronic kidney and vascular disease: toward global health equity--the Bellagio 2004 Declaration. Kidney Int Suppl 2005; (98): S1-S6.
- 83 Crommentuyn R. Eiwitplassers gezocht. Nierstichting start grootschalige campagne tegen beginnende nierschade. Med Contact 2006; 61(36): 1396-1398.
- Halbesma N, Kuiken DS, Brantsma AH, Bakker SJ, Wetzels JF, de Zeeuw D *et al.* Macroalbuminuria is a better risk marker than low estimated GFR to identify individuals at risk for accelerated GFR loss in population screening. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006; 17(9): 2582-2590.
- 85 Ishani A, Grandits GA, Grimm RH, Svendsen KH, Collins AJ, Prineas RJ *et al.* Association of single measurements of dipstick proteinuria, estimated glomerular filtration rate, and hematocrit with 25year incidence of end-stage renal disease in the multiple risk factor intervention trial. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006; 17(5): 1444-1452.
- 86 Pinto-Sietsma SJ, Janssen WM, Hillege HL, Navis G, de Zeeuw D, De Jong PE. Urinary albumin excretion is associated with renal functional abnormalities in a nondiabetic population. J Am Soc Nephrol 2000; 11(10): 1882-1888.
- 87 Tozawa M, Iseki K, Iseki C, Kinjo K, Ikemiya Y, Takishita S. Blood pressure predicts risk of developing end-stage renal disease in men and women. Hypertension 2003; 41(6): 1341-1345.
- 88 Verhave JCGRT, Hillege HL, Bakker SJL, de Zeeuw D, De Jong PE. Albuminuria predicting outcome in the general population. An elevated urinary albumin excretion predicts de novo development of renal function impairment in the general population. Kidney International 2004; 66, Supplement 92: S18-S21.
- 89 Yuyun MF, Khaw KT, Luben R, Welch A, Bingham S, Day NE *et al.* A prospective study of microalbuminuria and incident coronary heart disease and its prognostic significance in a British population: the EPIC-Norfolk study. Am J Epidemiol 2004; 159(3): 284-293.

- 90 Iseki K, Ikemiya Y, Iseki C, Takishita S. Proteinuria and the risk of developing end-stage renal disease. Kidney Int 2003; 63(4): 1468-1474.
- 91 Huybrechts KF, Ishak KJ, Caro JJ. Assessment of compliance with osteoporosis treatment and its consequences in a managed care population. Bone 2006; 38(6): 922-928.
- Siris ES, Harris ST, Rosen CJ, Barr CE, Arvesen JN, Abbott TA *et al*. Adherence to bisphosphonate therapy and fracture rates in osteoporotic women: relationship to vertebral and nonvertebral fractures from 2 US claims databases. Mayo Clin Proc 2006; 81(8): 1013-1022.
- 93 Solomon DH, Avorn J, Katz JN, Finkelstein JS, Arnold M, Polinski JM *et al.* Compliance with osteoporosis medications. Arch Intern Med 2005; 165(20): 2414-2419.
- 94 Wijk van BL, Avorn J, Solomon DH, Klungel OH, Heerdink ER *et al.* Rates and determinants of reinitiating antihypertensive therapy after prolonged stoppage: a population-based study. J Hypertens 2007; 25(3): 689-697.
- 95 Incerti J, Zelmanovitz T, Camargo JL, Gross JL, de Azevedo MJ. Evaluation of tests for microalbuminuria screening in patients with diabetes. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2005; 20(11): 2402-2407.
- 96 Parikh CR, Fischer MJ, Estacio R, Schrier RW. Rapid microalbuminuria screening in type 2 diabetes mellitus: simplified approach with Micral test strips and specific gravity. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2004; 19(7): 1881-1885.
- 97 Zeller A, Haehner T, Battegay E, Martina B. Diagnostic significance of transferrinuria and albuminspecific dipstick testing in primary care patients with elevated office blood pressure. J Hum Hypertens 2005; 19(3): 205-209.
- 98 Boulware LE, Jaar BG, Tarver-Carr ME, Brancati FL, Powe NR. Screening for proteinuria in US adults: a cost-effectiveness analysis. JAMA 2003; 290(23): 3101-3114.
- 99 Arnlov J, Evans JC, Meigs JB, Wang TJ, Fox CS, Levy D *et al.* Low-grade albuminuria and incidence of cardiovascular disease events in nonhypertensive and nondiabetic individuals: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 2005; 112(7): 969-975.
- 100 Atkins RC, Polkinghorne KR, Briganti EM, Shaw JE, Zimmet PZ, Chadban SJ. Prevalence of albuminuria in Australia: the AusDiab Kidney Study. Kidney Int Suppl 2004; (92): S22-S24.
- 101 Hillege HL, Janssen WM, Bak AA, Diercks GF, Grobbee DE, Crijns HJ *et al.* Microalbuminuria is common, also in a nondiabetic, nonhypertensive population, and an independent indicator of cardiovascular risk factors and cardiovascular morbidity. J Intern Med 2001; 249(6): 519-526.
- Hillege HL, Fidler V, Diercks GF, van Gilst WH, de Zeeuw D, van Veldhuisen DJ *et al.* Urinary albumin excretion predicts cardiovascular and noncardiovascular mortality in general population. Circulation 2002; 106(14): 1777-1782.
- Konta T, Hao Z, Takasaki S, Abiko H, Ishikawa M, Takahashi T *et al.* Clinical utility of trace
   proteinuria for microalbuminuria screening in the general population. Clin Exp Nephrol 2007; 11(1):
   51-55.

- 104 Hallan SI, Dahl K, Oien CM, Grootendorst DC, Aasberg A, Holmen J *et al.* Screening strategies for chronic kidney disease in the general population: follow-up of cross sectional health survey. BMJ 2006; 333(7577): 1047.
- 105 Asselbergs FW, Diercks GF, Hillege HL, van Boven AJ, Janssen WM, Voors AA *et al.* Effects of fosinopril and pravastatin on cardiovascular events in subjects with microalbuminuria. Circulation 2004; 110(18): 2809-2816.
- 106 Atthobari J, Asselbergs FW, Boersma C, de Vries R, Hillege HL, van Gilst WH *et al.* Costeffectiveness of screening for albuminuria with subsequent fosinopril treatment to prevent cardiovascular events: A pharmacoeconomic analysis linked to the prevention of renal and vascular endstage disease (PREVEND) study and the prevention of renal and vascular endstage disease intervention trial (PREVEND IT). Clin Ther 2006; 28(3): 432-444.
- 107 Kwaliteitsinstituut voor de Gezondheidszorg CBO. Multidisciplinaire richtlijn Cardiovasculair risicomanagement 2006. Alphen aan den Rijn: Van Zuiden Communications B.V.; 2006.
- 108 Ilic D, O'Connor D, Green S, Wilt T. Screening for prostate cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006; 3: CD004720.
- Andriole GL, Levin DL, Crawford ED, Gelmann EP, Pinsky PF, Chia D *et al.* Prostate cancer screening in the Prostate, Lung, Colorectal and Ovarian (PLCO) Cancer Screening Trial: findings from the initial screening round of a randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005; 97(6): 433-438.
- 110 Koning de HJ, Auvinen A, Berenguer SA, Calais da S, Ciatto S, Denis L et al. Large-scale randomized prostate cancer screening trials: program performances in the European Randomized Screening for Prostate Cancer trial and the Prostate, Lung, Colorectal and Ovary cancer trial. Int J Cancer 2002; 97(2): 237-244.
- Koning de HJ, Liem MK, Baan CA, Boer R, Schröder FH, Alexander FE. Prostate cancer mortality reduction by screening: power and time frame with complete enrollment in the European Randomised Screening for Prostate Cancer (ERSPC) trial. Int J Cancer 2002; 98(2): 268-273.
- 112 Korfage IJ, Essink-Bot ML, Borsboom GJ, Madalinska JB, Kirkels WJ, Habbema JD *et al.* Five-year follow-up of health-related quality of life after primary treatment of localized prostate cancer. Int J Cancer 2005; 116(2): 291-296.
- 113 Korfage IJ, de Koning HJ, Roobol M, Schröder FH, Essink-Bot ML. Prostate cancer diagnosis: The impact on patients' mental health. Eur J Cancer 2005.
- 114 Schröder FH, Roobol-Bouts M, Vis AN, van der KT, Kranse R. Prostate-specific antigen-based early detection of prostate cancer--validation of screening without rectal examination. Urology 2001; 57(1): 83-90.
- 115 Draisma G, Boer R, Otto SJ, van der Cruijsen I, Damhuis RA, Schröder FH *et al.* Lead times and overdetection due to prostate-specific antigen screening: estimates from the European Randomized Study of Screening for Prostate Cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2003; 95(12): 868-878.
- Gosselaar C, Roobol MJ, Roemeling S, de Vries SH, Cruijsen-Koeter I, van der Kwast TH *et al.* Screening for prostate cancer without digital rectal examination and transrectal ultrasound: results

after four years in the European Randomized Study of Screening for Prostate Cancer (ERSPC), Rotterdam. Prostate 2006; 66(6): 625-631.

- 117 Harris R, Lohr KN. Screening for prostate cancer: an update of the evidence for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Ann Intern Med 2002; 137(11): 917-929.
- 118 Postma R, Schröder FH, van Leenders GJ, Hoedemaeker RF, Vis AN, Roobol MJ et al. Cancer Detection and Cancer Characteristics in the European Randomized Study of Screening for Prostate Cancer (ERSPC) - Section Rotterdam A Comparison of Two Rounds of Screening. Eur Urol 2007;
- Roobol MJ, Zappa M, Maattanen L, Ciatto S. The value of different screening tests in predicting prostate biopsy outcome in screening for prostate cancer data from a multicenter study (ERSPC).
   Prostate 2007; 67(4): 439-446.
- 120 Steyerberg EW, Roobol MJ, Kattan MW, van der Kwast TH, de Koning HJ, Schröder FH. Prediction of indolent prostate cancer: validation and updating of a prognostic nomogram. J Urol 2007; 177(1): 107-112.
- 121 Sirovich BE, Schwartz LM, Woloshin S. Screening men for prostate and colorectal cancer in the United States: does practice reflect the evidence? JAMA 2003; 289(11): 1414-1420.
- 122 Otto SJ, van der Cruijsen I, Liem MK, Korfage IJ, Lous JJ, Schröder FH *et al.* Effective PSA contamination in the Rotterdam section of the European Randomized Study of Screening for Prostate Cancer. Int J Cancer 2003; 105(3): 394-399.
- 123 Blanker MH, Groeneveld FPMJ, Bosch JLHR, Thomas S, Prins A, Bohnen AM. Prevalentie van prostaatkanker gelijk bij mannen van 50 jaar of ouder met en zonder mictieklachten. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2003; 147(20): 973-978.
- 124 Gyrd-Hansen D, Sogaard J, Kronborg O. Colorectal cancer screening: efficiency and effectiveness.Health Econ 1998; 7(1): 9-20.
- 125 Whynes DK. Cost-effectiveness of screening for colorectal cancer: evidence from the Nottingham faecal occult blood trial. J Med Screen 2004; 11(1): 11-15.
- 126 Monsuur AJ, Bakker PI, Alizadeh BZ, Zhernakova A, Bevova MR, Strengman E et al. Myosin IXB variant increases the risk of celiac disease and points toward a primary intestinal barrier defect. Nat Genet 2005; 37(12): 1341-1344.
- Schweizer JJ, van Blomberg BME, Bueno de Mesquita HB, Mearin ML. Prevalentie van gediagnosticeerde en ongediagnosticeerde coeliakie in Nederland. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2005; 149(15): 821-825.
- 128 Wong RC, Steele RH, Reeves GE, Wilson RJ, Pink A, Adelstein S. Antibody and genetic testing in coeliac disease. Pathology 2003; 35(4): 285-304.
- 129 Collin P, Kaukinen K, Vogelsang H, Korponay-Szabo I, Sommer R, Schreier E *et al.* Antiendomysial and antihuman recombinant tissue transglutaminase antibodies in the diagnosis of coeliac disease: a biopsy-proven European multicentre study. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005; 17(1): 85-91.
- 130 Abrams JA, Diamond B, Rotterdam H, Green PH. Seronegative celiac disease: increased prevalence with lesser degrees of villous atrophy. Dig Dis Sci 2004; 49(4): 546-550.

References

- 131 Rostami K, Kerckhaert J, Tiemessen R, von Blomberg BM, Meijer JW, Mulder CJ. Sensitivity of antiendomysium and antigliadin antibodies in untreated celiac disease: disappointing in clinical practice. Am J Gastroenterol 1999; 94(4): 888-894.
- 132 West J, Logan RF, Hill PG, Lloyd A, Lewis S, Hubbard R *et al.* Seroprevalence, correlates, and characteristics of undetected coeliac disease in England. Gut 2003; 52(7): 960-965.
- 133 Johnston SD, Rodgers C, Watson RG. Quality of life in screen-detected and typical coeliac disease and the effect of excluding dietary gluten. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2004; 16(12): 1281-1286.
- Thijs W, Kleibeuker J. Screening op coeliakie voorlopig niet aangewezen. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2005; 49(1): 797-800.
- 135 Korponay-Szabo IR, Raivio T, Laurila K, Opre J, Kiraly R, Kovacs JB *et al.* Coeliac disease case finding and diet monitoring by point-of-care testing. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2005; 22(8): 729-737.
- 136 Raivio T, Kaukinen K, Nemes E, Laurila K, Collin P, Kovacs JB *et al.* Self transglutaminase-based rapid coeliac disease antibody detection by a lateral flow method. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2006; 24(1): 147-154.
- 137 RIVM. Kommer GJ, Slobbe LCJ, Polder JJ. Trends en verkenningen van kosten van zieken. Zorg voor euro's -2. RIVM; 2007: 270751013.
- 138 Bogoch S, Bogoch ES. Malignin antibody and early malignancy. Lancet 1991; 337(8747): 977.
- 139 Harman SM, Gucciardo F, Heward CB, Granstrom P, Barclay-White B, Rogers LW et al.

Discrimination of breast cancer by anti-malignin antibody serum test in women undergoing biopsy. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2005; 14(10): 2310-2315.

- 140 Thornthwaite JT, McDuffee EC, Harris RB, Secor M, Jr., Lane IW. The cancer recognition (CARE) antibody test. Cancer Lett 2004; 216(2): 227-241.
- 141 LETB. Belangrijkste resultaten 2001 en 2002 bevolkingsonderzoek borstkanker. Rotterdam: Erasmus MC; 2004.
- 142 Arbyn M, Raifu A, Autier P, Ferlay J. Burden of cervical cancer in Europe: estimates for 2004. Ann Oncol 2007;(10): 1708-15.
- 143 Graaf van der Y, Klinkhamer PJ, Vooijs GP. Effect of population screening for cancer of the uterine cervix in Nijmegen, The Netherlands. Prev Med 1986; 15(6): 582-590.
- 144 Bevolkingsonderzoek op baarmoederhalskanker; leeftijdsgrenzen en intervallen. Een geactualiseerde kosten-efectiviteits analyse. Rotterdam: Erasmus Universiteit; 1993.
- 145 Coldman A, Phillips N, Kan L, Matisic J, Benedet L, Towers L. Risk of invasive cervical cancer after three consecutive negative Pap smears. J Med Screen 2003; 10(4): 196-200.
- Laukkanen P, Koskela P, Pukkala E, Dillner J, Läära E, Knekt P *et al.* Time trends in incidence and prevalence of human papillomavirus type 6, 11 and 16 infections in Finland. J Gen Virol 2003; 84(Pt 8): 2105-2109.
- 147 Peto J, Gilham C, Fletcher O, Matthews FE. The cervical cancer epidemic that screening has prevented in the UK. Lancet 2004; 364(9430): 249-256.
- 148 Läära E, Day NE, Hakama M. Trends in mortality from cervical cancer in the Nordic countries: association with organised screening programmes. Lancet 1987; 1(8544): 1247-1249.

- 149 Morrell S, Taylor R, Wain G. A study of Pap test history and histologically determined cervical cancer in NSW women, 1997-2003. J Med Screen 2005; 12(4): 190-196.
- 150 Akker van den-van Marle M.E., Ballegooijen van M, Habbema JD. Low risk of cervical cancer during a long period after negative screening in the Netherlands. Br J Cancer 2003; 88(7): 1054-1057.
- Bulk S, Visser O, Rozendaal L, Verheijen RH, Meijer CJ. Cervical cancer in the Netherlands 1989 1998: Decrease of squamous cell carcinoma in older women, increase of adenocarcinoma in younger
   women. Int J Cancer 2005; 113(6): 1005-1009.
- Hakama M, Miller AB, Day NE, (editors). Screening for cancer of the uterine cervix. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 1986.
- 153 Leyden WA, Manos MM, Geiger AM, Weinmann S, Mouchawar J, Bischoff K *et al.* Cervical cancer in women with comprehensive health care access: attributable factors in the screening process. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005; 97(9): 675-683.
- Reedijk AMJ, Damhuis RAM, Westenend PJ. Screening op baarmoederhalskanker zeer effectief.
   TSG 2005; 83: 66-67.
- Holmquist ND. Revisiting the effect of the Pap test on cervical cancer. Am J Public Health 2000;
   90(4): 620-623.
- 156 Kenter GG, Schoonderwaldt EM, Koelma IA, Hermans JH, Fleuren GJ. Toch een cervixcarcinoom; intervalcarcinoom of mislukte screening? Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 1994; 138: 1199-1200.
- 157 Bos A, Rebolj M, Habbema JD, van Ballegooijen M. Non-attendance is still the main limitation for the effectiveness of screening for cervical cancer in the Netherlands. Int J Cancer 2006; 119 (10): 2372-2375.
- Walboomers JM, Jacobs MV, Manos MM, Bosch FX, Kummer JA, Shah KV *et al.* Human papillomavirus is a necessary cause of invasive cervical cancer worldwide. J Pathol 1999; 189(1): 12-19.
- 159 World Health Organization.International agency for research on cancer. IARC andbooks of cancer prevention. Volume 10. Cervix cancer screening. Lyon: IARC Press; 2005.
- Bulkmans NW, Rozendaal L, Snijders PJ, Voorhorst FJ, Boeke AJ, Zandwijken GR *et al*.
   POBASCAM, a population-based randomized controlled trial for implementation of high-risk HPV testing in cervical screening: design, methods and baseline data of 44,102 women. Int J Cancer 2004; 110(1): 94-101.
- Jacobs MV, Walboomers JM, Snijders PJ, Voorhorst FJ, Verheijen RH, Fransen-Daalmeijer N *et al.* Distribution of 37 mucosotropic HPV types in women with cytologically normal cervical smears: the age-related patterns for high-risk and low-risk types. Int J Cancer 2000; 87(2): 221-227.
- Kjaer SK, van den Brule AJ, Paull G, Svare EI, Sherman ME, Thomsen BL *et al.* Type specific persistence of high risk human papillomavirus (HPV) as indicator of high grade cervical squamous intraepithelial lesions in young women: population based prospective follow up study. BMJ 2002; 325(7364): 572.

163	Bulkmans NWJ, Berkhof J, Rozendaal L, van Kemenade FJ, Boeke AJP, Bulk S <i>et al.</i> Human papillomavirus DNA testing for the detection of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 3 and cancer: 5-vear follow-up of a randomised controlled implementation trial. Lancet 207: 370: 1764-1772.
164	Ronco G, Segnan N, Giorgi-Rossi P, Zappa M, Casadei GP, Carozzi F <i>et al.</i> Human papillomavirus testing and liquid-based cytology: results at recruitment from the new technologies for cervical cancer randomized controlled trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2006; 98(2): 765-774.
165	Mayrand M-H, Duarte-Franco E, Rodrigues I, Walter SD, Hanley J, Ferenczy A <i>et al.</i> Human papillomavirus DNA versus Papanicolaou screening tests for cervical cancer. N Engl J Med 2007; 357(16): 1579-1588.
166	Berkers LM, Ballegooijen van M, Kemenade van F, Rebolj M, Essink-Bot ML, Helmerhorst TJ <i>et al.</i> Herziening bevolkingsonderzoek op baarmoederhalskanker 1996: hogere dekkingsgraad, minder herhalingsuitstrijkjes en minder opportunistische screening. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2007; 151: 1288- 1294.
167	Visser O, Busquet EH, van Leeuwen FE, Aaronson NK, Ory FG. Incidentie van baarmoederhalskanker naar geboorteland bij vrouwen in Noord-Holland in 1988-1998. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2003; 147(2): 70-74.
168	Krul EJ, Peters LA, Vandenbroucke JP, Vrede A, van Kanten RW, Fleuren GJ. Cervical carcinoma in Surinam. Incidence and staging of cervical carcinoma between 1989 and 1994. Cancer 1996; 77(7): 1329-1333.
169	Palm I, Kant A. General practice-based call system for cervical cancer screening: Attendance rate, participation of women with higher risk and quality assurance [Proefschrift]. Nijmegen: Katholieke Universiteit Nijmegen: 1997.
170	Nooijer de DP, Waart de FG, Leeuwen van AW, Spijker WW. Opkomst bij bevolkingsonderzoek naar baarmoederhalskanker hoger na uitnodiging door de huisarts, in het bijzonder voor groepen met doorgaans lage participatiegraad. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2005; 149(42): 2339-2343.
171	Langer gezond leven 2004-2007: Ook een kwestie van gezond gedrag. Den Haag: Ministerie van VWS; 2003.
172	Millett C, Zelenyanszki C, Furlong C, Binysh K. An evaluation of a social marketing campaign to reduce the number of London women who have never been screened for cervical cancer. J Med Screen 2005; 12(4): 204-205.
173	Stein K, Lewendon G, Jenkins R, Davis C. Improving uptake of cervical cancer screening in women with prolonged history of non-attendance for screening: a randomized trial of enhanced invitation methods. J Med Screen 2005; 12(4): 185-189.
174	Nobbenhuis MA, Helmerhorst TJ, van den Brule AJ, Rozendaal L, Jaspars LH, Voorhorst FJ <i>et al.</i> Primary screening for high risk HPV by home obtained cervicovaginal lavage is an alternative screening tool for unscreened women. J Clin Pathol 2002; 55(6): 435-439.
175	Harper DM, Noll WW, Belloni DR, Cole BF. Randomized clinical trial of PCR-determined human papillomavirus detection methods: self-sampling versus clinician-directedbiologic concordance and women's preferences. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2002; 186(3): 365-373.

- 176 Bais AG, van Kemenade FJ, Berkhof J, Verheijen RHM, Snijders PJF, Voorhorst FJ *et al.* Human papillomavirus testing on self-sampled cervicovaginal brushes: an effective alternative to protect nonresponders in cervical screening programs. Int J Cancer 2007; 120(7): 1505-1510.
- 177 Brink A, Meijer CJLM, Wiegerinck M, Nieboer B, Kruitwagen R, van Kemenade FJ et al. High concordance of Results of Testing for Human Papillomavirus in Cervicovaginal Samples Collected by Two Methods, with Comparison of a Novel Self-Sampling Device to a Conventional Endocervical Brush. J Clin Microbiol 2006; 44(7): 2518-2523.
- 178 Szarewski A, Cadman L, Mallett S, Austin J, Londesborough P, Waller J *et al.* Human papillomavirus testing by self-sampling: assessment of accuracy in an unsupervised clinical setting. J Med Screen 2007; 14(1): 34-42.
- 179 Forrest S, McCaffery K, Waller J, Desai M, Szarewski A, Cadman L *et al.* Attitudes to self-sampling for HPV among Indian, Pakistani, African-Caribbean and white British women in Manchester, UK. J Med Screen 2004; 11(2): 85-88.
- 180 Dannecker C, Siebert U, Thaler CJ, Kiermeir D, Hepp H, Hillemanns P. Primary cervical cancer screening by self-sampling of human papillomavirus DNA in internal medicine outpatient clinics. Ann Oncol 2004; 15(6): 863-869.
- 181 Wet bevolkingsonderzoek: thuistest voor niet-deelneemsters aan de screening op baarmoederhalskanker. Den Haag: Gezondheidsraad; 2006: publicatie nr 2006/01WBO.
- 182 Kreuger FAF, Bais AG, Helmerhorst TJ. Opkomstbevordering bij non-respondenten van het reguliere bevolkingsonderzoek baarmoederhalskanker door middel van HPV self-sampling. TSG 2005; 83(8): 474-478.
- 183 van Gils MP, Stenman UH, Schalken JA, Schroder FH, Luider TM, Lilja H *et al.* Innovations in serum and urine markers in prostate cancer current European research in the P-Mark project. Eur Urol 2005; 48(6): 1031-1041.
- 184 Hessels D, Mulders PFA, Karthaus HFM, Witjes JA, Schalken JA. De rol van PCA3DD3 in de diagnostiek van prostaatkanker. Ned Tijdschr Klin Chem Labgeneeskd 2005; 30(1): 32-37.
- 185 Schmidt U, Fuessel S, Koch R, Baretton GB, Lohse A, Tomasetti S *et al.* Quantitative multi-gene expression profiling of primary prostate cancer. Prostate 2006; 66(14): 1521-1534.
- 186 Marks LS, Fradet Y, Deras IL, Blase A, Mathis J, Aubin SM *et al.* PCA3 molecular urine assay for prostate cancer in men undergoing repeat biopsy. Urology 2007; 69(3): 532-535.
- 187 van Gils MP, Hessels D, van HO, Jannink SA, Peelen WP, Hanssen SL *et al*. The time-resolved fluorescence-based PCA3 test on urinary sediments after digital rectal examination; a Dutch multicenter validation of the diagnostic performance. Clin Cancer Res 2007; 13(3): 939-943.
- 188 Groskopf J, Aubin SM, Deras IL, Blase A, Bodrug S, Clark C *et al*. APTIMA PCA3 molecular urine test: development of a method to aid in the diagnosis of prostate cancer. Clin Chem 2006; 52(6): 1089-1095.
- 189 Gezondheidsraad. Wet bevolkingsonderzoek: prostaatkanker ERSPC-Rotterdam (3). Den Haag:
   Gezondheidsraad; 2007: 2007/03WBO.

- Gezondheidsraad. Wet bevolkingsonderzoek; moleculaire test voor screening op blaaskanker. Den Haag: Gezondheidsraad; 2007: 2007/01WBO.
- 191 Easton DF, Pooley KA, Dunning AM, Pharoah PD, Thompson D, Ballinger DG *et al.* Genome-wide association study identifies novel breast cancer susceptibility loci. Nature 2007; 447(7148): 1087-1093.
- 192 Hunter DJ, Kraft P, Jacobs KB, Cox DG, Yeager M, Hankinson SE *et al*. A genome-wide association study identifies alleles in FGFR2 associated with risk of sporadic postmenopausal breast cancer. Nat Genet 2007; 39(7): 870-874.
- Duffy MJ. Serum tumor markers in breast cancer: are they of clinical value? Clin Chem 2006; 52(3):
   345-351.
- 194 Kwaliteitsinstituut voor de Gezondheidszorg CBO. Richtlijn behandeling van het mammacarcinoom.
   Utrecht: CBO; 2005.
- 195 Lumachi F, Basso SM, Brandes AA, Pagano D, Ermani M. Relationship between tumor markers CEA and CA 15-3, TNM staging, estrogen receptor rate and MIB-1 index in patients with pT1-2 breast cancer. Anticancer Res 2004; 24(5B): 3221-3224.
- 196 Martin A, Corte MD, Alvarez AM, Rodriguez JC, Andicoechea A, Bongera M *et al.* Prognostic value of pre-operative serum CA 15.3 levels in breast cancer. Anticancer Res 2006; 26(5B): 3965-3971.
- 197 Gezondheidsraad. Wet bevolkingsonderzoek: vormen van screening op darmkanker. Den Haag: Gezondheidsraad; 2005: 2005/01WBO.
- 198 Ransohoff DF, Feinstein AR. Problems of spectrum and bias in evaluating the efficacy of diagnostic tests. N Engl J Med 1978; 299(17): 926-930.
- 199 Ransohoff DF. Cancer. Developing molecular biomarkers for cancer. Science 2003; 299(5613): 1679-1680.
- 200 Antoniou A, Pharoah PD, Narod S, Risch HA, Eyfjord JE, Hopper JL *et al.* Average risks of breast and ovarian cancer associated with BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations detected in case Series unselected for family history: a combined analysis of 22 studies. Am J Hum Genet 2003; 72(5): 1117-1130.
- 201 Morgan TM, Krumholz HM, Lifton RP, Spertus JA. Nonvalidation of reported genetic risk factors for acute coronary syndrome in a large-scale replication study. JAMA 2007; 297(14): 1551-1561.
- 202 Janssens AC, Gwinn M, Valdez R, Narayan KM, Khoury MJ. Predictive genetic testing for type 2 diabetes. BMJ 2006; 333(7567): 509-510.
- 203 Hudson KJG, Burke W, Byers B. ASHG Statement\* on Direct-to-Consumer Genetic Testing in de United States. Am J Hum Genet 2007; 81: 635-637.
- GAO. Nutrigenetic testing. Tests purchased from four web sites mislead consumers. Washington,
   D.C. 20548: U.S. Government Accountability Office; 2006.
- Pena-Quintana L, Torres-Galvan MJ, Deniz-Naranjo MC, Ortigosa-Castillo L, Ramos-Varela JC,
   Calvo-Hernandez F *et al.* Assessment of the DQ heterodimer test in the diagnosis of celiac disease in the Canary Islands (Spain). J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2003; 37(5): 604-608.

- 206 Rostom A, Dubé C, Cranney A, Saloojee N, Sy R, Garritty C et al. Celiac Disease. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ); 2004: Evidence Report/Technology Assessment Nr.104.
- 207 Sacchetti L, Calcagno G, Ferrajolo A, Sarrantonio C, Troncone R, Micillo M *et al.* Discrimination between celiac and other gastrointestinal disorders in childhood by rapid human lymphocyte antigen typing. Clin Chem 1998; 44(8 Pt 1): 1755-1757.
- 208 Iltanen S, Rantala I, Laippala P, Holm K, Partanen J, Maki M. Expression of HSP-65 in jejunal epithelial cells in patients clinically suspected of coeliac disease. Autoimmunity 1999; 31(2): 125-132.
- 209 Kapitany A, Toth L, Tumpek J, Csipo I, Sipos E, Woolley N et al. Diagnostic significance of HLA-DQ typing in patients with previous coeliac disease diagnosis based on histology alone. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2006; 24(9): 1395-1402.
- 210 Kaukinen K, Partanen J, Maki M, Collin P. HLA-DQ typing in the diagnosis of celiac disease. Am J Gastroenterol 2002; 97(3): 695-699.
- 211 Heel DAv, Franke L, Hunt KA, Gwilliam R, Zhernakova A, Inouye M et al. A genome-wide association study for celiac disease identifies risk variants in the region harboring IL2 and IL21. Nat Genet 2007; 39(7): 827-829.
- 212 Bodlaj G, Stocher M, Hufnagl P, Hubmann R, Biesenbach G, Stekel H *et al.* Genotyping of the lactase-phlorizin hydrolase -13910 polymorphism by LightCycler PCR and implications for the diagnosis of lactose intolerance. Clin Chem 2006; 52(1): 148-151.
- 213 Enattah NS, Sahi T, Savilahti E, Terwilliger JD, Peltonen L, Jarvela I. Identification of a variant associated with adult-type hypolactasia. Nat Genet 2002; 30(2): 233-237.
- Sahi T. Genetics and epidemiology of adult-type hypolactasia. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl 1994;
   202: 7-20.
- 215 Kuokkanen M, Enattah NS, Oksanen A, Savilahti E, Orpana A, Jarvela I. Transcriptional regulation of the lactase-phlorizin hydrolase gene by polymorphisms associated with adult-type hypolactasia. Gut 2003; 52(5): 647-652.
- 216 Rasinpera H, Savilahti E, Enattah NS, Kuokkanen M, Totterman N, Lindahl H *et al.* A genetic test which can be used to diagnose adult-type hypolactasia in children. Gut 2004; 53(11): 1571-1576.
- 217 Anthoni SR, Rasinpera HA, Kotamies AJ, Komu HA, Pihlajamaki HK, Kolho KL *et al.* Molecularly defined adult-type hypolactasia among working age people with reference to milk consumption and gastrointestinal symptoms. World J Gastroenterol 2007; 13(8): 1230-1235.
- 218 Paajanen L, Korpela R, Tuure T, Honkanen J, Jarvela I, Ilonen J *et al*. Cow milk is not responsible for most gastrointestinal immune-like syndromes--evidence from a population-based study. Am J Clin Nutr 2005; 82(6): 1327-1335.
- 219 Carroccio A, Montalto G, Cavera G, Notarbatolo A, Lactase Deficiency Study Group. Lactose intolerance and self-reported milk intolerance: relationship with lactose maldigestion and nutrient intake. J Am Coll Nutr 1998; 17(6): 631-636.

- 220 Hogenauer C, Hammer HF, Mellitzer K, Renner W, Krejs GJ, Toplak H. Evaluation of a new DNA test compared with the lactose hydrogen breath test for the diagnosis of lactase non-persistence. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005; 17(3): 371-376.
- 221 Hertzler SR, Clancy SM. Kefir improves lactose digestion and tolerance in adults with lactose maldigestion. J Am Diet Assoc 2003; 103(5): 582-587.
- 222 Pribila BA, Hertzler SR, Martin BR, Weaver CM, Savaiano DA. Improved lactose digestion and intolerance among African-American adolescent girls fed a dairy-rich diet. J Am Diet Assoc 2000; 100(5): 524-528.
- 223 Suarez FL, Savaiano DA, Levitt MD. A comparison of symptoms after the consumption of milk or lactose-hydrolyzed milk by people with self-reported severe lactose intolerance. N Engl J Med 1995; 333(1): 1-4.
- 224 Bhatnagar S, Aggarwal R. Lactose intolerance. BMJ 2007; 334(7608): 1331-1332.
- 225 Matthews SB, Waud JP, Roberts AG, Campbell AK. Systemic lactose intolerance: a new perspective on an old problem. Postgrad Med J 2005; 81(953): 167-173.
- 226 Black RE, Williams SM, Jones IE, Goulding A. Children who avoid drinking cow milk have low dietary calcium intakes and poor bone health. Am J Clin Nutr 2002; 76(3): 675-680.
- 227 Wu O, Robertson L, Twaddle S, Lowe GD, Clark P, Greaves M *et al.* Screening for thrombophilia in high-risk situations: systematic review and cost-effectiveness analysis. The Thrombosis: Risk and Economic Assessment of Thrombophilia Screening (TREATS) study. Health Technol Assess 2006; 10(11): 1-110.
- 228 Middeldorp S, Meinardi JR, Koopman MM, van Pampus EC, Hamulyak K, van Der MJ *et al.* A prospective study of asymptomatic carriers of the factor V Leiden mutation to determine the incidence of venous thromboembolism. Ann Intern Med 2001; 135(5): 322-327.
- 229 Coppens M, van de Poel MH, Bank I, Hamulyak K, van Der MJ, Veeger NJ *et al.* A prospective cohort study on the absolute incidence of venous thromboembolism and arterial cardiovascular disease in asymptomatic carriers of the prothrombin 20210A mutation. Blood 2006; 108(8): 2604-2607.
- 230 Silver RM, Warren JE. Preconception counseling for women with thrombophilia. Clin Obstet Gynecol 2006; 49(4): 906-919.
- 231 Vandenbroucke JP, van der Meer FJ, Helmerhorst FM, Rosendaal FR. Factor V Leiden: should we screen oral contraceptive users and pregnant women? BMJ 1996; 313(7065): 1127-1130.
- 232 Marchiori A, Mosena L, Prins MH, Prandoni P. The risk of recurrent venous thromboembolism among heterozygous carriers of factor V Leiden or prothrombin G20210A mutation. A systematic review of prospective studies. Haematologica 2007; 92(8): 1107-1114.
- 233 Kwaliteitsinstituut voor de Gezondheidszorg CBO. Osteoporose Tweede Herziene Richtlijn. Alphen aan den Rijn: Van Zuiden Communications BV; 2002.
- 234 Elders P, Leussink G, Graafmans W, Bolhuis A, van der Spoel O, van Keimpema J *et al.* NHG-Standaard Osteoporose. Huisarts Wet 2005; 48(11): 559-570.

- 235 Maas AH, van der Graaf Y. Hormonale suppletietherapie in de postmenopauze in diskrediet, behalve voor gezonde vrouwen kort na de menopauze. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2002; 146(45): 2127-2130.
- 236 Black DM, Schwartz AV, Ensrud KE, Cauley JA, Levis S, Quandt SA *et al.* Effects of continuing or stopping alendronate after 5 years of treatment: the Fracture Intervention Trial Long-term Extension (FLEX): a randomized trial. JAMA 2006; 296(24): 2927-2938.
- 237 Bandres E, Pombo I, Gonzalez-Huarriz M, Rebollo A, Lopez G, Garcia-Foncillas J. Association between bone mineral density and polymorphisms of the VDR, ERalpha, COL1A1 and CTR genes in Spanish postmenopausal women. J Endocrinol Invest 2005; 28(4): 312-321.
- 238 Hubacek JA, Weichetova M, Bohuslavova R, Skodova Z, Stepan JJ, Adamkova V. No associations between genetic polymorphisms of TGF-beta, PAI-1, and COL1A1, and bone mineral density in Caucasian females. Endocr Regul 2006; 40(4): 107-112.
- 239 Liu PY, Lu Y, Long JR, Xu FH, Shen H, Recker RR *et al.* Common variants at the PCOL2 and Sp1 binding sites of the COL1A1 gene and their interactive effect influence bone mineral density in Caucasians. J Med Genet 2004; 41(10): 752-757.
- 240 Genome-wide association study of 14,000 cases of seven common diseases and 3,000 shared controls. Nature 2007; 447(7145): 661-678.

241 Genetische screening. Den Haag: Gezondheidsraad; 1994: 1994/22.

- 242 Janssens ACJW, Gwinn M, Bradley LA, Oostra BA, van Duijn CM, Khoury MJ. A critical appraisal of the scientific basis of commercial genomic profiles used to assess health risks and personalize health interventions. Am J Hum Genet 2008; 82: 593-599.
- 243 Hogarth S. The IVD directive and genetic testing-problems and proposals. A briefing presented to the 20th meeting of competent authorities, Lisbon, July 2007. Cambridge, 2007.
- 244 Melzer D, Hogarth S, Liddell K, Ling T, Zimmern RL. Genetic tests for common diseases: new insights, old concerns. BMJ 2008; 336: 590-593

References

A	The committee
В	Expert consultations
С	Glossary

# Annexes

# A The committee

Annex

- J.A. Knottnerus, *chairman* President of the Health Council, The Hague
  J.H. Dekker General Practitioner, University Medical Centre Groningen
  S.W.J. Lamberts Professor of Internal Medicine, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam
- Y. van der Graaf
  Professor of Clinical Epidemiology, University Medical Centre Utrecht
- W.P.Th.M. Mali Professor of Radiology, University Medical Centre Utrecht
- J.L. Severens Professor of Medical Technology Assessment, University of Maastricht
- A.L.M. Verbeek Professor of Clinical Epidemiology, University Medical Centre St Radboud Nijmegen
- W.A. van Veen, MD, *secretary* Gezondheidsraad, The Hague
- C.J. van de Klippe, Doctor of Law, *secretary* Gezondheidsraad, The Hague

The committee

## The Health Council and interests

Members of Health Council Committees are appointed in a personal capacity because of their special expertise in the matters to be addressed. Nonetheless, it is precisely because of this expertise that they may also have interests. This in itself does not necessarily present an obstacle for membership of a Health Council Committee. Transparency regarding possible conflicts of interest is nonetheless important, both for the President and members of a Committee and for the President of the Health Council. On being invited to join a Committee, members are asked to submit a form detailing the functions they hold and any other material and immaterial interests which could be relevant for the Committee's work. It is the responsibility of the President of the Health Council to assess whether the interests indicated constitute grounds for non-appointment. An advisorship will then sometimes make it possible to exploit the expertise of the specialist involved. During the establishment meeting the declarations issued are discussed, so that all members of the Committee are aware of each other's possible interests.

Annex

B

# Expert consultations

The Committee consulted the following experts:

- E.M. van Ardenne-Stachiw Lawyer, Amersfoort
- G.J. Dinant Professor of Family Practice, University of Maastricht
- J.C.J. Dute Professor of Health Law, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam; University of Amsterdam
- J.K.M. Gevers Professor of Health Law, Academic Medical Centre/University of Amsterdam
- G.R.J. de Groot Professor of Health Insurance Law, Free University Amsterdam; Lawyer, The Hague
- L.P. ten Kate
   Professor Emeritus of Clinical Genetics, VU Medical Centre, Amsterdam
- M.H. Prins Professor of Clinical Epidemiology, University of Maastricht
  H. Rigter
- Professor Institute of Public Health, Erasmus MC, Rottterdam
- F.R. Rosendaal Professor of Clinical Epidemiology, University Medical Centre Leiden

Expert consultations

- R.J. Slingerland
  - Clinical Chemist, Isala Klinieken, Zwolle
- E.M.A. Smets
- Clinical Psychologist, Academic Medical Centre, Amsterdam
  D. Stemerding
- Lecturer, science and society, University Twente, Enschede
- F. Sturmans Professor Emeritus of Epidemiology, Geertruidenberg

# 

Annex

#### Accuracy

See 'Validity'.

# Agreement (reliability index)

The degree to which the results of an index text match the results of a reference test. This can be expressed as the sum of the number of true-positive results and the number of true-negative results divided by the total number of tested people. This measurement depends more on the prevalence of the condition than on the diagnostic value of the test. The percentage of true-negative results and the 'reliability' will be high for conditions with a low prevalence.

#### Analytic validity

Accuracy of an assay identifying the biomarker. See 'Sensitivity' and 'Specificity'.

#### A priori probability

The probability of a person having or developing a particular disease before the test result is known, measured against the prevalence of the disease in the population to which the tested person belongs.

#### Bias

A distortion of research results owing to systematic flaws in the structure or execution of a study. See also 'lead-time bias', 'selection bias' and 'overdiagnosis'.

Glossary

#### Biomarker

A characteristic defect or anomaly at DNA, RNA or protein level, used to determine the probability of disease, the presence or nature of the disease, the choice of therapy and the reaction to it, the course of the disease and the determination of heredity. These are germline-specific or disease-specific characteristics such as multiplication, loss or translocations of chromosomes or chromosome areas, mutations, polymorphisms or modifications of genes, as well as expression levels of individual genes or groups of genes measured in terms of RNA or protein. Biomarkers may also be functional proteins found in abnormal concentrations in body fluids such a blood plasma or urine.<sup>23</sup>

#### Direct-access test (DAT)

Allows the consumer to order a battery of laboratory tests previously available only with a physician's order.

#### Direct-to-consumer (DTC) test

A home-collecting test that is marketed and sold on the Internet and whose test result is reported directly to consumers, without the intervention of an independent healthcare professional.

# Do-it-yourself test

A self-test that an inexperienced user or lay person can perform themselves at home, without the intervention of a physician or laboratory.

# False-negative result

A test result that was negative in a subject who possesses the attribute. It should be stressed that this is not a value judgement ('unjustified good news'). The 'false-negative' category comprises not only 'missed' diseases or risk factors, that is, those that were undoubtedly present or present at a preliminary stage during the screening but were not identified. They also include cases where the disease was already present but not detectable, or even when there is subsequent development of the disease.

#### False-positive result

A test result that was positive in a subject who does not possess the attribute for which the test is conducted. Further diagnosis shows that the presumed disease or risk factor is not present ('false alarm').

## Genetic screening

Screening for the presence of or risk for disorders with a strong genetic component ('heritable disorders').<sup>241</sup>

#### 'Gold standard' (reference test)

A test that is generally accepted as most accurately representing the actual situation (i.e. presence or absence of a disease or risk factor).

#### Home-collecting test (home test)

A self-test in which a person takes or collects a body sample (urine, faeces, blood or saliva) from himself or herself and has this tested in a laboratory.

#### Index test

The test whose diagnostic value is being investigated.

#### In vitro diagnostic medical device

A medical device for the diagnosis of body samples.

#### Lead-time bias (sojourn bias)

A phenomenon whereby the active detection of disease brings forward the moment of diagnosis. For instance, prostate cancer is discovered ten years earlier with PSA screening.<sup>115</sup> If this does not change the time of death, the interval between diagnosis and mortality is extended, so that the survival period seems longer. But this is not a case of 'lifeyears gained'. Rather, the man in question knows for ten years more that he has prostate cancer.

#### Length-time bias

An error which is due to the fact that slowly progressing disease processes are more likely to be detected by screening than more rapidly progressing disease processes.

# Mendelian inheritance pattern

A term to describe a high probability of a child being born with the hereditary disease in question: 25% in the case of a recessive mutation in both parents and 50% in the case of a dominant mutation in one of the parents.

#### Monitoring test

A test in which the patient himself or herself monitors a previously diagnosed condition (for example, the self-management of glucose levels by diabetics).

#### Monogenetic

Relating to a single gene, inherited under Mendel's laws. Examples of the more than 5,000 monogenetic diseases that are most common in the western world are familial hypercholesterolemia (FH), phenylketonuria (PKU), cystic fibrosis (CF) and classical haemophilia.

Glossary

#### Multifactorial

Relating to several hereditary factors as well as to environmental factors, such as lifestyles. The most common forms of cancer, cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, hypertension and many other conditions where hereditary factors play a role are multifactorially determined.

### Mutation

A change in the nucleotide sequence in a gene. Germline mutations are hereditary, can be found in the DNA of the reproductive cells, and spread to all the body's cells during embryonic development.

#### Negative predictive value

The probability that a person with a negative test result does not have the condition being tested for. In other words, the retrospective probability of the absence of the condition, or the percentage of true-negative results among all test-negatives.

#### Negative test result

A test result that is favourable and that indicates that the probability of having or developing the disease in question is low.

#### Overdiagnosis

There is a possibility that defects and anomalies are detected through screening that would never have actually led to disease. This may happen as a result of lead time (for instance, a woman who has been diagnosed with breast cancer through screening dies from something else before the breast cancer would have come to light in a situation without population screening). A second possibility is that a defect or anomaly is regarded as an early stage of disease, but proves not to be so. In early diagnoses of cancer, the line between benign and malignant growth is not always clear. A third possibility is that the defect or anomaly detected through screening (for instance a carcinoma in situ or an advanced adenoma) can be regarded as an early or preliminary stage of a disease, but would never have led to the awareness of the disease in a situation without population screening.

#### Penetrance

Frequency of expression of a genotype. The extent to which a genetically determined condition is expressed in an individual.

#### Point-of-care test (POCT) (near-patient test)

A test that is not performed in a hospital or laboratory, but wherever healthcare is provided (such as physician's or specialist's surgery, at home or elsewhere).

#### Polymorphism

A frequent (> 1%) inheritable variation in a particular gene sequence in a population. Some polymorphisms are advantageous, in that they can, for example, slightly reduce the probability of developing a particular condition. Others are disadvantageous, in that they can slightly increase this probability.

#### Positive predictive value

The probability that a person with a positive test result indeed has the condition for which they have been tested. In other words, the retro-spective probability of the presence of the condition, or the percentage of true-positive results among all test-positives.

#### Positive test result

A test result that is unfavourable and that indicates a raised probability of having or developing the disease in question.

#### Predictive genetic tests

A generic term for presymptomatic and susceptibility tests.

#### Presymptomatic diagnosis

A diagnosis based on DNA evidence of monogenetic diseases that only manifest themselves at an older age, such as Huntington's disease. Carriers of the mutation in question have a high probability of developing the condition.

# Qualitative test

A test whose result is positive or negative.

#### Quantitative test

A test whose result is a numerical value.

#### Reliability (reproducibility)

The extent to which a test will give the same result when repeated under the same conditions (either by the same person at a different time, or by different people independently of each other).

#### Reproducibility

See 'Reliability'.

#### Safety

The probability that a person's health will be impaired owing to an incorrect use of a self-test, a false-positive or false-negative test result, or an incorrect interpretation of the test result.

#### Screening (early detection, population screening)

The testing of apparently healthy people with the aim of separating them into a subgroup with a high probability and a subgroup with a low probability of having or developing a particular disease. Screen-

#### Glossary

ing does not pretend that it can diagnose or exclude the disease or a preliminary stage of the disease. People with a positive (unfavourable) test result are referred to their physician for a formal diagnosis. The initiative lies with the person or institution offering and performing the screening. The purpose of screening is to use early detection to improve the treatment outcome or to widen the options for action.

# Selection bias

A distortion of research results owing to systematic flaws in the selection of participants in a scientific study. Thus, people who use screening or self-testing may form a selection from the general population (for example, in terms of socioeconomic status and inclination towards preventative behaviour), so that they are already at an advantage regardless of the screening programme. In that case, patients will appear to live longer and survival rates will yield a distorted picture of the clinical utility of testing. Another type of selection bias occurs because people with a rapidly progressing disease processes will be less inclined to use screening or self-diagnosis.

# Self-test

A generic term for do-it-yourself tests, home-collecting tests and street-corner tests. This annual report only considers tests on blood, urine, saliva and another body samples (taken or collected by means of an in vitro diagnostic medical device), not (for example) self-examination of the breasts or monitoring of blood pressure or peak flow at home.

# Semiquantitative test

A test whose result is higher or lower than a particular limit value (the test's cut-off point).

#### Sensitivity

The ability of a test to identify people with a particular disease or risk factor as such, or put another way, the number of true-positive test results divided by the number of people with the disease in question (true-positives plus false-negatives). A test with a high sensitivity leads to few false-negative outcomes. This diagnostic sensitivity should be distinguished from 'analytical' sensitivity, which reflects a test's performance in a laboratory trial setting (for example, the ability to demonstrate a particular amount of haemoglobin in faeces or hCG in urine). The analytical sensitivity of a genetic test is its ability to identify people with a particular mutation (the genotype of interest) as such.

#### Single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP)

A genetic variation that relates to only a single nucleotide. The human genome contains more than 3 million of SNPs.

#### Specificity

The ability of a test to identify people who do not have a particular disease or risk factor as such, or put another way, the number of truenegative test results divided by the number of people without the disease in question (correct negatives plus false-positives). A test with a high specificity leads to few false-positive outcomes. This diagnostic specificity should be distinguished from 'analytical' specificity, which reflects a test's performance in a laboratory trial setting. The analytical specificity of a genetic test is its ability to identify people without a particular mutation as such.

#### Spectrum bias

A distortion of the test performances in scientific research because of an incorrect choice of the spectrum of people with the disease and those without the disease. The diagnostic value of a test intended for people from the general population, with a broad disease spectrum, should not be investigated only in patients with relatively serious conditions.

#### Street-corner test

A self-test in which the necessary body samples are taken by a third party, for instance in a pharmacy or supermarket.

# Susceptibility test

A test for hereditary factors that slightly raises the probability of a person subsequently developing a particular multifactorial condition.

#### True-negative result

A test result that was negative in the first instance (i.e. absence of the disease or risk factor), and that is subsequently confirmed in a further diagnosis.

#### True-positive result

A test result that was positive in the first instance (i.e. presence of the disease or risk factor) and that is subsequently confirmed in a further diagnosis.

#### Tumour marker

A biomarker used to detect cancer. Tumour markers are usually proteins that are associated with a particular form of cancer and are excreted from tumour cells.<sup>23</sup>

Glossary

# Validity

The extent to which a test can distinguish between people with a disease or condition and people without the disease or condition. Or put another way, the extent to which the results of a test agree with those of the 'gold standard' as a reference test.